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Unless otherwise indicated, the terms “Delta,” “Wes,” and “our” refer to Delta Air Lines, Inc. ants subsidiaries.
FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Statements in this Form 10-K (or otherwise made$gr on our behalf) that are not historical faictsluding statements about our
estimates, expectations, beliefs, intentions, ptmjes or strategies for the future, may be “fordvlnoking statements” as defined in the Privat
Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Forwambking statements involve risks and uncertaintias tould cause actual results to differ
materially from historical experience or our prasexpectations. Known material risk factors apgileao Delta are described in “Risk Factors
Relating to Delta” and “Risk Factors Relating te thirline Industry” in “ltem 1A. Risk Factors” ohts Form 10-K, other than risks that could
apply to any issuer or offering. All forward-lookjrstatements speak only as of the date made, anthdertake no obligation to publicly
update or revise any forward-looking statementefiect events or circumstances that may arise #feedate of this report.
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Part |
ITEM 1. BUSINESS

General

We provide scheduled air transportation for passengnd cargo throughout the United States andhdrthe world. Our global route
network gives us a presence in every major domasticinternational market. Our route network istessd around a system of hub and
international gateway airports that we operatenmsterdam, Atlanta, Cincinnati, Detroit, Minneapelis Paul, New York-LaGuardia, New
York-JFK, Paris-Charles de Gaulle, Salt Lake Cagattle and Tokyo-Narita. Each of these operaiiociades flights that gather and distribute
traffic from markets in the geographic region surrding the hub or gateway to domestic and intesnaticities and to other hubs or gateways
Our network is supported by a fleet of aircraftttisavaried in size and capabilities, giving uxillity to adjust aircraft to the network.

Other key characteristics of our route networkude!:

* our international joint ventures, particularlyrdransatlantic joint venture with Air France-KLahd Alitalia and our new
transatlantic joint venture with Virgin Atlantic;

« our alliances with other foreign airlines, inding Aeroméxico and GOL and our membership in Skyiiea global airline
alliance;

» our domestic marketing alliance with Alaska Airknevhich supplements our west coast service
« agreements with multiple domestic regional eas;iwhich operate as Delta Connecfion

We are incorporated under the laws of the Staf@etdware. Our principal executive offices are ledaat Hartsfield-Jackson Atlanta
International Airport in Atlanta, Georgia. Our tel®one number is (404) 715-2600 and our Internetesdds www.delta.com. Information
contained on our website is not part of, and isimodrporated by reference in, this Form 10-K.

International Alliances

Our international alliance relationships range froumn transatlantic and transpacific joint ventugeesgments to bilateral and multilateral
marketing alliances. These relationships are amitapt part of our business as they improve oues&to international markets and enable us
to market expanded and globally integrated airsjpantation services. In general, these arrangenmesitsle reciprocal codesharing and
frequent flyer program participation and airporiige access arrangements, and may also includesgdés and marketing coordination, co-
location of airport facilities and other commera@abperation arrangements. These alliances alea pfiesent opportunities in other areas, suc
as airport ground handling arrangements and afraraintenance insourcing.

Joint Venture Agreementd/e currently operate three joint ventures with iigmecarriers. These arrangements, for which we heveived
anti-trust immunity, provide for the sharing of eewies and costs, as well as joint marketing ar sabordinated pricing and revenue
management, network planning and scheduling aner athordinated activities with respect to the attoperations on joint venture routes.
The three joint ventures are:

e Atransatlantic joint venture with Air FrancedakLM, both of which are subsidiaries of the samédmg company, and Alitalia,
which covers routes between North America and Eeirop

« Atransatlantic joint venture with Virgin AtlantAirways with respect to operations on non-stoptes between the United
Kingdom and North America. In 2013, we acquire®&odequity stake in Virgin Atlantic Limited from Sjapore Airlines.

» Atranspacific joint venture with Virgin AustialAirlines with respect to operations on certaanspacific routes between North
America and the South Pacific.




Enhanced commercial agreements with Latin Amer{€ariers. We have separate strategic equity investments up@&Aeroméxico,
S.A.B. de C.V., the parent company of Aeroméxieu] &OL Linhas Aéreas Inteligentes, S.A, the pacentpany of GOL, and an exclusive
commercial relationship with each company's afithair carrier. We invested in GOL and Aeromédiegause they operate in Latin
America's two largest markets, Brazil and Mexi@spectively. The agreements provide for expansioaaiprocal codesharing and frequent
flyer program participation, airport lounge accagsingements, improved passenger connections dentjab joint sales cooperation. In
addition to our commercial cooperation arrangemfmttpassenger service with Aeroméxico, we and Agxico have established a joint
venture relating to an airframe maintenance, reggair overhaul operation located in Queretaro, Mexic

SkyTeam In addition to our marketing alliance agreemaevith individual foreign airlines, we are a membétlee SkyTeam global airline
alliance. The other members of SkyTeam are Aerofletolineas Argentinas, Aeroméxico, Air Europar Rrance, Alitalia, China Airlines,
China Eastern, China Southern, CSA Czech Airlikesniya Airways, KLM, Korean Air, Middle East Airlirse Saudi Arabian Airlines, Tarom,
Vietnam Airlines and Xiamen Airlines. Garuda Indsigealso has announced its formal intent to joipT®&am. Through alliance arrangements
with other SkyTeam carriers, Delta is able to litsknetwork with the route networks of the othemnher airlines, providing opportunities for
increased connecting traffic while offering enhahcastomer service through reciprocal codeshanmiyfieequent flyer arrangements and
airport lounge access programs and coordinated agrgrations.

Codeshare Agreement¥Ve also have international codeshare arrangemetitshe following international carriers, somevdfich are
carriers with which we also have more extensivati@hships: Aeroflot, Aeroméxico, Air Europa, Airdfce, Alitalia, China Airlines, China
Eastern, China Southern, CSA Czech Airlines, KLMyéan Air, Olympic Air, VRG Linhas Aéreas (operatias GOL), Vietnam Airlines,
Virgin Australia and WestJet (and affiliated carsieperating in conjunction with some of thesdraag).

Domestic Alliances

We have a marketing alliance with Alaska Airlineich includes reciprocal codesharing and fregfigat and airport lounge access
arrangements. Our alliance agreement with Alaskbn&s allows us to expand our west coast preséffeealso have reciprocal codesharing
and frequent flyer and airport lounge access amamants with Hawaiian Airlines.

Regional Carriers

We have air service agreements with domestic redj@in carriers that feed traffic to our route gystby serving passengers primarily in
small-and medium-sized cities. These arrangemeratisle us to better match capacity with demandesdimarkets. Approximately 198bour
passenger revenue in 2013 was related to flyinthége regional air carriers.

Through our regional carrier program, Delta Conioectwe have contractual arrangements with regioagiers to operate regional jet and,
in certain cases, turbo-prop aircraft using our *[designator code. We have contractual arrangenveittts

» ExpressJet Airlines, Inc. and SkyWest Airlines,.Jioth subsidiaries of SkyWest, Ir

* Chautauqua Airlines, Inc. and Shuttle America Caafion, both subsidiaries of Republic Airways Holg, Inc.

* Compass Airlines, Inc. (“Compass”) and GoJetiids, LLC, both subsidiaries of Trans States Hajdi Inc. (“Trans States”);
and

» Endeavor Air, Inc., which we acquired in May 20XK3aapart of its confirmed plan of reorganizat

Our contractual agreements with regional carrieiregrily are capacity purchase arrangements, uwtiezh we control the scheduling,
pricing, reservations, ticketing and seat invem®ior the regional carriers' flights operating emndur “DL” designator code, and we are
entitled to all ticket, cargo, mail and in-flightéancillary revenues associated with these flights pay those airlines an amount, as defined |
the applicable agreement, which is based on ardetation of their cost of operating those flightslather factors intended to approximate
market rates for those services. These capacighpse agreements are long-term agreements, usutilinitial terms of at least 10 years,
which grant us the option to extend the initiahteCertain of these agreements provide us the tigterminate the entire agreement, or in s
cases remove some of the aircraft from the scopleecfigreement, for convenience at certain futatesd

SkyWest Airlines operates some flights for us uralezvenue proration agreement. This prorationeagesit establishes a fixed dollar or
percentage division of revenues for tickets solgassengers traveling on connecting flight itiniesar




Fuel

Our results of operations are significantly impddby changes in the price and availability of aiftfuel. The following table shows our
aircraft fuel consumption and costs.

Gallons Consumed Average Price Per percentage of Total

Year @ (Millions) Cost®@ (Millions) Gallon @@ OperatingQ!Expense“’
2013 3,82¢ $ 11,46¢ $ 3.0C 33%
2012 3,76¢ $ 12,25. $ 3.2t 36%
2011 3,85¢ $ 11,787 $ 3.0¢ 36%

@ Includes the operations of our regional carrierdenrcapacity purchase agreeme
@ Includes fuel hedge gains (losses) under our feégmg program of $493 million , $(66) million agid20 million for 2013 , 2012 and 201tespectively

General

Jet fuel costs remained at high levels in 2013 Wil expense our single largest expense. We higterically purchased most of our
aircraft fuel under contracts that establish theepbased on various market indices and therefonmeotl provide material protection against p
increases or assure the availability of our fuglpties. We also purchase aircraft fuel on the spartket, from off-shore sources and under
contracts that permit the refiners to set the price

Monroe Energy

Global jet fuel demand continues to increase. Wihidkeadvent of domestic shale oil production inth8. has reduced the threat of U.S.
refinery closures beyond those that have alreanled, further capacity reduction is expected irogey thus impacting supply in the Atlantic
Basin and ultimately increasing refinery marginghia U.S. Our wholly-owned subsidiaries, Monroe fggeLLC and MIPC, LLC
(collectively, “Monroe”), operate the Trainer redity and related assets located near Philadelpemdylvania as part of our strategy to
mitigate the increasing cost of the refining mangmare paying. The facilities include pipelinesl &rminal assets that allow the refinery to
supply jet fuel to our airline operations throughtiie Northeastern U.S., including our New York sialb LaGuardia and John F. Kennedy
International Airport ("JFK").

Refinery OperationsThe facility is capable of refining 185,000 barrefscrude oil per day. In addition to jet fuel, tredinery's production
consists of gasoline, diesel and other refined yetsd(“non-jet fuel products”). BP is the primanpsplier of crude oil used by the refinery
under a three year agreement. We source domestle ail supply when economical and are attemptirigdrease our overall domestic sup
including from the Bakken oil field in North Dakota

Strategic Agreementtinder a multi-year agreement, we are exchangingréfisant portion of the non-jet fuel products iehillips 66
for jet fuel to be used in our airline operatiofisibstantially all of the remaining production ohrjet fuel products is being sold to BP under a
buy/sell agreement effectively exchanging thosejebfuel products for jet fuel. Our agreement withillips 66 requires us to deliver specif
guantities of non-jet fuel products and they amuied to deliver jet fuel to us. If we or Phillig$ do not have the specified quantity and type
of product available, the delivering party is reqdito procure any such shortage to fulfill itsightion under the agreement. Substantially &
the refinery's expected production of non-jet fuelducts is included in these agreements.

SegmentsBecause the products and services of Monroetergfoperations are discrete from our airline E®s, segment results are
prepared for our airline segment and our refinegnsent. Financial information on our segment réapg can be found in Note 2 of the Notes
to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Fuel Hedging Program

We actively manage our fuel price risk through ddieg program intended to reduce the financial ichjp@ us from changes in the price of
jet fuel. This fuel hedging program utilizes several différeontract and commodity typeEhe economic effectiveness of this hedge portfis|
frequently tested against our financial targetse fiedge portfolio is rebalanced from time to timecading to market conditions, which may
result in locking in gains or losses on hedge @mtér prior to their settlement dates.




Fuel Supply Availability

We are currently able to obtain adequate suppfiarcraft fuel, including through our purchasesnr Monroe, and crude oil for Monroe's
operations, but it is impossible to predict theufatavailability or price of aircraft fuel and cridil. Weather-related events, natural disasters,
political disruptions or wars involving oil-produng countries, changes in government policy conograircraft fuel production, transportation
or marketing, changes in aircraft fuel productiapacity, environmental concerns and other unprablietevents may result in fuel supply
shortages and fuel price increases in the future.

Frequent Flyer Program

Our SkyMiles®frequent flyer program is designed to retain amudase traveler loyalty by offering incentives tstomers to increase tra
on Delta. The SkyMiles program allows program merslte earn mileage for travel awards by flying ogltB, Delta's regional carriers and
other participating airlines. Mileage credit magabe earned by using certain services offereddyram participants, such as credit card
companies, hotels and car rental agencies. Iniaddihdividuals and companies may purchase mileagdits. Miles do not expire, but are
subject to all program rules. We reserve the righerminate the program with six months advandeeapand to change the program's terms
and conditions at any time without notice.

SkyMiles program mileage credits can be redeemedifdravel on Delta and participating airlines; imembership in our Delta Sky Clubs
®and for other program participant awards. Mileaglits are subject to certain transfer restrictiand travel awards are subject to capacity-
controlled seating. In 2013 , program members ne@ekemore than 271 billion miles in the SkyMiles gnam for 11 million award
redemptions. During this period, 7.3% of revenukesilown on Delta were from award travel.

Other Businesses
Cargo

Through our global network, our cargo operatioresadle to connect all of the world's major freigateways. We generate cargo revenues
in domestic and international markets through e af cargo space on regularly scheduled passairgeaft. We are a member of SkyTeam
Cargo, a global airline cargo alliance, whose othembers are Aeroflot, Aerolineas Argentinas, Aeggrito Cargo, Air France-KLM Cargo,
Alitalia Cargo, China Airlines Cargo, China Cargalikes, China Southern Cargo, Czech Airlines Caagd Korean Air Cargo. SkyTeam
Cargo offers a global network spanning six contigen
Delta TechOps, Delta Global Services, MLT Vacatianwd Delta Private Jet

We have several other businesses arising fromidimeaoperations, including aircraft maintenanepair and overhaul (“MRQO"), staffing
services for third parties, vacation wholesale apens and our private jet operations. In 2013 ttha revenue from these businesses was

approximately $800 million.

* In addition to providing maintenance and engimegsupport for our fleet of over 900 aircraftyMRO operation, known as Delta
TechOps, serves aviation and airline customers &mund the world.

» Our staffing services business, Delta Globali8es, provides staffing services, professionaliggg training services and aviation
solutions.

»  Our vacation wholesale business, MLT Vacationsyipdes vacation packag

» Our private jet operations, Delta Private Jetevides aircraft charters, aircraft management@ondrams allowing members to
purchase flight time by the hour.

Distribution and Expanded Product Offerings
Our tickets are sold through various distributitsatenels including telephone reservations, delta,.@d traditional "brick and mortar" and

online travel agencies. An increasing number oftmleets are sold through delta.com, which redweeddistribution costs and gives us closer
contact with our customers.




We are transforming distribution from a commodippeoach to a differentiated and merchandised apprd&/e expect that the
merchandising initiatives we are implementing, faiity through delta.com, will generate additionate€nue opportunities for us and will
improve the experience of our customers. We prowigtecustomers with opportunities to purchase winay value, such as first class upgra
Economy Comfort™ seating, WiFi access and SkyClub passes. We etg@éenefit from increased traffic on delta.com thgb a combination
of advertising revenue and sales of third partyalm@ndise and services such as car rentals, hotélgip insurance.

Competition

The airline industry is highly competitive, markiegl significant competition with respect to routises, schedules (both timing and
frequency), services, products, customer servideftaguent flyer programs. The industry is goingtigh a period of transformation through
consolidation, both domestically and internationadind changes in international alliances. Conatibid in the airline industry and changes in
international alliances have altered and will cond to alter the competitive landscape in the itigiusy resulting in the formation of airlines
and alliances with increased financial resourcesenmaxtensive global networks and altered coststres. In addition, other network carriers
have also significantly reduced their costs overl#st several years including through restructuaind bankruptcy reorganization. Our ability
to compete effectively depends, in part, on oulitglib maintain a competitive cost structure.

Domestic

Our domestic operations are subject to competftiom both traditional network and discount carrjeresme of which may have lower costs
than we do and provide service at low fares toidasons served by us. In particular, we face digamnt competition at our domestic hub and
gateway airports in Atlanta, Cincinnati, Detroitifleapolis-St. Paul, New York-LaGuardia, New YoFK] Salt Lake City and Seattle either
directly at those airports or at the hubs of ottidines that are located in close proximity to bubs and gateways. We also face competitic
smaller to medium-sized markets from regional jetrations of other carriers.

International

Our international operations are subject to contipatfrom both domestic and foreign carriers. Tihylowalliance and other marketing and
codesharing agreements with foreign carriers, ta8iers have increased their ability to sell intgional transportation, such as services tc
beyond traditional European and Asian gateway<citmilarly, foreign carriers have obtained insehaccess to interior U.S. passenger
traffic beyond traditional U.S. gateway cities thgh these relationships. In particular, allianagsnied by domestic and foreign carriers,
including SkyTeam, the Star Alliance (among Unifddines, Lufthansa German Airlines, Air Canadal Nippon Airways and others) and the
oneworld alliance (among American Airlines, Briti8lrways, Iberia, Qantas and others) have sigmifiiyaincreased competition in
international markets.

Increased competition has also emerged from wallléd carriers in the Gulf region, including EmigtEtihad and Qatar. These carriers
have large numbers of international widebody aft@a order and are increasing service to the drf8gtes from their hubs in the Middle E
Several of these carriers, along with carriers f@ina, India and Latin America, are governmenipsuted or funded, which has allowed th
to grow quickly, reinvest in their product and emgaheir global presence at the expense of U.nesr In addition, the adoption of liberalized
Open Skies Aviation Agreements with an increasiagber of countries around the world, including artigular the Open Skies Treaties that
the U.S. has with the Member States of the Europsaon, Japan and the Gulf states, could signifigancrease competition among carriers
serving those markets.

Several joint ventures among U.S. and foreign eesrincluding our transatlantic and transpacdiatj ventures, have received grants of
antitrust immunity allowing the participating cams to coordinate schedules, pricing, sales arehtovy. Other joint ventures that have
received anti-trust immunity include a transatlamtiiance among United, Air Canada and Lufthaasaanspacific joint venture among United
and All Nippon Airways, a transatlantic joint verautamong American, British Airways and Iberia andaaspacific joint venture between
American and Japan Air Lines.




Regulatory Matters

The Department of Transportation (“DOT”) and thel&ml Aviation Administration (the “FAA”) exercigegulatory authority over air
transportation in the U.S. The DOT has authoritissuie certificates of public convenience and retyesequired for airlines to provide
domestic air transportation. An air carrier tha BOT finds fit to operate is given authority toeo@te domestic and international air
transportation (including the carriage of passemged cargo). Except for constraints imposed bylegigns regarding “Essential Air Services,’
which are applicable to certain small communita@dines may terminate service to a city withoigtrietion.

The DOT has jurisdiction over certain economic eadsumer protection matters, such as unfair orgteeepractices and methods of
competition, advertising, denied boarding compeasabaggage liability and disabled passenger prantation. The DOT also has authority to
review certain joint venture agreements betweeronggrriers and engages in regulation of econonaitters such as slot transactions. The
FAA has primary responsibility for matters relatitogthe safety of air carrier flight operations;lirding airline operating certificates, control
navigable air space, flight personnel, aircraftifieation and maintenance and other matters &ffgair safety.

Authority to operate international routes and in&ional codesharing arrangements is regulatetidpOT and by the governments of the
foreign countries involved. International certifieauthorities are also subject to the approvéhel.S. President for conformance with
national defense and foreign policy objectives.

The Transportation Security Administration and th&. Customs and Border Protection, each a divisidhe Department of Homeland
Security, are responsible for certain civil aviatgecurity matters, including passenger and baggegening at U.S. airports and international
passenger prescreening prior to entry into or depafrom the U.S.

Airlines are also subject to various other fedestate, local and foreign laws and regulations.dxample, the U.S. Department of Justice
has jurisdiction over airline competition mattefhe U.S. Postal Service has authority over cedapects of the transportation of mail. Labor
relations in the airline industry, as discusseadWwehlre generally governed by the Railway Labor. &ttvironmental matters are regulated by
various federal, state, local and foreign governalesntities. Privacy of passenger and employee idatgulated by domestic and foreign
and regulations.

Fares and Rates

Airlines set ticket prices in all domestic and miog¢rnational city pairs with minimal governmentegulation, and the industry is
characterized by significant price competition. t8&r international fares and rates are subjediequrisdiction of the DOT and the
governments of the foreign countries involved. Mafipur tickets are sold by travel agents, andsfame subject to commissions, overrides
discounts paid to travel agents, brokers and whtdes.

Route Authority

Our flight operations are authorized by certifisaté public convenience and necessity and alsxbgngtions and limited-entry frequency
awards issued by the DOT. The requisite approviadgher governments for international operatiores@ntrolled by bilateral agreements (anc
a multilateral agreement in the case of the U.8.tha European Union) with, or permits or approvsgsied by, foreign countries. Because
international air transportation is governed bytafal or other agreements between the U.S. arfotbign country or countries involved,
changes in U.S. or foreign government aviationgded could result in the alteration or terminatidrsuch agreements, diminish the value of
our international route authorities or otherwisieetf our international operations. Bilateral agreats between the U.S. and various foreign
countries served by us are subject to renegotifitmn time to time. The U.S. government has neggdidopen skies” agreements with many
countries, which allow unrestricted access betwbkernJ.S. and the foreign markets. These agreenmaitale separate agreements with the
European Union and Japan.

Certain of our international route authorities smbject to periodic renewal requirements. We refggnggnsion of these authorities when
as appropriate. While the DOT usually renews temmoauthorities on routes where the authorizederais providing a reasonable level of
service, there is no assurance this practice wiltioue in general or with respect to a specifitesgal. Dormant route authorities may not be
renewed in some cases, especially where anotherckSer indicates a willingness to provide segvic




Airport Access

Operations at four major domestic airports andageiforeign airports served by us are regulateddusernmental entities through allocati
of “slots” or similar regulatory mechanisms whidmit the rights of carriers to conduct operatiohghase airports. Each slot represents the
authorization to land at or take off from the partar airport during a specified time period.

In the U.S., the FAA currently regulates the alttmaof slots, slot exemptions, operating authdi@es, or similar capacity allocation
mechanisms at Reagan National in Washington, In@ LaGuardia, John F. Kennedy International Airortl Newark in the New York City
area. Our operations at these airports generajlyire the allocation of slots or analogous reguiasuthorizations. Similarly, our operations at
Tokyo's Narita and Haneda Airports, London's Heathairport and other international airports areutetgd by local slot coordinators pursuan
to the International Air Transport Association's Mdaide Scheduling Guidelines and applicable Idaal. We currently have sufficient slots
analogous authorizations to operate our existigft, and we have generally been able to obta&mitits to expand our operations and to
change our schedules. There is no assurance, howieaewe will be able to do so in the future hessy among other reasons, such allocation
are subject to changes in governmental policies.

Environmental Matters

Emissions The U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (the AEHs authorized to regulate aircraft emissions &as historically
implemented emissions control standards adoptetéinternational Civil Aviation Organization (“IG&’). Our aircraft comply with existing
EPA standards as applicable by engine design dh&eICAO has adopted two additional aircraft engingssions standards, the first of which
is applicable to engines certified after Decemter2007, and the second of which is applicablentirees certified after December 31, 201:
June 2012, thEPA published a final rulemaking for new emissitanslards for oxides of nitrogen (NOx), adopting [@#4 additional
standards. Included in the rule are two new tiéraare stringent emission standards for NOx. Thetaedards, referred to as the Tier 6
standards, become effective for newly-manufactaiettaft engines beginning in 2013.

Concern about aviation environmental issues, inofyidlimate change and greenhouse gases, has taxkt® on our operations in the Uni
Kingdom and in Germany, both of which have leviaxess directly on our customers. We may face additicegulation of aircraft emissions in
the United States and abroad and become subjégather taxes, charges or additional requirememtsbtain permits or purchase allowance
emission credits for greenhouse gas emissionsriaugjurisdictions. This could result in taxationpermitting requirements from multiple
jurisdictions for the same operatiolOngoing bilateral discussions between the UnitedeStand other nations may lead to internatioratit
or other actions focusing on reducing greenhouseegdssions from aviation. In addition, at the"38AO Assembly that concluded Octobe
2013 in Montreal, the Assembly adopted a climatngde resolution committing ICAO to develop a glomarketbased measure to be finali:
at the 2016 ICAO Assembly which would enable thére industry to achieve carbon-neutral growtmirg020.

The European Union has required its member stat@sglement regulations including aviation in itsisions Trading Scheme (“ETS").
Under these regulations, any airline with flightgymating or landing in the European Union is &dbjto the ETS and, beginning in 2012, was
required to purchase emissions allowances if thimaiexceeds the number of free allowances aléat#d it under the ET&t the end of
November 2012, the United States government endaéslation exempting U.S. airlines from the ETiSApril 2013, the Europea
Parliament deferred enforcement until April 2014k ETS with respect to flights operated to andfinon-EU destinations; however, all
intra-EU flights on any carrier (based in the ELhot) had to comply with the requirements of theSEThe European Commission has
proposed new legislation that would extend the B&gond intra-EU flights to include the portion dfihts to and from the EU while in EU
airspace for those countries whose internationadimee ton kilometers exceeds a 1% de minimis totdsfhis legislation faces opposition
from the United States and some EU member countries

Cap and trade restrictions have also been propogbd United States. In addition, other legislator regulatory action, including by the
EPA, to regulate greenhouse gas emissions is pesBilparticular, the EPA has found that greenbaysses threaten the public health and
welfare, which could result in regulation of greenke gas emissions from aircraft. In the eventldaslation or regulation is enacted in the
U.S. or in the event similar legislation or regidatis enacted in jurisdictions other than the Bean Union where we operate or wheremay
operate in the future, it could result in signifit@osts for us and the airline industry. In adxdtitio direct costs, such regulation may have a
greater effect on the airline industry through @ases in fuel costs that could result from fuepsigps passing on increased costs that they
under such a system. We are monitoring and eva#tie potential impact of such legislative andutatpry developments.




We seek to minimize the impact of greenhouse gassémns from our operations through reductionsunfael consumption and other
efforts and have realized reductions in our greas@as emission levels since 2005. We have redbeddel needs of our aircraft fleet
through the retirement and replacement of certi@ments of our fleet and with newer, more fuel@éfint aircraft. In addition, we have
implemented fuel saving procedures in our flighd gnound support operations that further reduckaraemissions. We are also supporting
efforts to develop alternative fuels and effortsrtodernize the air traffic control system in th&l)as part of our efforts to reduce our
emissions and minimize our impact on the envirortmen

Noise. The Airport Noise and Capacity Act of 1990 reciags the rights of operators of airports with ngiseblems to implement local
noise abatement programs so long as such programstdnterfere unreasonably with interstate oeifgn commerce or theationalair
transportation system. This statute generally piewithat local noise restrictions on Stage 3 dirfirat effective after October 1, 1990, require
FAA approval. While we have had sufficient schedglflexibility to accommodate local noise restiacts in the past, our operations could be
adversely impacted if locally-imposed regulatioesdme more restrictive or widespread.

Refinery Matters Monroe's operation of the Trainer Refinery isjsabto numerous environmental laws and extenggelations, includin
those relating to the discharge of materials ihtognvironment, waste management, pollution préwemeasureandgreenhouse gas
emissions.

Under the Energy Independence and Security Ac0672the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (“EPtfas adopted Renewable Fuel
Standards (“RFS”) that mandate the blending ofwetide fuels into gasoline and on-road diesel ("$pamtation Fuels"). Renewable
Identification Numbers (“RINS”) are assigned toeemble fuels produced or imported into the U.St #dna blended into Transportation Fuels
to demonstrate compliance with this obligation.efimery may meet its obligation under RFS by blegdhe necessary volumes of renewable
fuels with Transportation Fuels or by purchasind!fin the open market or through a combinationlefithing and purchasing RINs. Because
the refinery operated by Monroe does not blendweibée fuels, it must purchase its entire RINs regraient in the secondary market or obtain
a waiver from the EPA.

Other Environmental MattersWe had been identified by the EPA as a potegtialiponsible party (a “PRP”) with respect to derta
Superfund Sites, and entered into consent decresttements regarding some of these sites. Grged disposal volume at each of these
was small or was considerdd minimisvhen compared to the total contributions of all BRPeach site.

We are aware of soil and/or ground water contarigngiresent on our current or former leaseholdewaéral domestic airports. To address
this contamination, we have a program in plac@estigate and, if appropriate, remediate thess.sklthough the ultimate outcome of these
matters cannot be predicted with certainty, weevelithat the resolution of these matters will rentha material adverse effect on our
consolidated financial statements.

We are also subject to various other federal, statelocal laws governing environmental mattersluiding the management and disposal o
chemicals, waste and hazardous materials, protecfisurface and subsurface waters and regulafiair emissions and aircraft drinking
water.

Civil Reserve Air Fleet Program

We participate in the Civil Reserve Air Fleet pragr (the “CRAF Program”), which permits the U.S.itaily to use the aircraft and crew
resources of participating U.S. airlines durindifhiemergencies, national emergencies or timesaf We have agreed to make available u
the CRAF Program a portion of our internationalgeange aircraft during the contract period enddegtember 30, 2014. We have also
committed aircraft to international short-rangeuiegments. The CRAF Program has only been activiatae since it was created in 1951.




Employee Matters
Railway Labor Act

Our relations with labor unions representing odired employees in the U.S. are governed by théRgilLabor Act. Under the Railway
Labor Act, a labor union seeking to represent aepresented craft or class of employees is requirdite with the National Mediation Board
(the “NMB”) an application alleging a representatidispute, along with authorization cards signe@tigast 50% of the employees in that
craft or class. The NMB then investigates the dis@und, if it finds the labor union has obtaineshifficient number of authorization cards,
conducts an election to determine whether to getttié labor union as the collective bargaining espntative of that craft or class. A labor
union will be certified as the representative & émployees in a craft or class if more than 50%otés cast are for that union. A certified le
union would commence negotiations toward a coledtiargaining agreement with the employer.

Under the Railway Labor Act, a collective bargagnagreement between an airline and a labor unies dot expire, but instead becomes
amendable as of a stated date. Either party majestdhat the NMB appoint a federal mediator tdigigate in the negotiations for a new or
amended agreement. If no agreement is reacheddratioe, the NMB may determine, at any time, thatrapasse exists and offer binding
arbitration. If either party rejects binding arbtion, a 30-day “cooling off” period begins. At thad of this 30-day period, the parties may
engage in “self help,” unless the U.S. Presidepbays a Presidential Emergency Board (“PEB”) teeistigate and report on the dispute. The
appointment of a PEB maintains the “status quo'afoadditional 60 days. If the parties do not reegteement during this period, the parties
may then engage in “self help.” “Self help” inclsd@mong other things, a strike by the union oiirtii@osition of proposed changes to the
collective bargaining agreement by the airline. gtess and the President have the authority to ptéself help” by enacting legislation that,
among other things, imposes a settlement on thepar

Collective Bargaining

As of December 31, 2013, we had approximately 3f0ll-time equivalent employees, approximatelyd8f whom were represented by
unions. The following table shows our domesticirériemployee groups that are represented by unions.

Approximate Number of Active Date on which Collective Bargaining
Employee Group Employees Represented Union Agreement Becomes Amendable
Delta Pilots 10,70 ALPA December 31, 201
Delta Flight Superintendents (Dispatchéts) 37C PAFCA December 31, 201
Endeavor Air Pilots 1,82( ALPA January 1, 202
Endeavor Air Flight Attendants 99C AFA December 31, 201
Endeavor Air Dispatchers 60 DISTWU December 31, 201

MWe are in discussions with representatives of thghFSuperintendents.

In addition, 210 refinery employees of Monroe apresented by the United Steel Workers under aseaggnt that expires on February 26,
2015. This agreement is governed by the Nationbbt &elations Act, which generally allows eithertpdo engage in self-help upon the
expiration of the agreement.

Labor unions periodically engage in organizing gffdo represent various groups of our employewdding at our operating subsidiaries,

that are not represented for collective bargaipingoses.
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Executive Officers of the Registrant

Richard H. Anderson, Age 58Chief Executive Officer of Delta since SeptembeP007; Executive Vice President of UnitedHealtlop
and President of its Commercial Services Group ébdier 2006-August 2007); Executive Vice PresidéntratedHealth Group (November
2004-December 2006); Chief Executive Officer of tharest Airlines Corporation (“Northwest”) (2001-Newber 2004).

Edward H. Bastian, Age 56 President of Delta since September 1, 2007; éasiof Delta and Chief Executive Officer NorthwAstines,
Inc. (October 2008-December 2009); President aridf@mancial Officer of Delta (September 2007-Gxtn2008); Executive Vice President
and Chief Financial Officer of Delta (July 2005-&pber 2007); Chief Financial Officer, Acuity Bran@une 2005-July 2005); Senior Vice
President-Finance and Controller of Delta (2000#A2005); Vice President and Controller of Delt®98-2000).

Michael H. Campbell, Age 65Executive Vice President-HR & Labor Relationdaflta since October 2008; Executive Vice PresidéRi-
Labor & Communications of Delta (December 2007-®eta2008); Executive Vice President-Human Resouands_abor Relations of Delta
(July 2006-December 2007); Of Counsel, Ford & Hami(January 2005-July 2006); Senior Vice Presitiemhan Resources and Labor
Relations, Continental Airlines, Inc. (1997-200R#rtner, Ford & Harrison (1978-1996).

Stephen E. Gorman, Age 58xecutive Vice President and Chief Operating €ffiof Delta since October 2008; Executive VicesRient-
Operations of Delta (December 2007-October 200@&siBent and Chief Executive Officer of Greyhoundds, Inc. (June 2003ctober 2007
President, North America and Executive Vice Pregid#perations Support at Krispy Kreme Doughnuts, (August 2001-June 2003);
Executive Vice President, Technical Operations Right Operations of Northwest (February 2001-Aug201), Senior Vice President,
Technical Operations of Northwest (January 1999ty 2001) and Vice President, Engine Maintenagerations of Northwest (April
1996-January 1999).

Glen W. Hauenstein, Age 53Executive Vice President - Chief Revenue Offit®elta since August 2013; Executive Vice President
NetworkPlanning and Revenue Management of Delta (Apri6200uly 2013); Executive Vice President and Cbidfletwork and Revenue
Management of Delta (August 2005-April 2006); V@eneral Director-Chief Commercial Officer and Chgierating Officer of Alitalia
(2003-2005); Senior Vice President-Network of Coaetital Airlines (2003); Senior Vice President-Salied) of Continental Airlines (2001-
2003); Vice President Scheduling of ContinentaliAgés (1998-2001).

Richard B. Hirst, Age 69 Executive Vice President - Chief Legal Officerl@élta since April 2013; Senior Vice President &@wheral
Counsel of Delta (October 2008 - April 2013); Seniice President-Corporate Affairs and General Galiof Northwest (March 2008-
October 2008); Executive Vice President and Chegdl Officer of KB Home (March 2004-November 200B¥gcutive Vice President and
General Counsel of Burger King Corporation (Mar@@2-June 2003); General Counsel of the Minnesot@g(1999-2000); Senior Vice
President-Corporate Affairs of Northwest (1994-19%nior Vice President-General Counsel of Norgtw&990-1994); Vice President-
General Counsel and Secretary of Continental Aggi(.986-1990).

Paul A. Jacobson, Age 42Executive Vice President - Chief Financial Officé Delta since August 2013; Senior Vice Presiderd Chief
Financial Officer of Delta (March 2012 - July 201Sgnior Vice President and Treasurer for Deltac@deber 2007 - March 2012); Vice
President and Treasurer (August 2005 - Decembéf)200

Additional Information
We make available free of charge on our websiteAsunual Report on Form 10-K, our Quarterly Repors-orm 10-Q, our Current
Reports on Form 8-K and amendments to those repsigson as reasonably practicable after thesetsegre filed with or furnished to the

Securities and Exchange Commission. Informationwrwebsite is not incorporated into this Form 1@+#our other securities filings and is
not a part of those filings.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS
Risk Factors Relating to Delta

Our business and results of operations are depertdanthe price of aircraft fuel. High fuel costs azost increases, including in the cost
of crude oil, could have a materially adverse effen our operating results.

Our operating results are significantly impactedchginges in the price of aircraft fuel. Fuel pribase increased substantially since the
middle part of the last decade and have been egtyewvolatile during the last several years. In 2008r average fuel price per gallon was
$3.00, an 8% decrease from our average fuel pri2812. In 2012, our average fuel price per gall@s $3.25 , a 6% increase from our
average fuel price in 2011. In 2011, our averagépuce per gallon was $3.06 , a 31% increase foamaverage fuel price in 2010, which in
turn was significantly higher than fuel prices jadew years earlier. Fuel costs represented 338%6, and 36% of our operating expense in
2013, 2012 and 2011 , respectively. Volatilityfuel costs has had a significant negative effeadnresults of operations and financial
condition.

Our ability to pass along the higher fuel costedo customers may be affected by the competitiveraaf the airline industry. Until
recently, we often have not been able to increaséaves to offset fully the effect of increasedurl costs in the past and we may not be al
do so in the future. This is particularly the cageen fuel prices increase rapidly. Because passemffen purchase tickets well in advance of
their travel, a significant increase in fuel prinay result in the fare charged not covering thatsase.

We acquire a significant amount of jet fuel fronr etholly-owned subsidiary, Monroe, and throughtetgéc agreements that Monroe has
with BP and Phillips 66. The cost of the fuel weghase under these arrangements remains subjeatdity in the cost of crude oil and jet
fuel. In addition, we continue to purchase a sigaiit amount of aircraft fuel in addition to whag¢ wbtain from Monroe. Our aircraft fuel
purchase contracts do not provide material pratecgainst price increases as these contractatiypéstablish the price based on industry
standard market price indices.

Our business and results of operations are also @ggent on the availability of aircraft fuel. Signifant disruptions in the supply of
aircraft fuel, including from our wholly-owned sulidiary, would materially adversely affect our opéians and operating results.

We are currently able to obtain adequate suppfiedrcraft fuel, but it is impossible to predicetifuture availability of aircraft fuel.
Weather-related events, natural disasters, pdliisauptions or wars involving oil-producing coues, changes in governmental policy
concerning aircraft fuel production, transportatitaxes or marketing, environmental concerns ahdrainpredictable events may result in
crude oil and fuel supply shortages in the futGteortages in fuel supplies could have negativectffen our results of operations and financia
condition.

Because we acquire a large amount of our jet foehfMonroe, the disruption or interruption of pratian at the refinery could have an
impact on our ability to acquire jet fuel neededdar operations. Disruptions or interruptions odguction at the refinery could result from
various sources including a major accident or meicia failure, interruption of supply or delivery crude oil, work stoppages relating to
organized labor issues, or damage from severe eeattother natural or mamade disasters, including acts of terrorism. Ifréfenery were t
experience an interruption in operations, disrugim fuel supplies could have negative effectemnresults of operations and financial
condition. In addition, the financial benefits wepect to achieve from buying fuel from Monroe cobklmaterially adversely affected (to the
extent not recoverable through insurance) becalusstogproduction and repair costs.

Under a strategic agreement that Monroe has willig3h66, Monroe is exchanging non-jet fuel protiufor jet fuel for use in our airline
operations. Monroe is required to deliver specifiedntities of non-jet fuel products to Phillips&td Phillips 66 is required to deliver
specified quantities of jet fuel to us. If eitherfy does not have the specified quantity or tyfggroduct available, that party is required to
procure any such shortage to fulfill its obligatiander the exchange agreements. If the refinergrexpces a significant interruption in
operations, Monroe may be required to expend saotist@mounts to purchase the products it is reguio deliver, which could have a mate
adverse effect on our consolidated financial resofitoperations.
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In addition, the strategic agreements utilize mipkiees for the products being exchanged. If Mets@ost of producing the non-jet fuel
products that it is required to deliver under thegeeements exceeds the value it receives for fhraskicts, the financial benefits we expect to
achieve through the ownership of the refinery amdomnsolidated results of operations could be riadhe adversely affected.

Our fuel hedging activities are intended to reduttee financial impact from changes in the price oftjfuel. Our obligation to post
collateral in connection with our hedge contractsay have a substantial impact on our short-term lidity.

We actively manage our fuel price risk through ddieg program intended to reduce the financial ichpa us from changes in the price of
jet fuel. This fuel hedging program utilizes several différeontract and commodity types. The economic effeness of this hedge portfolio
frequently tested against our financial targetse fiedge portfolio is rebalanced from time to timmecading to market conditions, which may
result in locking in gains or losses on hedge @mttr prior to their settlement dates and may hawegative impact on our financial results.

Our fuel hedge contracts contain margin fundingimegments. The margin funding requirements may eaissto post margin to
counterparties or may cause counterparties torpaggin to us as market prices in the underlyinggeedtems change. If fuel prices decrease
significantly from the levels existing at the timve enter into fuel hedge contracts, we may be redub post a significant amount of margin,
which could have a material adverse impact onekellof our unrestricted cash and cash equivamdsshort-term investments.

Our funding obligation with respect to defined befitepension plans wesponsor is significant and can vary materially berse of change
in investment asset returns and values.

As of December 31, 2013, our defined benefit pamplans had an estimated benefit obligation of@pmately $19.1 billion and were
funded through assets with a value of approxim&#8l9 billion . The benefit obligation is signifitdy affected by investment asset returns an
changes in interest rates, neither of which istiinaontrol. We estimate that our funding requiretrfenour defined benefit pension plans,
which are governed by ERISA and have been frozefufare accruals, is approximately $675 millior2idl4. Estimates of pension plan
funding requirements can vary materially from atfuading requirements because the estimates aedban various assumptions concerning
factors outside our control, including, among otitémgs, the market performance of assets; statuemuirements; and demographic data for
participants, including the number of participassl the rate of participant attrition. Results theaty significantly from our assumptions could
have a material impact on our future funding ollwzs.

Agreements governing our debt, including credit @agments, include financial and other covenants thaipose restrictions on our
financial and business operations.

Our credit facilities have various financial antiext covenants that require us to maintain, depgnalinthe particular agreement, minimum
fixed charge coverage ratios, minimum liquidity A&rdninimum collateral coverage ratios. The val@ighe collateral that has been pledged in
each facility may change over time, which may bikecéed in appraisals of collateral required by orgdit agreements and indentures. These
changes could result from factors that are not undecontrol. A decline in the value of collatecaluld result in a situation where we may not
be able to maintain the collateral coverage réti@ddition, the credit facilities contain othegaéive covenants customary for such financings
If we fail to comply with these covenants and amalle to obtain a waiver or amendment, an evedef#ult would result. These covenants ar
subject to important exceptions and qualifications.

The credit facilities also contain other eventsglefault customary for such financings. If an evaindefault were to occur, the lenders could
among other things, declare outstanding amountsaddgayable, and our cash may become restricteccafhot provide assurance that we
would have sufficient liquidity to repay or refiramthe borrowings or notes under any of the cffaditities if such amounts were accelerated
upon an event of default. In addition, an everdeffwult or declaration of acceleration under anthefcredit facilities could also result in an
event of default under other of our financing agrests.
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Employee strikes and other labor-related disruptiomay adversely affect our operations.

Our business is labor intensive, utilizing largentners of pilots, flight attendants, aircraft mairgace technicians, ground support persc
and other personnel. As of December 31, 2013 ,xppately 18% of our workforce was unionized. Rielas between air carriers and labor
unions in the United States are governed by theMagiLabor Act, which provides that a collectiverdi@ining agreement between an airline
and a labor union does not expire, but insteadrhesamendable as of a stated date. The Railway lfadt@enerally prohibits strikes or other
types of self-help actions both before and afteolkective bargaining agreement becomes amendaless and until the collective bargaining
processes required by the Railway Labor Act hawenexhausted. Monroe's relations with unions repasy its employees are governed by
the National Labor Relations Act ("NLRA"), whichmerally allows self-help after a collective bargaghagreement expires.

If we or our subsidiaries are unable to reach ages# with any of our unionized work groups on fetaegotiations regarding the terms of
their collective bargaining agreements or if adaitil segments of our workforce become unionizedmag be subject to work interruptions or
stoppages, subject to the requirements of the Rgilvabor Act or the NLRA, as the case may be. 8¢ridr labor disputes with our unionized
employees may adversely affect our ability to canidwsiness. Likewise, if third party regional éars with whom we have contract carrier
agreements are unable to reach agreement withuthi@inized work groups in current or future neditias regarding the terms of their
collective bargaining agreements, those carriens lneasubject to work interruptions or stoppagebjesui to the requirements of the Railway
Labor Act, which could have a negative impact onaperations.

Extended interruptions or disruptions in service ahe of our hub or gateway airports could have ate@al adverse impact on our
operations.

Our business is heavily dependent on our operatibtise Atlanta airport and at our other hub oegaty airports in Amsterdam, Cincinn
Detroit, Minneapolis-St. Paul, New York-LaGuardiew York-JFK, Paris-Charles de Gaulle, Salt Lakey CSeattle and Tokyo-Narita. Each
of these operations includes flights that gather distribute traffic from markets in the geograptegion surrounding the hub or gateway to
other major cities and to other Delta hubs andvgays. A significant interruption or disruption iargice at one of our hubs or gateways could
have a serious impact on our business, financiadition and results of operations.

We are dependent on technology in our operationsdadf our technology fails or we are unable to camtie to invest in new technology,
our business may be adversely affected.

We have become increasingly dependent on technahitiptives to reduce costs and to enhance custsemice in order to compete in the
current business environment. For example, we haage and continue to make significant investmentieita.com, check-in kiosks, mobile
device applications and related initiatives. Thegrenance and reliability of the technology ardicél to our ability to attract and retain
customers and our ability to compete effectivelgcBuse of the rapid pace of new developments, thigisgives will continue to require
significant capital investments in our technologfrastructure. If we are unable to make these tmvests, our business and operations cou
negatively affected.

Disruptions or security breaches of our informaticechnology infrastructure could interfere with ounperations, compromise customer
information and expose us to liability, possiblywsing our business and reputation to suffer.

Any internal technology error or failure impactiggstems hosted internally at our data centerstermally at third party locations, or large
scale external interruption in technology infrastuwe we depend on, such as power, telecommunisativthe internet, may disrupt our
technology network. Any individual, sustained goeated failure of technology could impact our comoservice and result in increased costs
Our technology systems and related data may alsolberable to a variety of sources of interruptitue to events beyond our control,
including natural disasters, terrorist attackedemmunications failures, computer viruses, hac&rdsother security issues. While we have in
place, and continue to invest in, technology ségimitiatives and disaster recovery plans, thesasares may not be adequate or implemente
properly to prevent a business disruption anddteese financial and reputational consequencesartbusiness.
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In addition, as a part of our ordinary businessafiens, we collect and store sensitive data, tlioly personal information of our customers
and employees. The secure operation of the netvasrétsystems on which this type of informationtiged, processed and maintained is
critical to our business operations and strategy @ompromise of our technology systems resultingnfattacks by hackers or breaches due t
employee error or malfeasance could result inaks, ldisclosure, misappropriation of or accessisborners', employees' or business partners
information. Any such loss, disclosure, misapprajioin or access could result in legal claims ocpedlings, liability or regulatory penalties
under laws protecting the privacy of personal infation, disrupt operations and damage our reputasioy or all of which could adversely
affect our business.

Our primary credit card processors have the abilitytake significant holdbacks in certain circumsiaes. The initiation of such
holdbacks likely would have a material adverse effen our liquidity.

Most of the tickets we sell are paid for by custengho use credit cards. Our primary credit camtpssing agreements provide that no
holdback of receivables or reserve is required gxicecertain circumstances, including if we do naintain a required level of unrestricted
cash. If circumstances were to occur that wouldvalmerican Express or our VISA/MasterCard processdnitiate a holdback, the negative
impact on our liquidity likely would be material.

We are at risk of losses and adverse publicity steng from any accident involving our aircraft.

An aircraft crash or other accident could expostousgnificant liability. In the event that thesirance that we carry to cover damages
arising from future accidents is not adequate, \ag be forced to bear substantial losses from aid@ct In addition, any accident involving
an aircraft that we operate or an aircraft thafsrated by an airline that is one of our regimaatiers or codeshare partners could create a
public perception that our aircraft are not safeetiable, which could harm our reputation, regulair travelers being reluctant to fly on our
aircraft and harm our business.

Our business is subject to the effects of weathed aatural disasters and seasonality, which can sawur results to fluctuate.

Our results of operations will reflect fluctuatioinem weather, natural disasters and seasonaktyel® weather conditions and natural
disasters can significantly disrupt service anéigrair traffic control problems. These events el@se revenue and can also increase costs. Ir
addition, increases in frequency, severity or danadf thunderstorms, hurricanes, typhoons or oslesere weather events, including from
changes in the global climate, could result inéases in delays and cancellations, turbulenceecklajuries, and fuel consumption to avoid
such weather, any of which would increase the pistigior greater loss of revenue and higher cdataddition, demand for air travel is
typically higher in the June and September quarpadicularly in international markets, becausr¢his more vacation travel during these
periods than during the remainder of the year. §¢@sonal shifting of demand causes our financsalli®to vary on a seasonal basis. Because
of fluctuations in our results from weather, natuligasters and seasonality, operating resulta fastorical period are not necessarily indice
of operating results for a future period and opegatesults for an interim period are not necessardicative of operating results for an entire
year.

An extended disruption in services provided by ¢hird party regional carriers could have a materialdverse effect on our results of
operations.

We utilize the services of third party providersimumber of areas in support of our operationsateintegral to our business, including
third party carriers in the Delta Connection pragraVhile we have agreements with these providexsdbfine expected service performance,
we do not have direct control over the operatidrth@se carriers. To the extent that a significhstuption in our regional operations occurs
because any of these providers are unable to petfogir obligations over an extended period of tio revenue may be reduced or our
expenses may be increased resulting in a matelarse effect on our results of operations.
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The failure or inability of insurance to cover a gnificant liability related to hazards associatedtiwvthe operation of a refinery by
Monroe would have a material adverse effect on @ansolidated financial results.

Monroe's refining operations are subject to varioagards unique to refinery operations, includixgi@sions, fires, toxic emissions and
natural catastrophes. Monroe's insurance coverage ribt cover all potential losses, costs or liddsl and Monroe could suffer losses for
uninsurable or uninsured risks or in amounts grah#n its insurance coverage. In addition, Morsradility to obtain and maintain adequate
insurance may be affected by conditions in thergrsce market over which it has no control. If Mameere to incur a significant liability for
which it is not fully insured or for which insuraacompanies do not or are unable to provide coeethgs could have a material adverse effec
on our consolidated financial results of operations

The operation of a refinery by Monroe is subjects@nificant environmental regulation. Failure to@mply with environmental
regulations or the enactment of additional regulati could have a negative impact on our consolidafetncial results.

Monroe's operations are subject to numerous enwienital laws and extensive regulations, includiraséhrelating to the discharge of
materials into the environment, waste managemeliyjtipn prevention measures and greenhouse gassems. If Monroe violates or fails to
comply with these laws and regulations, Monroe ddd fined or otherwise sanctioned, which if sipaifit could have a material adverse e
on our financial results. In addition, the enacttrefmew environmental laws and regulations, ingigdany laws or regulations relating to
greenhouse gas emissions, could significantly amahe level of expenditures required for envirental matters for Monroe.

Under the Energy Independence and Security AcO6¥ 2the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (“EP#as adopted Renewable Fuel
Standards (“RFS”) that mandate the blending ofwetiide fuels into gasoline and on-road diesel ("$pamtation Fuels"). Renewable
Identification Numbers (“RINS”) are assigned toeemble fuels produced or imported into the U.St #dna blended into Transportation Fuels
to demonstrate compliance with this obligation.efimery may meet its obligation under RFS by blegdhe necessary volumes of renewable
fuels with Transportation Fuels or by purchasind!fin the open market or through a combinationlefithing and purchasing RINs.

Because the refinery operated by Monroe does eothlenewable fuels, it must purchase its entifdsRequirement in the secondary
market or obtain a waiver from the EPA. Monroexpased to the market price of RINs. Market priacasRINs have recently become volatile
and increased significantly during 2013 beforen@hg to more moderate levels. We cannot prediftture prices of RINs. Purchasing RINs
at elevated prices could have a material impaduwnesults of operations and cash flows.

Existing laws or regulations could change and tivdmum volumes of renewable fuels that must be ddelwith refined petroleum
products may increase. Increases in the volumeredwable fuels that must be blended into Monraeduyzts could limit the refinery's
production if sufficient numbers of RINs are noa#able for purchase or relief from this requirermismot obtained, which could have an
adverse effect on our consolidated financial result

If we experience losses of senior management pensbiand other key employees, our operating resalisild be adversely affected.
We are dependent on the experience and industrylkdge of our officers and other key employeesxecate our business plans. If we
experience a substantial turnover in our leaderahgpother key employees, and these persons arepiated by individuals with equal or

greater skills, our performance could be materiatlyersely impacted. Furthermore, we may be urtaldétract and retain additional qualified
executives as needed in the future.
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Risk Factors Relating to the Airline Industry

The airline industry is highly competitive and, e cannot successfully compete in the marketplang, business, financial condition ar
operating results will be materially adversely afted.

The airline industry is highly competitive, markieyl significant competition with respect to routises, schedules (both timing and
frequency), services, products, customer servidefr@guent flyer programs. Our domestic operatmmssubject to competition from both
traditional network and discount carriers, soma/bich may have lower costs than we do and provdeice at low fares to destinations ser
by us. In particular, we face significant competitiat our domestic hub and gateway airports inmddaCincinnati, Detroit, Minneapolis-St.
Paul, New York-LaGuardia, New York-JFK, Salt Lakigy@nd Seattle either directly at those airportatathe hubs of other airlines that are
located in close proximity to our hubs and gatew&lys also face competition in smaller to mediunedimarkets from regional jet operations
of other carriers.

Discount carriers, including Southwest, JetBludriSand Allegiant have placed significant compiggtpressure on us in the United States
and on other network carriers in the domestic natkeaddition, network carriers have also sigrifidy reduced their costs over the last
several years through restructuring and bankruggoyganization. Our ability to compete effectivepends, in part, on our ability to maintain
a competitive cost structure. If we cannot maintain costs at a competitive level, then our busipfisancial condition and operating results
could be materially adversely affected.

Our international operations are subject to contipatfrom both domestic and foreign carriers. Thylowalliance and other marketing and
codesharing agreements with foreign carriers, ta8iers have increased their ability to sell intgional transportation, such as services tc
beyond traditional European and Asian gateway<citmilarly, foreign carriers have obtained insehaccess to interior U.S. passenger
traffic beyond traditional U.S. gateway cities thgh these relationships. In particular, allianagsnied by domestic and foreign carriers,
including SkyTeam, the Star Alliance (among Unitedfthansa German Airlines, Air Canada and othars) the oneworld alliance (among
American Airlines, British Airways, Qantas and atf)ehave significantly increased competition iremmational markets.

Increased competition has also emerged from waellléd carriers in the Gulf region, including EmigtEtihad and Qatar. These carriers
have large numbers of international widebody aft@a order and are increasing service to the drf8gtes from their hubs in the Middle E
Several of these carriers, along with carriers f@ina, India and Latin America, are governmenipsuted or funded, which has allowed th
to grow quickly, reinvest in their product and emgaheir global presence at the expense of U.nesr In addition, the adoption of liberalized
Open Skies Aviation Agreements with an increasiagnber of countries around the world, including artgular the Open Skies Treaties that
the U.S. has with the Member States of the Europaon and Japan, could significantly increase cetitipn among carriers serving those
markets.

Several joint ventures among U.S. and foreign egsrincluding our transatlantic and transpacdiot ventures, have received grants of
antitrust immunity allowing the participating cam$ to coordinate schedules, pricing, sales arghiiovy. Other joint ventures that have
received anti-trust immunity include a transatleatiiance among United, Air Canada and Lufthaagaanspacific joint venture among United
and All Nippon Airways, a transatlantic joint vergtamong American Airlines, British Airways and iitaeand a transpacific joint venture
between American Airlines and Japan Air Lines.

Consolidation in the domestic airline industry, mges in international alliances and the rise of-fuelded government sponsored
international carriers have altered and will coméirto alter the competitive landscape in the ingiusy resulting in the formation of airlines a
alliances with increased financial resources, neatensive global networks and altered cost strastur

The airline industry is subject to extensive govarant regulation, and new regulations may increasar @perating costs.
Airlines are subject to extensive regulatory arghleeompliance requirements that result in sigaiftccosts. For instance, the FAA from
time to time issues directives and other regulati@ating to the maintenance and operation ofafirthat necessitate significant expenditures

We expect to continue incurring expenses to comjitly the FAA's regulations.
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Other laws, regulations, taxes and airport ratelscinarges have also been imposed from time tottiatesignificantly increase the cost of
airline operations or reduce revenues. The industimgavily taxed. For example, the Aviation andriBportation Security Act mandates the
federalization of certain airport security procestiand imposes security requirements on airpodsalines, most of which are funded by a
per ticket tax on passengers and a tax on airlifies federal government has adopted a significamrease in the per ticket tax effective in July
2014 and has recently proposed additional feestitket tax increase and additional taxes and fiéaaplemented, could negatively impact
our results of operations.

Proposals to address congestion issues at ceiparta or in certain airspace, particularly in thertheast United States, have included
concepts such as “congestion-based” landing fesést, Auctions” or other alternatives that could asg a significant cost on the airlines
operating in those airports or airspace and imiiectbility of those airlines to respond to compegiactions by other airlines. In addition, the
failure of the federal government to upgrade th®.@ir traffic control system has resulted in delagd disruptions of air traffic during peak
travel periods in certain congested markets. Theréato improve the air traffic control system tdiead to increased delays and inefficiencie:
in flight operations as demand for U.S. air trameteases, having a material adverse effect orperations. Failure to update the air traffic
control system in a timely manner, and the subistisiiinding requirements of an updated systemrieat be imposed on air carriers, may have
an adverse impact on our financial condition arsiits of operations.

Events related to extreme weather delays causdddpartment of Transportation to promulgate redgutetimposing potentially severe
financial penalties upon airlines that have fligetperiencing extended tarmac delays. These regungatould have a negative impact on our
operations in certain circumstances.

Future regulatory action concerning climate chaageraft emissions and noise emissions could laasignificant effect on the airline
industry. For example, the European Commission t&dibpn emissions trading scheme applicable tdigttité operating in the European Uni
including flights to and from the United States. Wienforcement of the scheme has been deferréldAymmil 2014, if fully implemented, we
expect that this system would impose additionatcon our operations in the European Union. Otlwslor regulations such as this emission:
trading scheme or other U.S. or foreign governmeaions may adversely affect our operations amahtcial results, either through direct
costs in our operations or through increases itsdos jet fuel that could result from jet fuel sliers passing on increased costs that they inct
under such a system.

We and other U.S. carriers are subject to domasticforeign laws regarding privacy of passengerangloyee data that are not consisten
in all countries in which we operate. In additiorthe heightened level of concern regarding privafqyassenger data in the United States,
certain European government agencies are initiatiggiries into airline privacy practices. Complk&with these regulatory regimes is
expected to result in additional operating costs @uld impact our operations and any future exjpangn addition, a security breach in which
passenger or employee data is exposed could reglifruption to our operations, damage to our f&jn and significant costs.

Terrorist attacks or international hostilities magdversely affect our business, financial conditiamd operating results.

The terrorist attacks of September 11, 2001 cafisethmental and permanent changes in the airlishesiny, including substantial revenue
declines and cost increases, which resulted insimgwide liquidity issues. Potential terrorist attadkssecurity breaches or fear of such eve
even if not made directly on the airline industrguld negatively affect us and the airline indusTrige potential negative effects include
increased security (including as a result of oobgl operations), insurance and other costs anddesnue from increased ticket refunds and
decreased ticket sales. Our financial resourcebtmigt be sufficient to absorb the adverse effettmny further terrorist attacks or other
international hostilities involving the United Stat

The rapid spread of contagious illnesses can hawaaterial adverse effect on our business and reswuf operations.

The rapid spread of a contagious illness can hawatarial adverse effect on the demand for worldvéd travel and therefore have a
material adverse effect on our business and resitiperations. Moreover, our operations could bgatively affected if employees are
guarantined as the result of exposure to a contagiimess. Similarly, travel restrictions or opaal problems resulting from the rapid spreac
of contagious illnesses in any part of the worlgvinich we operate may have a materially adverseaainpn our business and results of
operations.
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Reductions in coverage or lack of access to wak iiissurance coverage could have a material adverapact on our business and
operating results.

As a result of the terrorist attacks on Septemhef001, aviation insurers significantly (1) redd¢kee maximum amount of insurance
coverage available to commercial air carriers ifility to persons (other than employees or pagses) for claims from acts of terrorism, war
or similar events and (2) increased the premiumsdoh coverage. Since September 24, 2001, thegdv&rnment has been providing U.S.
airlines with war-risk insurance to cover lossas|uding those resulting from terrorism, to passeagthird parties (ground damage) and the
aircraft hull. The U.S. Secretary of Transportati@as extended coverage through September 30, 28d4ye expect the coverage to be furthe
extended. The withdrawal of government supportiiha war-risk insurance would require us to obtadar-risk insurance coverage
commercially. Such commercial insurance could rsulestantially less desirable coverage than cuyr@ndvided by the U.S. government, n
not be adequate to protect our risk of loss froturiiacts of terrorism or, may result in a matdriafease to our operating expense.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.
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ITEM 2. PROPERTIES
Flight Equipment

Our operating aircraft fleet, commitments and apiat December 31, 2013 are summarized in thewwitptable:

Current Fleet ® Commitments

Capital Operating
Aircraft Type Owned Lease Lease Total Average Age  Purchase®® Lease Options
B-717-200 — 4 9 13 12.1 — 75 —
B-737-700 10 — — 10 4.9 — — —
B-737-800 73 — — 73 12.9 — — —
B-737-900ER 12 — — 12 0.1 88 — 30
B-747-400 4 9 3 16 20.1 — — —
B-757-200 100 20 18 138 19.7 — — —
B-757-300 16 — — 16 10.8 — — —
B-767-300 10 2 4 16 22.9 — — —
B-767-300ER 51 5 2 58 17.8 — — 2
B-767-400ER 21 — — 21 12.8 — — 4
B-777-200ER 8 — — 8 13.9 — — —
B-777-200LR 10 — — 10 4.8 — — 6
B-787-8 — — — — — 18 — —
A319-100 55 — 2 57 11.9 — — —
A320-200 50 — 19 69 18.8 — — —
A321-200 — — — — — 30 — —
A330-200 11 — — 11 8.8 — — —
A330-300 21 — — 21 8.4 10 — —
MD-88 71 46 — 117 23.5 — — —
MD-90 57 8 — 65 16.7 — — —
DC9-50 12 — — 12 34.9 = = =
Total 592 94 57 743 17.1 146 75 42

®  Excludes certain aircraft we own or lease whichogerated by regional carriers on our behalf shiovthe table belov

@ QOur purchase commitment for 18 B-78ircraft provides for certain aircraft substitutirights

®  In addition, we have purchase commitments for 28-G60 aircraft and options for 24 CRJ-900 aircaafi 27 Embraer 175 aircraft that will be operatgdir regional
carriers.

The following table summarizes the aircraft flepemted by our regional carriers on our behalfeddnber 31, 2013 :

Fleet Type

Carrier CRJ-200 CRJ-700 CRJ-900 ERJ-145 Embraer 170  Embraer 175 Total
Endeavor Airlines, Inc? 116 — 53 — — — 169
ExpressJet Airlines, Inc. 62 41 28 — — — 131
SkyWest Airlines, Inc. 46 19 32 — — — 97
Compass Airlines, Inc. — — — — 6 36 42
Chautauqua Airlines, Inc. — — — 41 — — 41
Shuttle America Corporation — — — — 14 16 30
GoJet Airlines, LLC — 22 — — — — 22
Total 224 82 113 41 20 52 532

®  Endeavor Airlines, Inc. is one of our wholiyvned subsidiarie
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Aircraft Purchase Commitment

Our purchase commitments for additional aircrafbatember 31, 2013 are detailed in the followirgda

Delivery in Calendar Years Ending

Aircraft Purchase Commitments 2014 2015 2016 After 2016 Total
B-737-900ER 19 19 19 31 88
A321-200 — — 15 15 30
B-787-8 — — — 18 18
CRJ-900 28 — — — 28
A330-300 — 4 4 2 10
Total 47 23 38 66 174
Aircraft Options

Our options to purchase additional aircraft at Delger 31, 2013 are detailed in the following table:

Delivery in Calendar Years Ending

Aircraft Options 2014 2015 2016 After 2016 Total
B-737-900ER = 5 6 19 30
B-767-300ER — — 1 1 2
B-767-400ER = 1 2 1 4
B-777-200LR — 2 4 — 6
CRJ-900 — 18 6 — 24
Embraer 175 — 9 18 — 27
Total — 35 37 21 93

Ground Facilities
Airline Operations

We lease most of the land and buildings that weiegcOur largest aircraft maintenance base, vamoasputer, cargo, flight kitchen and
training facilities and most of our principal offis are located at or near the Atlanta airportaod leased from the City of Atlanta. We own ou
Atlanta reservations center, other real propertitianta, former headquarters and flight trainingldings, which are located near the
Minneapolis-St. Paul International Airport, andee&tions centers in Minot, North Dakota and Chlishdinnesota. We also own property in

Tokyo, including a 1.3-acre site in downtown Tolaymad a 33-acre land parcel, 512-room hotel andtfkgbhen located near Tokyo's Narita
International Airport.

We lease ticket counter and other terminal spgoerating areas and air cargo facilities in moghefairports that we serve. At most
airports, we have entered into use agreements vgin@hde for the non-exclusive use of runways,weis and other improvements and
facilities; landing fees under these agreementsially are based on the number of landings and weifyaircraft. These leases and use
agreements generally run for periods of less thenyear to 30 years or more, and often containigiens for periodic adjustments of lease
rates, landing fees and other charges applicaldlerthat type of agreement. We also lease aimraiitenance facilities and air cargo facilit
at several domestic airports. Our aircraft mainteedacility leases generally require us to paycite of providing, operating and maintaining
such facilities, including, in some cases, amouetessary to pay debt service on special facitityds issued to finance their construction. We
also lease marketing, ticketing and reservatiofisas in certain locations for varying terms.

Refinery Operation:
Our wholly-owned subsidiaries, Monroe and MIPC, aamal operate the Trainer refinery and related agsdtennsylvania. The facility

includes pipelines and terminal assets that all@weéfinery to supply jet fuel to our airline optwas throughout the Northeastern U.S.,
including our New York hubs at LaGuardia and JFK.
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ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
First Bag Fee Antitrust Litigation

In May, June and July, 2009, a number of purpoctass action antitrust lawsuits were filed in th&LDistrict Courts for the Northern
District of Georgia, the Middle District of Floridand the District of Nevada against Delta and AarTAirways (“AirTran”). In these cases, the
plaintiffs originally alleged that Delta and AirTrr@&ngaged in collusive behavior in violation of i@t 1 of the Sherman Act in November 2!
based upon certain public statements made in Oc&flf¥8 by AirTran's CEO at an analyst conferenceeming fees for the first checked k
Delta's imposition of a fee for the first checkejlon November 4, 2008 and AirTran's impositioa sfmilar fee on November 12, 2008. The
plaintiffs sought to assert claims on behalf ob#iaged class consisting of passengers who paifirfidag fee after December 5, 2008 and
seek injunctive relief and unspecified treble daesad\ll of these cases have been consolidatedéstrial proceedings in the Northern District
of Georgia by the Multi-District Litigation (“MDL")Panel.

In February 2010, the plaintiffs in the MDL procéeglfiled a consolidated amended class action camplvhich substantially expanded
scope of the original complaint. In the consolideaenended complaint, the plaintiffs added new aliegs concerning alleged signaling by
both Delta and AirTran based upon statements nathestinvestment community by both carriers retatmindustry capacity levels during
2008-2009. The plaintiffs also added a new causetidn against Delta alleging attempted monoptiran violation of Section 2 of the
Sherman Act, paralleling a claim previously asskagainst AirTran but not Delta.

In August 2010, the District Court issued an omglanting Delta's motion to dismiss the Sectiona2na] but denying its motion to dismiss
the Section 1 claim. Plaintiffs have filed a motiorcertify the Section 1 class, which remains fregndDelta believes the claims in these cases
are without merit and is vigorously defending thiesesuits.

EU Regulation 261 Class Action Litigation

In February 2011, a putative class action was fitetthe U.S. District Court for the Northern Distrof lllinois seeking to represent all US
residents who were passengers on flights duringéhied from February 2009 to the present who Hegedly entitled to compensation under
EU Regulation 261 because their flight was candediedelayed by more than 3 hours. Plaintiffs al#at Delta has incorporated a duty to
this compensation into its contract of carriagel assert a claim for breach of contract as thesdasitheir cause of action. The complaint s¢
recovery of the EU Regulation 261 compensation6®0efor each US resident on a flight qualifying $oich compensation. In October 2013,
the District Court granted Del®motion to dismiss all claims with prejudice. Thaintiffs have filed an appeal to the U.S. CodrAppeals fo
the Seventh Circuit, which remains pending. Deisputes the allegations in the Complaint and insetiodvigorously defend the matter.

*kk

For a discussion of certain environmental mattes, “Business-Regulatory Matters-Environmental &attin ltem 1.
ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.
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Part I

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELA TED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market Information

Our common stock is listed on the New York Stockliange. The following table sets forth for the pésiindicated the highest and lowest
sales price for our common stock as reported oN¥8E and dividends declared during these periods.

C Stock
ommon Stocl Cash Dividends

High Low Declared (per share)

Fiscal 2013

Fourth Quarter $ 29.4¢ $ 23.6: $0.06
Third Quarter $ 24.1( $ 18.3( $0.06
Second Quarter $ 19.4¢ $ 13.9¢ -
First Quarter $ 17.2¢ $ 11.9% --
Fiscal 2012

Fourth Quarter $ 12.0¢ $ 9.11 -
Third Quarter $ 11.2¢ $ 8.4z --
Second Quarter $ 12.2¢ $ 9.7¢ -
First Quarter $ 11.5¢ $ 7.82 -

Holders
As of January 31, 2014, there were approximate&d9@holders of record of our common stock.
Dividends

In 2013, our Board of Directors initiated a qudstelividend program and declared a $0.06 per stiaidend for shareholders of record as
of August 9, 2013 and November 6, 2013, which vpaid in September and November 2013 respectivélg.Board did not declare any other
dividends in the last two fiscal years. Our abitilypay future dividends is subject to compliangéwovenants in several of our credit
facilities. In addition, any future determinatianpgay cash dividends will be at the discretionhaf Board of Directors, subject to applicable
limitations under Delaware law, and will be departdgpoon our results of operations, financial caoditcash requirements, future prospects
and other factors deemed relevant by the Boardreicirs.
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Stock Performance Graph

The following graph compares the cumulative togalims during the period from January 1, 2009 todbeber 31, 2013 of our common
stock to the Standard & Poor's 500 Stock Indextaaddmex Airline Index. The comparison assumes $48¢ invested on January 1, 2009 in
each of our common stock and the indices and asstimeall dividends were reinvested.
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The following table presents information with resi® purchases of common stock we made durindpember 2013 quarter. The total
number of shares purchased includes shares regextiparsuant to our $500 million share repurchasgram, which was publicly announced
on May 8, 2013 (the "2013 Repurchase Program").ZlH8 Repurchase Program will terminate no laten thune 2016.

In addition, the table includes shares withheldnfremployees to satisfy certain tax obligations idugonnection with grants of stock under
the Delta Air Lines, Inc. 2007 Performance CompgaraPlan (the "2007 Plan"). The 2007 Plan proviieshe withholding of shares to
satisfy tax obligations. It does not specify a maxin number of shares that can be withheld forghipose. The shares of common stock
withheld to satisfy tax withholding obligations mhg deemed to be “issuer purchases” of sharesutbatquired to be disclosed pursuant to

this ltem.
Total Number of Shares Approximate Dollar Value (in
Average Price Purchased as Part of millions) of Shares That May Yet

Total Number of Paid Per Publicly Announced Plans Be Purchased Under the Plan or
Period Shares Purchased Share or Programs Programs
October 2013 1,138,70 $25.54 1,138,70 $378
November 2013 4,627,55; $27.56 4,627,55; $252
December 2013 95,00( $29.01 95,00( $250
Total 5,861,25; 5,861,25;
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following tables are derived from our auditedsolidated financial statements, and presentteeldimancial and operating data for the

years endeDecember 31, 2013, 2012, 2011, 2010 and 2009 .

Consolidated Summary of Operations

Year Ended December 31,

(in millions, except share data) 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
Operating revenue $ 37,770 $ 36,67( $ 35,11¢ $ 31,75 $ 28,06:
Operating expense 34,37 34,49t 33,14( 29,53¢ 28,38’
Operating income (loss) 3,40( 2,17¢ 1,97 2,217 (329
Other expense, net (873) (1,150 (1,20€) (1,609 (1,257
Income (loss) before income taxes 2,52 1,02t 76¢ 60¢ (1,58))
Income tax benefit (provision) 8,01: (1€) 85 (15 344
Net income (loss) $ 10,54( $ 1,00¢ $ 854 $ 59: $ (1,237)
Basic earnings (loss) per share $ 1241 $ 1.2C $ 1.0z $ 0.71 $ (2.50)
Diluted earnings (loss) per share $ 12.2¢ $ 1.1¢ % 1.01 $ 0.7C $ (1.50
The following are included in the results above:
Year Ended December 31,
(in millions) 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
Release of tax valuation allowance and intrapeiricdme tax allocation $ (7,989 $ — $ — $ — $ (32))
MTM adjustments (27¢) 27) 26 — —
Severance, impairment charges and other 424 457 242 227 13z
Loss on extinguishment of debt — 11¢ 68 391 83
Merger-related items — — — 23¢ 27¢
Total $ (784) % 54 $ 33€ $ 851 $ 16¢
Other Financial and Statistical Data(Unaudited)
Year Ended December 31,
Consolidated® 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
Revenue passenger miles (millions) 194,98t 192,97- 192,76 193,16¢ 188,94:
Available seat miles (millions) 232,74( 230,41! 234,65t 232,68: 230,33:
Passenger mile yield 16.8¢¢ 16.4¢€¢ 15.7(¢ 14.11¢ 12.6(¢
Passenger revenue per available seat mile 14.1%¢ 13.7¢¢ 12.8¢¢ 11.71¢ 10.34¢
Operating cost per available seat mile 14.7%¢ 14.97¢ 14.1:¢ 12.6¢¢ 12.3:¢
Passenger load factor 83.8% 83.8% 82.1% 83.(% 82.(%
Fuel gallons consumed (millions) 3,82¢ 3,76¢ 3,85¢ 3,82: 3,85:
Average price per fuel galldfi $ 3.0 $ 32t % 3.06 $ 23 $ 2.1t
Average price per fuel gallon, adjustéd $ 307 $ 326 $ 3.0t $ 23 % 2.1t
Full-time equivalent employees, end of period 77,75t 73,56 78,39: 79,68¢ 81,10¢

®Includes the operations of our regional carriemanrcapacity purchase agreements. Full-time eqriv@mployees exclude employees of regional cantiat we do not
own.

@ Includes the impact of fuel hedge activ

®  Non-GAAP financial measure defined and reconcileddpérating Expense" sections of Results of Operati@d13 compared to 2012 and 2012 compared to
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December 31,

(in millions) 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

Total assets $ 52,25. $ 4455( $ 43,49¢ $ 43,18 $ 43,78¢
Long-term debt and capital leases (including cumeaturities) $ 11,34 ¢ 12,70¢ $ 13,79 $ 1525. $ 17,19¢
Stockholders' equity (deficit) $ 11641 % (2,13)$ (1,399 $ 897 $ 24k
Common stock outstanding 851 851 84t 83t 784
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FIN ANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Financial Highlights - 2013 Compared to 2012

Our net income for 2013 was $10.5 billion, whicHeaets $8.0 hillion of income tax benefits primgrdue to the release of the tax valuation
allowance. Income before income taxes was $2.Bbjlfepresenting a $1.5 billion improvement oveopyear. Our pre-tax operating margin
rose by 4 percentage points to 7% on both highemmees and lower costs.

2013 was a successful year for Delta based onaeweasures. Our pre-tax profits were 147% higen the prior year. Our operating
performance led the industry, driving customerséatition and doubling our domestic net promoteres;ca metric measuring customer
satisfaction. Our completion factor was 99.7% vaitler 70 days where none of our flights were camcéle ranked number two in the
industry for bag performance as measured by the Defartment of Transportation. During the year retarned over $350 million to our
shareholders through dividends and a share purgiiageam. We also rejoined the Standard & PooiGsiB@ex of large companies.

RevenueOur passenger revenue increased $1.2 billion, tieapower market price of fuel. We experiencedtp@market reaction to our
first class upsell and Economy Comfort products: €ustomers value these products, which togethatriboted more than $600 million in
revenues. Our geographic regions performed wellpgoed to the prior year, with the domestic regeading year-over-year unit revenue
improvement. Unit revenues of the domestic regaserby over 5% with notable improvements in the N@ark market. New York unit
revenues increased as we continue to see improvsmea to our investments in JFK and LaGuardiayelsas many in-flight product
enhancements. Revenues related to our internatiegins were generally flat year-over-year, wlight unit revenue improvements in both
Atlantic and Latin America regions. Our Pacific imgexperienced a slight decline in unit revenugsgrily due to the Yen devaluation.

Operating Expensé&.otal operating expense decreased $122 miftiom 2012. As a result, our consolidated operatiost per available se
mile ("CASM") for 2013 decreased 1% to 14.77 cefibm 14.97 cent s in 2012, on a 1% increase imci#pn CASM-Ex (a non-GAAP
financial measure) was 9.14 cent s in 2013, or R$fbeln than 2012.

Changes in our total operating expenses reflecedsed fuel expense offset by higher salaries@ated costs and profit sharing. Fuel
expense for 2013 was $11.5 billion , including oegil carriers; our average price per gallon wa8@®&3vhich was $0.25 lower than 2012. Our
average price per gallon, adjusted was $3.07 (eGWAP financial measure), which was $0.19 lowemntB812. Our fuel cost includes net
airline segment fuel hedge gains for the year @i4$dillion, and a loss on refinery operations of&illion, or $0.03 per gallon. The higher
salaries expense represents wage increases and gi@eontinued investment we are making in ourleyses. Delta relies on its employees
for its operational and financial success. As altexf our success in 2013, we will pay our emplesyeecord profit sharing of $506 million,
which represents over 8% of an employee's annyalgral is a 36% year-over-year increase.

Income Tax We have released the tax valuation allowanceplaaed a reserve against certain tax assets. Wéalieve that, given the
company's financial performance, we will be ablege these tax assets to offset future cash intaxlebilities. We recognized an $8.0
billion tax benefit primarily as a result of rel@agthe valuation, which was recorded in incomeliarefit (provision) in our Consolidated
Statement of Operations. Beginning in 2014, we ekfzerecord income tax expense with an effectate of approximately 38%. As of
December 31, 2013, we have more than $15 billiomedfoperating loss carryforwards ("NOLs") thatlwi used to offset cash income taxes
due on future earnings.

The non-GAAP financial measure CASM-Ex used in astion is defined and reconciled in "Supplemelmfairmation” below. Average
fuel price per gallon, adjusted is defined and neded in "Results of Operations - Year Ended 2848 2012 - Operating Expense" below.

Company Initiatives
Increasing Shareholder Valu

We continue to focus on cash flow generation wighdoal of further strengthening our balance shetfinished 2013 with $5.7 billion in
unrestricted liquidity (consisting of cash, cashigglents, short-term investments and undrawn kénglcredit facility capacity). During 2013,
we generated $4.5 billion in cash from operatiniyvdies, reduced debt by $1.4 billion and fundegbital expenditures of $2.6 billion and

returned $350 million to shareholders, while maitey a solid liquidity position.
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In May 2013, we announced a plan to return more $iabillion to shareholders over the next thregrgeAs part of this plan, our Board of
Directors initiated a quarterly dividend prograndateclared a $0.06 per share dividend for sharemlof record as of August 9, 2013 and
November 6, 2013. These dividends were paSeptember 2013 and November 2013 and each totalechifion . In addition, the Board of
Directors authorized a $500 million share repureh@®gram, to be completed no later than June @6 2During 2013 , we repurchased and
retired approximately 10 million shares at a cdstpproximately $250 million . On February 7, 20bdr Board of Directors declared a $0.06
dividend for shareholders of record on February?21.4 and payable on March 14, 2014.

Network Strategy

We are implementing several strategies that argiaed to strengthen and expand our global netwndkpaesence. These include our
investment in and joint venture with Virgin Atlantimprovements at our hubs at LaGuardia and JA¥ew York and the creation of an
international gateway in Seattle.

Virgin Atlantic Investmentn 2013, we purchased a 49% interest in Virgin Atilafrom Singapore Airlines for $360 million. Wisa
entered into an agreement with Virgin Atlantic wifspect to operations on non-stop routes betweebnited Kingdom and North America.
In September 2013, the U.S. Department of Tranaport granted antitrust immunity on these routes.d@htitrust immunized relationship
allows for joint marketing and sales, coordinatedipg and revenue management, network planningsahdduling with respect to operations
on routes between North America and the United Hamg. Virgin Atlantic has a significant presencéandon's Heathrow airport, the airport
of choice for business travelers traveling to aodifLondon. Along with our state of the art fagilét JFK, we believe our relationship with
Virgin Atlantic will provide our customers with sapor service and connectivity between New York anddon. Beginning January 1, 2014,
we began working under the immunized relationshigh published our first coordinated schedule thabhees effective April 2014.

LaGuardia.During December 2011, we closed transactions wihAifways in which we received takeoff and landiigits (each a "slot
pair") at LaGuardia in exchange for slot pairs aa&an National. This exchange allowed us to creaew domestic hub at LaGuardia. We
have increased capacity at LaGuardia by approxign&@6 since March 2012, adding 123 new flights artdtal of 31 new destinations. We
currently operate about 277 daily flights betwea®uardia and 65 cities, more than any other airline

We are investing approximately $200 million in ageation and expansion project at LaGuardia to eodghe customer experience. In
2012, we opened the connector linking Terminal®@ @ and a new SkyClub in Terminal C. We are algzaading security lanes and a
baggage handling system in both terminals as wedineenhanced SkyClub in Terminal D.

JFK. While our expanded LaGuardia schedule is focuseproviding industryleading domestic service, we are optimizing ougrindtiona
and trans-continental flight schedule and undentaki redevelopment project at JFK to facilitatevesrient connections for our passengers an
improve coordination with our SkyTeam alliance pars. Prior to beginning the redevelopment projgetprimarily operated domestic flights
out of Terminal 2 and international flights outT@rminal 3. Our initial five-year project to expaadd enhance Terminal 4, which began in
2010, is on schedule. We have constructed nineim@nnational gates in Terminal 4, which opene@043. We have relocated our operations
from Terminal 3 to our newly constructed facilitesTerminal 4 and have begun the demolition oflieal 3. During 2013, we announced
plans for an additional $180 million expansion pobjthat will add 11 more gates at Terminal 4. \thiga additional expansion, we will relocate
our regional jet operations from Terminal 2 to Terah4. We expect that passengers will benefit famrenhanced customer experience and
improved operational performance, including redutzaditimes and better on-time performance.

Seattle International Gateway Expansi@attle is one of Delta’s fastest-growing intermadi gateways. We have recently expanded
service in Seattle, with additional frequencies dastinations, both domestically and internatignaNe have invested in our facilities,
including a renovated lobby, a new Delta SkyClubl arany other customer enhancements. By expandiSgattle, we will have improved
service for our local customers and increased adioreinto Asia.

Maintaining Cost Performance
Beginning in 2012, we implemented a cost initiatipeogram, which is expected to stem the rate sif gmwth to less than 2% cost

inflation annually. These initiatives are desigteimprove our cost efficiency while maintainingraperational performance and revenue
generation. An important component is the fleetruesuring initiative to retire older, less efficieaircraft from our fleet.
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Fleet Restructuriny

Fleet restructuring is an important component ofamst initiatives, and is focused on lowering waists while investing in our fleet to
enhance the customer experience. We are restngtour domestic fleet by reducing our 50-seat megiflying and replacing other older, less
cost effective aircraft with newer, more efficieitcraft. Agreements with SkyWest Airlines, IncdaBombardier Aerospace, as well as our
acquisition of Endeavor, have produced a path $doteliminate more than 200 50-seat aircraft. Véer@placing these aircraft and older B-
757-200 aircraft with more efficient and customeafprred CRJ-900, B-717-200 and B-737-900ER aitcraf

« In 2012, we entered into an agreement with Baxiba Aerospace to purchase 40 CRJ-900 aircraft 4@ deliveries this year and 28 in
2014.

e Alsoin 2012, we finalized agreements with Sexght Airlines and The Boeing Company ("Boeing")aase 88 B-717-200 aircraft.
Delivery of the aircraft began in September 201i8h & total of 13 aircraft delivered in 2013, 3¢caaft deliveries expected in 2014 and
36 aircraft deliveries expected in 2015. These B-ZQ0 aircraft are 110-seat aircraft and feature, fielly upgraded interiors, with 12
First Class seats, 15 Economy Comfort seats afidimt-WiFi throughout the cabin.

< In 2011, we entered into an agreement with Bpé&inpurchase 100 new fuel efficient B-73U0ER aircraft. We took delivery of the fi
B-737-900ER aircraft in September 2013 and willtoare adding these aircraft to our fleet through& @rimarily replacing older B-
757-200 aircraft. We expect the B-737-900ER toradfe industry leading customer experience, inclg@irpanded carry-on baggage
space and a spacious cabin.

In addition, we entered into an agreement in Sepéera013 with Airbus to purchase 10 internatiorsgdable widebody A330-300 and 30
large narrowbody A321-200 aircraft expected to setemestic markets. Delivery of the first A330-20fraft is expected to occur in spring
2015, with three additional A330-300 aircraft exgeecto be delivered in 2015, four aircraft in 2Gk&l two in 2017. Delivery of three A321-
200 aircraft are scheduled for the first quarte2@i6, with 12 additional aircraft expected to eéwred later in 2016 and 15 in 2017.

As mentioned above, an important component of [t festructuring initiative is to reduce 50-s€&J aircraft, which are our least fuel
efficient aircraft and have the lowest customeis&adtion ratings. We are targeting a fleet siz&@d to 125 aircraft within the next two years.
Our current fleet includes aircraft we lease amdraft that are operated for us by regional casrtbat own or lease aircraft through third
parties. As part of the reduction, we will retirsignificant portion of the fleet that is leasedusy We expect to continue to recognize material
restructuring charges, representing the remainiigations under the leases, as we retire the teaiseraft. Although many factors could
change over the next two years, we currently esértreat future charges will be between $200 milli@i$300 million, in addition to the $107
million recorded in 2013. The timing and amounttese charges will depend on a number of factoefyding our final negotiations with
lessors, the timing of removing aircraft from seevand the ultimate disposition of aircraft incldde the fleet restructuring program. Also, to
accelerate the restructuring of the fleet, we mak ja portion of the fleet on a temporary basisl gohtracts for aircraft flying under contract
carrier agreements expire. The temporarily parkexuiadt will be returned to service as aircraftifiy under these expiring agreements exit the
fleet. We will continue to incur operating leasgemnse for these temporarily parked aircraft. Assalt of restructuring the fleet, we expect to
benefit from improved operational and fuel effiagncustomer service and reduced future mainteneostethat we will experience over the
life of the new aircraft.

Fuel Expense, including refinery results

Fuel Expense-uel expense is our largest expense, represeriivtgo total operating expenses. For 2013, our fotsllexpense decreased
$787 million (including our regional carriers unaepacity purchase agreements) compared to 2012d€brease is primarily due to reduced
market jet fuel prices and an increase in gainsifooir hedging activities. Excluding mark-to-mar&djustments on hedges recorded in period
other than the settlement period ("MTM adjustmeéntstir fuel price per gallon, adjusted (a non-GAfikRncial measure) for 2013 was $3.07
per gallon, compared to $3.26 per gallon in 2012.

The market volatility of jet fuel prices greatly firacts our fuel costs. We manage our fuel cost tirdlaree primary methods: purchase
agreements, fuel hedging and the operation ofiaeamsf
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Fuel Purchase Costhe market price per gallon of jet fuel decreas¥d, 4ompared to 2012, which lowered our purchasé afofuel. This
decrease was partially offset by a 2% increaseisemption on higher capacity.

Fuel Hedging Program ImpactVe actively manage our fuel price risk through ddieg program intended to reduce the financial iotjoa
us from changes in the price of jet fuel. Durind.20our consolidated fuel hedge gain was $493anilliThis hedge gain includ&276 million
of MTM adjustments. These MTM adjustments are basecharket prices as of the end of the reportingpgddor contracts settling in future
periods. Such market prices are not necessarilgatide of the actual future value of the undertyhedge in the contract settlement period.

Refinery Segment ImpaGilobal jet fuel demand continues to increase. Wthiéeadvent of shale oil production in the U.S. teaBiced the
threat of U.S. refinery closures beyond those llaae already closed, further capacity reducticexjgected in Europe, thus impacting supply ir
the Atlantic Basin and ultimately increasing refinenargins in the U.S. Our wholly-owned subsidigyilonroe Energy, LLC and MIPC, LLC
(collectively, “Monroe”), operate the Trainer regity and related assets located near Philadelparmdylvania as part of our strategy to
mitigate the increasing cost of the refining mangmare paying. The facilities include pipelines &rminal assets that allow the refinery to
supply jet fuel to our airline operations throughthe Northeastern U.S., including our New York sialb LaGuardia and JFK.

The refinery produces primarily gasoline, dieseal gt fuel. Under multi-year agreements, we areaifely exchanging the non-jet fuel
products with Phillips 66 and BP for jet fuel totmed in our airline operations. The refinery praatlapproximately 162,000 barrels per da
2013. The jet fuel produced and procured througihamging gasoline and diesel fuel produced byéFirary provided approximately 150,000
barrels per day for use in airline operations du2013.

A refinery is subject to U.S. Environmental Proi@ctAgency ("EPA") requirements that are establisbach year to blend renewable fuels
into the gasoline and on-road diesel fuel it pradudlternatively, a refinery may purchase renewanlergy credits, called RINs, from third
parties in the secondary market.

Because the refinery operated by Monroe does eothlenewable fuels, it must purchase its entifdsRequirement in the secondary
market or obtain a waiver from the EPA. The refinisrexposed to the market price of RINs. For eXairthe average historical price of
ethanol RINs ranged from $0.02 to $0.05 per RIrior years, but the market price increased to &te40 per RIN during 2013; the price at
December 31, 2013 was $0.34 per RIN. Complianck thié RINs requirement by purchasing RINs, if salal# in the secondary market, at
elevated prices could have a material impact orr@sults of operations and cash flows for 2014.rééegnized $64 million of expense related
to the RINs requirement in 2013, which is includethe refinery's results. We believe that hold#rRINs have been withholding them from
the secondary market. This reduction of availabNsRsignificantly impairs the secondary market aseans of compliance with the RINs
requirement. Therefore, the Company is pursuingljeggulatory and legislative solutions to thislgem.

The refinery recorded a loss of $116 million in 30The refinery's results were impacted by the 0bRINs that far exceeded their
historical averages, as discussed above. In additie believe that the increase in jet fuel supllg to the refinery's operation has decreased
the overall market price of jet fuel, and lowerea ocost of jet fuel.
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Results of Operations - 2013 Compared to 2012

Operating Revenue

Year Ended December 31,

Increase % Increase

(in millions) 2013 2012 (Decrease) (Decrease)
Passenger:

Mainline $ 26,53¢ $ 2517 $ 1,361 5%

Regional carriers 6,40¢ 6,581 (179) (3)%
Total passenger revenue 32,94 31,75¢ 1,18¢ 4%
Cargo 937 99C (53) (5)%
Other 3,89¢ 3,92¢ (32 ()%
Total operating revenue $ 37,77: $ 36,67( $ 1,10: 3%

Increase (Decrease)
vs. Year Ended December 31, 2012
Year Ended Passenger RPMs ASMs Passenger

(in millions) December 31, 2013 Revenue (Traffic) (Capacity) Mile Yield PRASM Load Factor
Domestic $ 15,20« 8 % 1% 2% 6 % 5% (0.9) pts
Atlantic 5,651 3% 1% (1)% 2% 3% 1.2 pts
Pacific 3,561 (2)% 1% (D)% (2)% D)% 1.2 pts
Latin America 2,117 11% 11% 8% (D% 2% 2.2 pts
Total mainline 26,53 5% 2% 2% 3% 4% 0.2 pts
Regional carriers 6,40¢ (3)% (6)% (3)% 3% 1% (1.8) pts
Total passenger revenue $ 32,94: 4% 1% 1% 3% 3% — pts

Passenger Revenueassenger revenue increased $1.2 billion , or d&@, 3% PRASM increase and a 3% increase in passanilg yield.
Revenue remained strong despite lower fuel priceaddition, the increase in passenger revenueatsfthe investments for in-flight product
enhancements such as the Economy Comfort prodddtigher corporate sales.

Our geographic regions performed well comparedhéaarior year, with the domestic region leadingry®zer-year unit revenue
improvement as a result of higher passenger mélel yUnit revenues of the domestic region roseu®r 8% with notable improvements in the
New York market. New York unit revenues increasgdva continue to see improvements due to our imexsts in JFK and LaGuardia, as v
as many in-flight product enhancements. Revenudaterkto our international regions were generaddly year-over-year, with slight unit
revenue improvements in both Atlantic and Latin Aicee regions. Our Pacific region experienced ahsldgecline in unit revenues primarily ¢
to the Yen devaluation.
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Operating Expense

Year Ended December 31,

Increase % Increase
(in millions) 2013 2012 (Decrease) (Decrease)
Aircraft fuel and related taxes $ 9,397 $ 10,15C $ (759 (7)%
Salaries and related costs 7,72( 7,26¢ 454 6 %
Regional carrier expense 5,66¢ 5,64 22 — %
Aircraft maintenance materials and outside repairs 1,852 1,95¢ (103 (5)%
Contracted services 1,66¢ 1,56¢ 99 6 %
Depreciation and amortization 1,65¢ 1,56t 93 6 %
Passenger commissions and other selling expenses 1,602 1,59( 13 1%
Landing fees and other rents 1,41C 1,33¢ 74 6 %
Passenger service 762 732 30 4%
Profit sharing 50€ 37z 134 36 %
Aircraft rent 20¢ 272 (63) (23)%
Restructuring and other items 40z 452 (50) NM @
Other 1,52( 1,592 (72 (5)%
Total operating expense $ 34,37: $ 34,49t $ (122 — %

WNM - not meaningful. For a discussion of chargesréed in restructuring and other items, see N6tefthe Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statgm

Fuel Expensdncluding regional carriers under capacity purchegeements, fuel expense decreased $787 millicewise of a 4%decreas
in fuel market price per gallon and fuel hedge gapartially offset by a 2% increase in consumptildme table below presents fuel expense,
gallons consumed and our average price per gafloluding the impact of fuel hedging and the refine

Year Ended December 31,

Increase % Increase
(in millions, except per gallon data) 2013 2012 (Decrease) (Decrease)
Aircraft fuel and related taxé% $ 9,397 $ 10,15C $ (759
Aircraft fuel and related taxes included withinigagal carrier expense 2,067 2,101 (39
Total fuel expense $ 1146¢$ 1225. $ (787) (6)%
Total fuel consumption (gallons) 3,82¢ 3,76¢ 59 2%
Average price per gallon $ 3.0C $ 3.28 § (0.25) (8)%

@ Includes the impact of fuel hedging and refinesutis described further in the table bel

The table below shows the impact of hedging anddfirery on fuel expense and average price pdomahdjusted:

Average Price Per Gallon

Year Ended December 31, Increase Year Ended December 31, Increase
(in millions, except per gallon data) 2013 2012 (Decrease) 2013 2012 (Decrease)
Fuel purchase cost $ 11,790 $ 1212: $ (330 $ 3.0¢ $ 32t $  (0.19
Airline segment fuel hedge (gains) losses (444) 66 (510 (0.12 0.01 (0.13)
Refinery segment impact 11€ 63 53 0.0z 0.01 0.0z
Total fuel expense $ 1146 $ 1225 % (787 $ 3.0 $ 328 % (0.2
MTM adjustments gains 27€ 27 24¢ 0.07 0.01 0.0€
Total fuel expense, adjusted $ 11,740 $ 1227¢ $ (B3f $ 3.07 $ 3.2¢ % (0.19
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Fuel Purchase CosEuel purchase cost is based on the market prigetféwel at airport locations.

Refinery ImpactThe refinery results include the impact on fuelenge of self-supply from the production of themefiyy and from refined
products exchanged with Phillips 66 and BP. As diesd in Note 2 of the Notes to the ConsolidatathRtial Statements, to the extent that we
account for exchanges of refined products as nonetaoy transactions, we include the results ofg¢hansactions within fuel expense.

Fuel Hedge (Gains) Losses and MTM Adjustmédiising the year ended December 31, 2013, our aeidegment fuel hedge gains of $444
million included $276 million of MTM adjustmentsh&se MTM adjustments are based on market pricestas end of the reporting period
for contracts settling in future periods. Such nearirices are not necessarily indicative of the@duture value of the underlying hedge in the
contract settlement period. The gains for MTM atijients are reflected in the table above to calewdateffective fuel cost for the period.

We adjust fuel expense for these items to arriveerabre meaningful measure of fuel cost. Our avepaige per gallon, adjusted (a non-
GAAP financial measure) was $3.07 for the year dridecember 31, 2013.

Salaries and Related Cost¥he increase in salaries and related costsnsgpily due to employee pay increases.

During the June 2012 quarter, we reached an agrdemitn ALPA that increases pay and benefits far pilots. Our pilots and substantia
all other employees received base pay increaséslyri, 2012 and received additional increasesaonaky 1, 2013. These increases are
designed both to recognize changes to the prdditisty program described below and to acceleratpldmed 2013 pay increase for non-pilot
employees.

Aircraft Maintenance Materials and Outside Repakgcraft maintenance materials and outside repairssists of costs associated with
maintenance of aircraft used in our operationsraathtenance sales to third parties by our MRO ses/business. The decrease in
maintenance costs is primarily due to lower volwheales to third parties of our MRO services dreddyclical timing of maintenance events
on our fleet.

Contracted Service€ontracted services expense increased year-ovedyegrimarily to the impact of severe winter steron our
operations and costs associated with the 1% inelieasapacity.

Depreciation and amortizatiomepreciation and amortization expense increasedgisx-year primarily due to our investment in the
purchase of aircraft and aircraft modificationsttinpgraded aircraft interiors and enhanced ourycbdffering.

Landing fees and other rentsanding fees and other rents increased year-ovar{yémarily due to our investment in airport fédls.

Profit Sharing.Our broad based employee profit sharing programiges that, for each year in which we have an anmgatax profit, as
defined by the terms of the program, we will pagpacified portion of that profit to employees. Etermining the amount of profit sharing, the
terms of the program specify the exclusion of sgdétg#ms, such as MTM adjustments and restructuairdyother items, from pre-tax profit.
During the June 2012 quarter, our profit sharinggpam was modified so that we will pay 10% of piotin the first $2.5 billion of annual
profits effective with the plan year beginning Janul, 2013 compared to paying 15% of annual gddit the 2012 plan year. Under the
program, we will continue to pay 20% of annual fisshbove $2.5 billion.

Aircraft Rent.Aircraft rent decreased year-over-year due primatile to purchasing aircraft off-lease.
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Results of Operations - 2012 Compared to 2011

Operating Revenue

Year Ended December 31,

(in millions) 2012 2011 Increase % Increase
Passenger:

Mainline $ 25,17: $ 23,84! $ 1,33( 6 %

Regional carriers 6,581 6,41 167 3%
Total passenger revenue 31,75¢ 30,257 1,497 5%
Cargo 99C 1,025 (37 (4%
Other 3,92¢ 3,831 95 2%
Total operating revenue $ 36,67( $ 35,11F $ 1,55¢ 4%

Increase (Decrease)
vs. Year Ended December 31, 2011

Year Ended Passenger RPMs ASMs Passenger
(in millions) December 31, 2012 Revenue (Traffic) (Capacity) Mile Yield PRASM Load Factor
Domestic $ 14,13¢ 7% 1% — % 6% 7% 0.8 pts
Atlantic 5,51¢ (D% (4% (7% 3% 6% 2.8 pts
Pacific 3,61¢ 11% 6 % 3% 5% 8% 2.€ pts
Latin America 1,90¢ 8% 6 % 3% 2% 5% 2.7 pts
Total mainline 25,17: 6 % 1% (D)% 5% 7% 1.7 pts
Regional carriers 6,581 3% (4% (5)% 7% 8% 0.7 pts
Total passenger revenue $ 31,754 5% — % (2% 5% 7% 1.7 pts

Passenger Revenueassenger revenue increased $1.5 billion , or &3 to an improvement in the passenger mile yiek$o, on a 2%
decline in capacity. Passenger mile yield and ravienue increased due to fare increases, highenwewunder corporate travel contracts and
improvements in our products and services.

International mainline passenger revenue incre@s2a million. In early 2011, we faced industry aagracity in the transatlantic market
and in connection with our joint venture partnétisFrance-KLM and Allitalia, we reduced capacityunderperforming markets during the
second half of 2011 and in 2012. As a result, AitaARRASM was up 6% , driven by a 3% increase @idyon a 7% decrease in capacity.
Pacific passenger revenue increased 11% on a 3%%rndcrease in capacity and traffic, respectivélyese results reflect Pacific market
improvement, as demand returned to levels seentorithe March 2011 earthquake and tsunami in Jdin America passenger revenue
increased 8% on a 3% and 6% increase in capadityrafiic, respectively.
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Operating Expense

Year Ended December 31,

Increase % Increase

(in millions) 2012 2011 (Decrease) (Decrease)

Aircraft fuel and related taxes $ 10,15C $ 9,73C $ 42C 4%
Salaries and related costs 7,26¢ 6,89/ 37z 5%
Regional carrier expense 5,64 5,47( 177 3%
Aircraft maintenance materials and outside repairs 1,95¢ 1,76¢ 19C 11%
Passenger commissions and other selling expenses 1,59( 1,68 (92 (5)%
Contracted services 1,56¢€ 1,64: (76) (5)%
Depreciation and amortization 1,56¢ 1,52 42 3%
Landing fees and other rents 1,33¢ 1,281 55 4%
Passenger service 732 721 11 2%
Profit sharing 37z 264 10¢ 41 %
Aircraft rent 272 29¢ (26) (9)%
Restructuring and other items 452 242 21C NM @

Other 1,59: 1,62¢ (36) (2%
Total operating expense $ 34,49% 33,14( $ 1,35¢ 4%

W For a discussion of charges recorded in restruuand other items, see Note 16 of the Notes t€thesolidated Financial Statements.
Fuel Expensdncluding regional carriers under capacity purchegeements, fuel expense increased $468 millioaus® of a 6% increase

in our average price per gallon, despite ad®¥rease in consumption. The table below presaat®kpense, gallons consumed and our av
price per gallon, including the impact of fuel hedgsses of $66 million during the year ended Ddms31, 2012:

Year Ended December 31,

Increase % Increase
(in millions, except per gallon data) 2012 2011 (Decrease) (Decrease)
Aircraft fuel and related taxes $ 10,15C $ 9,73( $ 42C
Aircraft fuel and related taxes included withiniwal carrier expense 2,101 2,05: 48
Total fuel expense $ 1225 % 11,781 $ 46€ 4%
Total fuel consumption (gallons) 3,76¢ 3,85¢ (87) (2)%
Average price per gallon $ 3.2 % 3.0¢ $ 0.1¢ 6 %

The table below shows the impact of hedging anddfirery on fuel expense and average price péomgal

Average Price Per Gallon

Year Ended December 31, Increase Year Ended December 31, Increase
(in millions, except per gallon data) 2012 2011 (Decrease) 2012 2011 (Decrease)
Fuel purchase cost $ 12,120 $ 12,20 $ 81y ¢ 3.2t % 317 % 0.0€
Fuel hedge losses (gains) 66 (420 48€ 0.01 (0.11 0.12
Refinery segment impact 63 — 63 0.01 — 0.01
Total fuel expense $ 12252 11,78 $ 46 $ 328 % 3.06 $ 0.1¢
MTM adjustments gains (losses) 27 (26) 53 0.01 (0.07) 0.0z
Total fuel expense, adjusted $ 1227¢$ 11,75 $ 521 % 3.2¢ % 3.0t $ 0.21
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Salaries and Related Cost$he increase in salaries and related costsnisapily due to employee pay increases, increaspsrision
expense and other benefits.

During the June 2012 quarter, we reached an agrdemitn ALPA that increases pay and benefits far pilots. Our pilots and substantia
all other employees received base pay increaséslyri, 2012 and received additional increasesaonaky 1, 2013. These increases are
designed both to recognize changes to the prditisty program described below and to acceleratpldmed 2013 pay increase for non-pilot
employees.

Aircraft Maintenance Materials and Outside Repakgcraft maintenance materials and outside repairssists of costs associated with
maintenance of aircraft used in our operationsraathtenance sales to third parties by our MRO ses/business. The increase in mainten
costs is primarily due to the cyclical timing of mt@nance events on our fleet. Additionally, mairaiece cost increased as we accelerated
certain maintenance events into 2012, resultirgylower total cost for those activities, and cortgdlemaintenance initiatives to improve our
operational reliability.

Passenger Commissions and Other Selling Expefibesdecrease in passenger commissions and otlirg g{penses is primarily due to
lower booking fees and international commissiorsapartially offset by increases in sales.

Contracted Service€ontracted services expense decreased year-ovedyegrimarily to the impact of severe winter steron our
operations in the March 2011 quarter.

Profit Sharing.Our broad based employee profit sharing programiges that, for each year in which we have an anpgatax profit, as
defined by the terms of the program, we will pagpacified portion of that profit to employees. Etermining the amount of profit sharing, the
terms of the program specify the exclusion of sgdétg#ms, such as MTM adjustments and restructuaimdjother items, from pre-tax profit.
During the June 2012 quarter, our profit sharinggpam was modified so that we will pay 10% of piotin the first $2.5 billion of annual
profits effective with the plan year beginning Janul, 2013 compared to paying 15% of annual gddit the 2012 plan year. Under the
program, we will continue to pay 20% of annual fisshbove $2.5 billion.
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Non-Operating Results

Year Ended December 31, Favorable (Unfavorable)
(in millions) 2013 2012 2011 2013vs. 2012 2012 vs. 2011
Interest expense, net $ (69¢€) $ (812) $ (901) $ 114 $ 89
Amortization of debt discount, net (159 (199 (199 39 —
Loss on extinguishment of debt — (11¢) (68) 11¢€ (50
Miscellaneous, net (22) (27) (449 6 17
Total other expense, net $ 879 $ (1,150 $ (1,206 $ 277 $ 56

The decline in interest expense, net is drivendojuced levels of debt and lower interest rates.g@incipal amount of debt has declined
from $15.4 billion at the beginning of 2011 to $ billion at December 31, 2013 . During 2012 and2Gve recorded $118 million and $68
million in losses from the early extinguishmentebt, which primarily related to the write-off oélok discounts. These debt discounts are
primarily a result of fair value adjustments reamtdn 2008 to reduce the carrying value of Northv@sg-term debt due to purchase
accounting. As a result of these write-offs ancesiched amortization, our unamortized debt dischiastdecreased from $935 million at the
beginning of 2011 to $383 million at December 3112.

Income Taxes

We consider all income sources, including other pahensive income, in determining the amount oflterefit allocated to continui
operations. The following table shows the compamenbur income tax benefit (provision):

Year Ended December 31,

(in millions) 2013 2012 2011
Current tax benefit (provision):
Federal $ 24 $ — $ 91
State and local 3 15 (6)
International 1 (14) 2
Deferred tax provision:
Federal 7,19 4 2
State and local 794 (13 —
Income tax benefit (provision) $ 8,01 $ (16) $ 85

During the December 2013 quarter, after considealhgelevant factors, we concluded that our defgincome tax assets are more likely
than not to be realized. Accordingly, at Decemlier2®13, we released almost all of our valuatidomednce against our net deferred income
tax assets. The release of the allowance primegdylted in a net tax benefit of $8.0 billion thats recorded in income tax benefit (provision)
in our Consolidated Statement of Operations. Bagmim 2014, we expect to record income tax expevidean effective rate of approximat
38%. At December 31, 2013, we had $15.3 billiotJ. federal pre-tax net operating loss carryfedsaAccordingly, we believe we will not
pay any cash federal income taxes during the readral years. Our U.S. federal pre-tax net opagdtias carryforwards do not begin to expire
until 2023 . See Note 12 of the Notes to the Cadatdd Financial Statements for more information.

During 2012 and 2011, we did not record an incaaxeprovision for U.S. federal income tax purposasesour deferred tax assets were

fully reserved by a valuation allowance. During 20@e recorded an income tax benefit of $85 millipnmarily related to the recognition of
alternative minimum tax refunds.
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Financial Condition and Liquidity

We expect to meet our cash needs for the next ¥2hmdrom cash flows from operations, cash and egsfivalents, shoterm investment
and financing arrangements. As of December 31, 20d3had $5.7 billion in unrestricted liquidityrsisting of $3.8 billion in cash and cash
equivalents and short-term investments and $1li®Mih undrawn revolving credit facilities.

Sources of Liquidity

Operating Cash Flow

Cash flows from operating activities continue topde our primary source of liquidity. We generapexitive cash flows from operations
$4.5 billion in 2013, $2.5 billion in 2012 and $illion in 2011 . We also expect to generate fpasicash flows from operations in 2014.

Our operating cash flows can be impacted by tHevdhg factors:

Seasonality of Advance Ticket Sal®ge sell tickets for air travel in advance of thestomer's travel date, and receive cash payméne at
time of sale. As a result, we record the cash veckon advance sales as deferred revenue in Affidtaability. The Air Traffic Liability
increases during the spring as we have increaseslisaadvance of the summer peak travel seasanc&sh balances are typically higher at
beginning of the summer and at a low point durlngwinter.

Fuel and Fuel Hedge MarginsThe cost of jet fuel is our most significant empe, representing approximately 33% of our totalrafing
expenses for 2013 . The market price for jet fadlighly volatile and can vary significantly frorannd to period. This price volatility affects
our cash flows from operations, impacting compditgtfrom period to period.

We have jet fuel inventories at various airporglians, which are used in our airline operationisoAwe acquired the Trainer oil refinery
2012, which, as part of refinery operations, héised oil product inventories. Jet fuel and refirmbproduct inventories are recorded as Fuel
Inventory. Fuel Inventory increased during 2012 assult of the start up of refinery operationthiea September quarter and the transition of
our fuel supply program. The increase in Fuel Inegnto achieve normal operating levels at oumefy was offset by a similar increase in
accounts payable, and therefore, did not havergfisignt impact on operating cash flows during 20IRe remaining $180 million increase in
Fuel Inventory was a result of the transition iftB'e fuel supply program.

As part of our fuel hedging program, we may be ieglto pay hedge margin to counterparties wherpoufolio is in a loss position.
Conversely, if our portfolio with counterpartiesiisa gain position, we may receive hedge margumr. fture cash flows are impacted
depending upon the nature of our derivative cotdrand the market price of the commodities undeglyiur derivative contracts

Timing of SkyMiles Salek December 2011, we amended our American Expigreements and agreed to sell $675 million of unmst
SkyMiles to American Express in each December f2@rhl through 2014. Under the December 2011 amertgdererican Express purchas
$675 million of unrestricted SkyMiles in each 0fl3) 2012 and 2011. In 2011, this operating cash flas largely offset by working capital
changes. We anticipate American Express will makadditional purchase of $675 million of unrestatSkyMiles in 2014.

In 2008, we entered into a mujtear extension of our American Express agreementseceived $1.0 billion from American Expressdaol
advance purchase of restricted SkyMiles. The ageatms modified, provided that our obligationswiéspect to the advance purchase woulc
be satisfied as American Express uses the purctmassesi over a specified future period (“SkyMilesdds Period”). During the SkyMiles
Usage Period, which commenced in December 2011 ridareExpress utilized SkyMiles valued at $333 imillannually over three years
beginning 2012 instead of paying cash to DelteSkyMiles used. This draw down of $333 million inyBkiles reduced cash flows from
operations in 2012 compared to 2011. In Decemb&B 20e and American Express amended this agreemaiibw American Express to use
these SkyMiles immediately and without restriction.
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Pension ContributionaNe sponsor defined benefit pension plans for diggémployees and retirees. These plans are closeelt entrants
and are frozen for future benefit accruals. Oudfog obligations for these plans are governed byBimployee Retirement Income Security
Act, as modified by the The Pension Protection #006. We contributed $914 million in 2013, indilug $250 million above the minimum
funding levels, $697 million in 2012 and $598 nailliin 2011 to our defined benefit pension plans.aatémate the funding under these plans
will total approximately $925 million in 2014, inaling $250 million above the minimum funding reguairents.

Undrawn Lines of Credit

We have available $1.9 billion in undrawn linexoédit. As described in Note 8 of the Notes to@masolidated Financial Statements, we
have an undrawn $1.2 billion first-lien revolvingedit facility, as part of our 2011 Credit Facési The revolving credit facility carries a
variable interest rate and expires in April 2016.

We also have an undrawn $450 million revolving d@réatility included in the 2012 Pacific Facilitieas described in Note 8 of the Notes to
the Consolidated Financial Statements. The 201Zi®&ecilities are secured by our Pacific routes alots. This revolving credit facility
carries a variable interest rate and expires im@t2017. In addition, we have undrawn bank remgleredit facilities of $250 million.

The credit facilities mentioned above have covesiaich as collateral coverage ratios. If we atémoompliance with these covenants,
may be required to repay amounts borrowed undecrdgit facilities and may not be able to draw loa tevolving credit facilities.

Other

Our ability to obtain additional financing, if nes] on acceptable terms could be adversely afféntele fact that a significant portion of our
assets are subject to liens.

Investing and Financing
Investing Activitie:

We incurred capital expenditures of $2.6 billior2®il3 , $2.0 billion in 2012 and $1.3 billion in120. Our capital expenditures were
primarily for the purchase of aircraft and aircrafddifications that upgraded aircraft interiors @mthanced our product offering. Also during
2013, we purchased a 49% equity investment in Wigglantic for $360 million .

We have committed to future aircraft purchaseswhiitrequire significant capital investment, anaMe obtained long-term financing
commitments for a substantial portion of the puseharice of these aircraft. We expect that we wilest approximately $2.3 billion in 2014
primarily for aircraft and aircraft modificationg/e expect that the 2014 investments will be funtthedugh cash from operations and new
financings.

Financings

At December 31, 2013, total debt and capital lgaseluding current maturities, was $11.3 billica $1.4 billion reduction from
December 31, 2012nd a $5.9 billion reduction from December 31, 2088 have focused on reducing our total debt dveipast few years :
part of our strategy to strengthen our balancetsheaddition, we have refinanced previous finagdransactions, which we expect to reduce
our total future interest expense.

In May 2013, we announced a plan to return more $iabillion to shareholders over the next thregrgeAs part of this plan, our Board of
Directors initiated a quarterly dividend prograndateclared a $0.06 per share dividend in both ALR0%3 and November 2013. These
dividends were paid in September 2013 and Nove2®&8 and each totaled $51 million . In additiorg Board of Directors authorized a $500
million share repurchase program, to be completelater than June 30, 2016 . During 2013 , we rdmsed and retired approximately 10
million shares at a cost of approximately $250 ionill.

In 2013, we received $268 million in financing peeds from long-term debt, which is secured by aftatelivered in 2013. In 2012, we

received $480 million in financing proceeds fromdeterm debt secured by aircraft previously finahbg debt. In 2012, we also refinanced
$1.7 billion in debt and undrawn revolving creditilities secured by our Pacific routes and shwtsch resulted in a lower interest rate.
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Contractual Obligations

The following table summarizes our contractual gdions at December 31, 2013 that we expect wifidid in cash. The table does not
include amounts that are contingent on eventsherdactors that are uncertain or unknown at thig tincluding legal contingencies, uncern
tax positions and amounts payable under collettargaining arrangements, among others. In additientable does not include expected
significant cash payments which are generally @dirtourse of business obligations that do notigielcontractual commitments.

The amounts presented are based on various estinratliding estimates regarding the timing of pawts, prevailing interest rates,

volumes purchased, the occurrence of certain ewnt®other factors. Accordingly, the actual resoits vary materially from the amounts
presented in the table.

Contractual Obligations by Year ®

(in millions) 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 Thereafter Total
Long-term debt (see Note 8)

Principal amount $ 1,491 % 108 $ 1,472 $ 219 $ 2,15¢$ 2,827 $ 11,22¢

Interest payments 51C 44C 37C 29C 23C 46C 2,30(
Capital lease obligations (see Note 9) 16& 15¢ 142 10C 54 74 694
Operating lease payments (see Note 9) 1,42¢ 1,35¢ 1,18¢ 1,02¢ 831 5,66¢ 11,49
Aircraft purchase commitments (see Note 10) 1,58t 1,21t 1,70C 1,49t 45(C 2,70( 9,14¢
Contract carrier obligations (see Note 10) 2,11( 2,04( 1,78( 1,56( 1,32( 1,93( 10,74(
Employee benefit obligations (see Note 11) 81C 76C 69C 67C 65( 8,26( 11,84(
Other obligations 79C 58C 53C 39C 43( 1,42( 4,14(
Total $ 889 $ 763t $ 7871 % 7,721 % 6,12¢ $ 23337 $ 61,58

@ For additional information, see the Notes to thestdidated Financial Statements referenced inable tabove

Long-Term Debt, Principal AmourRepresents scheduled principal payments on lomg-diett.

Long-Term Debt, Interest Paymerf&epresents estimated interest payments under ogitésm debt based on the interest rates spedified
the applicable debt agreements. Interest paymenisugable interest rate debt were calculated usIB®R at December 31, 2013 .

Aircraft Purchase CommitmentRepresents our commitments to purchase 88 B-73ERP80 A321-200, 28 CRJ-900, 18 B-787-8 aircraf
and 10 A330-300 aircraft. Our purchase commitmenil8 B-787-8 aircraft provides for certain air¢rsifibstitution rights.

Contract Carrier ObligationsRepresents our estimated minimum fixed obligatiemder capacity purchase agreements with regional
carriers. The reported amounts are based on (Yethered minimum levels of flying by our contraetrriers under the applicable agreements
and (2) assumptions regarding the costs assoaiatikecduch minimum levels of flying.

Employee Benefit ObligationRepresents primarily (1) our estimated minimum negiifunding for our qualified defined benefit pas
plans based on actuarially determined estimategmutojected future benefit payments from ourumfed postretirement and
postemployment plans. For additional informationwtiour employee benefit obligations, see “Critidatounting Policies and Estimates.”

Other ObligationsRepresents estimated purchase obligations undehwie are required to make minimum payments fodgamnd
services, including but not limited to insurancerketing, maintenance, technology, sponsorshipotret third party services and products.
Additionally, other obligations includes estimatédease payments on the remaining 75 B-717-2@0adtrstill to be delivered in 2014 and
2015 from the agreements entered into in 2012 &dththwest Airlines and Boeing to lease 88 B-717-&@€raft .
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Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our critical accounting policies and estimatesthose that require significant judgments and egésiaAccordingly, the actual results may
differ materially from these estimates. For a désion of these and other accounting policies, sse N of the Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

Frequent Flyer Progran

Our frequent flyer program (the “SkyMiles Prograrofjers incentives to travel on Delta. This prograllows customers to earn mileage
credits by flying on Delta, regional air carriergiwwhich we have contract carrier agreements antides that participate in the SkyMiles
Program, as well as through participating compasieh as credit card companies, hotels and caalragéncies. We sell mileage credits to
non-airline businesses, customers and other atline

The SkyMiles Program includes two types of trarisastthat are considered revenue arrangementswuittiple deliverables. As discussed
below, these are (1) passenger ticket sales eammiiegge credits and (2) the sale of mileage csddiparticipating companies with which we
have marketing agreements. Mileage credits arparat unit of accounting as they can be redeemeddiomers in future periods for air
travel on Delta and participating airlines, membgrsn our Sky Club and other program awards.

Passenger Ticket Sales Earning Mileage Creélitssenger ticket sales earning mileage credits unneSkyMiles Program provide
customers with two deliverables: (1) mileage cieddrned and (2) air transportation. We value datitierable on a standalone basis. Our
estimate of the standalone selling price of a rg#eeredit is based on an analysis of our salesleage credits to other airlines and customers
and is re-evaluated at least annually. We use lesttad ticket prices to determine the standalofisngeprice of air transportation. We allocate
the total amount collected from passenger tickietsdaetween the deliverables based on their relatling prices.

We defer revenue for the mileage credits relatgqubgsenger ticket sales and recognize it as passengnue when miles are redeemed
services are provided. We record the air transporntgortion of the passenger ticket sales inraifit liability and recognize these amounts in
passenger revenue when we provide transportatiamen the ticket expires unused. A hypothetical 108tease in our estimate of the
standalone selling price of a mileage credit walddrease passenger revenue by approximately $66mds a result of an increase in the
amount of revenue deferred from the mileage compoofepassenger ticket sales.

Sale of Mileage Credit€€ustomers may earn mileage credits through pastiicig companies such as credit card companiesistantd car
rental agencies with which we have marketing agesgmto sell mileage credits. Our contracts torsdtage credits under these marketing
agreements have multiple deliverables, as defirdaib

Our most significant contract to sell mileage ctedeélates to our co-brand credit card relationshith American Express. In September
2013, we and American Express modified our SkyMilgeeements. This modification required that weaud#ferent accounting standard for
recording SkyMiles sold. Prior to the modificatiomege allocated consideration received from selfirites to American Express among two
primary deliverables: credit redeemable for futieeel and marketing deliverables. We deferredmaeerelated to the portion of mileage
credits redeemable for future travel based ondleat which we sell mileage credits to otherraédi We calculated the value of the marketing
component based on the residual method and re@drag other revenue as related marketing seraiceprovided.

The September 2013 modifications introduced nevwelelbles and modified existing deliverables. Bseatlnese modifications were
material to the SkyMiles agreements, we are redumause a different accounting standard that atesthe consideration received from sel
miles to all deliverables based on their relatiteandalone sales price. Accordingly, we determingdbest estimate of selling prices by
considering discounted cash flows analysis usintjiphelinputs and assumptions, including: (1) tkpexted number of miles awarded and
number of miles redeemed, (2) the rate at whiclsellemileage credits to other airlines, (3) puldiditates on our website for baggage fees,
access to Delta SkyClub lounges and other beneliitle traveling on Delta and (4) brand value. THea of this change in accounting
standard lowered the deferral rate we use to remiles sold under the agreements, which increasesue we will record in future periods.
The revenue impact of the SkyMiles agreement meatifins was insignificant for 2013 and is expedtenhcrease 2014 revenue by
approximately $100 million . Additionally, upon dfgation of this accounting standard, we were regplito adjust the recorded value of miles
currently deferred in our Frequent Flyer Liabilibat originated through the American Express pnograAccordingly, we adjusted the liability
in the September 2013 quarter by less than $1@omill
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BreakageFor mileage credits that we estimate are not likelpe redeemed (“breakage”), we recognize thecéested value proportionally
during the period in which the remaining mileagedis are expected to be redeemed. Managemenstagistical models to estimate breakage
based on historical redemption patterns. A changssumptions as to the period over which mileagdits are expected to be redeemed, the
actual redemption activity for mileage creditslog £stimated fair value of mileage credits expetudikt redeemed could have a material
impact on our revenue in the year in which the geamccurs and in future years. At December 31, 2@i8 aggregate deferred revenue
balance associated with the SkyMiles Program wa& i$ilion . A hypothetical 1% change in the numbéputstanding miles estimated to be
redeemed would result in a $28 million impact on deferred revenue liability at December 31, 2013 .

Goodwill and Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets

We assess our goodwill and indefinite-lived intdtgiassets under a qualitative or quantitative @ggr. Under a qualitative approach, we
consider many market factors, including those disteder Key Assumptions below. We analyze thes&endactors to determine if events and
circumstances have affected the fair value of golbdwd indefinite-lived intangible assets. If wetdrmine that it is more likely than not that
the asset value may be impaired, we use the gatwitapproach to assess the asset's fair valutharaiount of the impairment. Under a
guantitative approach, we calculate the fair valiihe asset using the Key Assumptions listed belbthe asset's carrying value exceeds its
fair value calculated using the quantitative apphoave will record an impairment charge for thdatiénce in fair value and carrying value.

When we evaluate goodwill for impairment using armfitative approach, we estimate the fair valuthefreporting unit by considering
market capitalization and other factors. When wdopm a quantitative impairment assessment of ndefinite-lived intangible assets, fair
value is estimated based on (1) recent marketacdiosis, where available, (2) a combination of fedimarket transactions and the lease
savings method for certain airport slots (whicheet potential lease savings from owning the siatiser than leasing them from another
airline at market rates), (3) the royalty methodtfe Delta tradename (which assumes hypothetigallties generated from using our
tradename) or (4) projected discounted future flasés (an income approach).

Key Assumption§.he key assumptions in our impairment tests incldd@ur projected revenues, expenses and cash,fl@yan estimated
weighted average cost of capital, (3) assumed digaates depending on the asset and (4) a taXTiaése assumptions are consistent with
those hypothetical market participants would usecé&we are required to make estimates and assumsptihen evaluating goodwill and
indefinite-lived intangible assets for impairmethie actual amounts may differ materially from thesgémates. In addition, we consider the
amount the intangible assets' fair value exceedeid tarrying value in the most recent fair valugasurement using a quantitative approach.

Changes in certain events and circumstances cesidtiin impairment. Factors which could cause immpant include, but are not limited
to, (1) negative trends in our market capitalizati2) an increase in fuel prices, (3) declininggenger mile yields, (4) lower passenger
demand as a result of a weakened U.S. and globabety, (5) interruption to our operations due fwa@onged employee strike, terrorist
attack, or other reasons and (6) changes to theategy environment.

We assessed each of the above assumptions in atir@cent impairment analyses. The combinatioruoheost recently completed annual
results and our projected revenues, expenses ahdlows more than offset the impact of fuel priees other airline input costs. The
stabilizing operating environment for U.S. airlifess resulted in annual yields increasing alonp leiad factors, leading to improved financial
results.

Goodwill. Our goodwill balance was $9.8 billion at Decembgr@113 . We determined that there was no indinahat Goodwill was
impaired based upon our qualitative assessmerit @fl@vant factors, including applicable factogted in "Key Assumptionsabove.

Identifiable Intangible AssetQur identifiable intangible assets had a net cag@mount of $4.7 billion at December 31, 2013defimite-
lived assets are not amortized and consist prignefitoutes, slots, the Delta tradename and assketed to SkyTeam and collaborative
arrangements.

In 2013, we determined that there was no indicatian our indefinite-lived intangible assets waerpaired based upon our assessments.

These assessments included analyses and weightdig@evant factors, including the significanputs and key assumptions which impac
fair value of our indefinite-lived intangible asset
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Long-Lived Assets

Our flight equipment and other long-lived asseteeha recorded value of $21.9 billion at December2B1.3. This value is based on varic
factors, including the assets' estimated usefakliand salvage values. We record impairment lasséght equipment and other long-lived
assets used in operations when events and circuoesténdicate the assets may be impaired and tineadsd future cash flows generated by
those assets are less than their carrying amadeetsors which could cause impairment include, bett limited to, (1) a decision to
permanently remove flight equipment or other loivgd assets from operations, (2) significant charigghe estimated useful life, (3)
significant changes in projected cash flows, (4p@nent and significant declines in fleet fair \edwand (5) changes to the regulatory
environment. For long-lived assets held for sake discontinue depreciation and record impairmesgds when the carrying amount of these
assets is greater than the fair value less thetca#l.

To determine whether impairments exist for aircusd in operations, we group assets at the fjpetievel (the lowest level for which
there are identifiable cash flows) and then estnfiaiure cash flows based on projections of capapéassenger mile yield, fuel costs, labor
costs and other relevant factors. If an impairnoecurs, the impairment loss recognized is the amioyivhich the aircraft's carrying amount
exceeds its estimated fair value. We estimateadirair values using published sources, apprasadsbids received from third parties, as
available.

Income Tax Valuation Allowant

We periodically assess whether it is more likertimot that we will generate sufficient taxableoime to realize our deferred income tax
assets. We establish valuation allowances ifnibislikely we will realize our deferred income tagsets. In making this determination, we
consider all available positive and negative evigeand make certain assumptions. We consider, aotbeg things, our future projections of
sustained profitability, deferred income tax liéti#k, the overall business environment, our histdfinancial results, our industry's historice
cyclical financial results and potential currentdnture tax planning strategies. We recorded lasalbiation allowance in 2004 due to our
cumulative loss position at that time, compoundgthle negative industry-wide business trends arnldaki At December 31, 2012, we had an
$11.0 billion valuation allowance established agaour deferred income tax assets, which repredentell valuation allowance against our
deferred income tax assets.

For 2012, we recorded a pre-tax profit of $1.0¢dml] and during 2012 we moved from a three-yearuwdative loss position to a cumulative
income position for the first time since we estsidid the full valuation allowance. However givea itdustry's recent history of significant
losses, we concluded as of December 31, 2012 tiotther year of significant profitability was neededsupport a release of valuation
allowance.

During 2013, we continued our trend of sustainetitability, recording a pre-tax profit of $2.5 ln for the year. During the December
2013 quarter, after considering all relevant fagtare concluded that our deferred income tax assetmore likely than not to be realized. In
evaluating the likelihood of utilizing our net defed net assets, the significant relevant factoas we considered are: (1) our recent history of
profitability; (2) growth in the U.S. and global@mmies; (3) forecast of airline revenue trendsp@timate of future fuel prices; and (5) future
impact of taxable temporary differences. Accordingt December 31, 2013, we released almost alliofaluation allowance against our net
deferred income tax assets, primarily resultintha$8.0 billion benefit in our provision for incentaxes.

Defined Benefit Pension Pla

We sponsor defined benefit pension plans for digémployees and retirees. These plans are clogeelit entrants and frozen for future
benefit accruals. As of December 31, 2013, thenohéd benefit obligation for these plans recordedur Consolidated Balance Sheet was
$10.1 billion . During 2013 , we contributed $914lion to these plans and recorded $354 milladrexpense in salaries and related costs o
Consolidated Statement of Operations. In 2014, stienate we will contribute approximately $925 naitlito these plans, including $250
million of contributions above the minimum fundingguirements, and that our expense will be appratéty $230 million. The most critical
assumptions impacting our defined benefit penslan pbligations and expenses are the discountaratehe expected long-term rate of return
on the plan assets.
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Weighted Average Discount Rat¥e determine our weighted average discount rateuomeasurement date primarily by reference to
annualized rates earned on high quality fixed ine@mrestments and yield-to-maturity analysis spetif our estimated future benefit
payments. We used a weighted average discountoragdue the obligations of 5.01% and 4.11% at Dreéwer 31, 2013 and 201 2espectively
Our weighted average discount rate for net peripditsion benefit cost in each of the past threesyleas varied from the rate selected on our
measurement date, ranging from 4.10% to 5.70% leet\2813 and 2011.

Expected Long-Term Rate of Retubur expected long-term rate of return on plan assdtased primarily on plan-specific investment
studies using historical market return and volgtitiata. Modest excess return expectations versug public market indices are incorporated
into the return projections based on the activeiynaged structure of the investment programs andrgeords of achieving such returns
historically. We also expect to receive a premiamifivesting in less liquid private markets. Weieswour rate of return on plan asset
assumptions annually. Our annual investment pedana for one particular year does not, by itsahificantly influence our evaluation. Our
actual historical annualized three and five yete od return on plan assets for our defined bempefitsion plans was approximately 9% and
12% , respectively, as of December 31, 2013 . fliestment strategy for our defined benefit penpilan assets is to use a diversified mix of
global public and private equity portfolios, pubdind private fixed income portfolios and privatalrestate and natural resource investments t
earn a long-term investment return that meets oeeds our annualized return target. Our expectegtierm rate of return on assets for net
periodic pension benefit cost for the year endedeb®er 31, 2013 was 9%.

The impact of a 0.50% change in these assumptiosisawn in the table below:

Effect on Accrued

Effect on 2014 Pension Liability at
Change in Assumption Pension Expense December 31, 2013
0.50% decrease in weighted average discount rate = +$1.1 billion
0.50% increase in weighted average discount rate -$5 million -$1.1 billion
0.50% decrease in expected long-term rate of retarassets +$50 million —
0.50% increase in expected long-term rate of reburassets -$50 million —

Funding.Our funding obligations for qualified defined beih@lans are governed by the Employee Retiremertrire Security Act. The
Pension Protection Act of 2006 allows commercidirags to elect alternative funding rules (“Altetive Funding Rules”) for defined benefit
plans that are frozen. Delta elected the Altermaiunding Rules under which the unfunded liabflitya frozen defined benefit plan may be
amortized over a fixed 17-year period and is cal@d using an 8.85% discount rate.

While the Pension Protection Act makes our fundibhtigations for these plans more predictable, factmtside our control continue to h
an impact on the funding requirements. Estimatdatafe funding requirements are based on varissaraptions and can vary materially from
actual funding requirements. Assumptions includegag other things, the actual and projected mar&gormance of assets; statutory
requirements; and demographic data for participdrdsadditional information, see Note 11 of theééoto the Consolidated Financial
Statements.

Recent Accounting Standarc
Reporting of Amounts Reclassified Out of Accumdl@ner Comprehensive Incor

Recently issued accounting guidance revises thatiag of items reclassified out of accumulatedestbomprehensive income and is
effective for fiscal years beginning after Decembgr2012. We adopted this guidance in the Mard82fuarter and have presented amounts
reclassified out of accumulated other compreherisis@me in a note to the financial statements.rfore information about accumulated othel
comprehensive income (loss), see Note 14.
Presentation of Comprehensive Inca

In June 2011, the Financial Accounting Standardsr@dssued "Presentation of Comprehensive Incofitee"standard revises the
presentation and prominence of the items reportedhier comprehensive income and is effective speotively for fiscal years beginning af

December 15, 2011. We adopted this standard in 88dhave presented comprehensive income in owsdlidated Statements of
Comprehensive Income (Loss).
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Supplemental Information

We sometimes use information that is derived fromm@onsolidated Financial Statements, but thadtigpresented in accordance with
GAAP. Certain of this information is consideredom® “non-GAAP financial measures” under the U.S.usies and Exchange Commission
rules. The non-GAAP financial measures should besidered in addition to results prepared in acawdavith GAAP, but should not be
considered a substitute for or superior to GAARiIltss

The following table shows a reconciliation of CAS8MGAAP measure) to CASM-Ex (a non-GAAP financiaasure). We exclude the
following items from CASM to determine CASM-EXx ftire reasons described:

« Aircraft fuel and related taxe The volatility in fuel prices impacts the compaldpiof year-over-year financial performance. The
exclusion of aircraft fuel and related taxes frdms imeasure (including our regional carriers urwdgracity purchase arrangements)
allows investors to better understand and analyzaon-fuel costs and our year-over-year finang&aformance.

« Ancillary businesse. Our ancillary businesses include aircraft maiate® and staffing services we provide to thirdipsiand our
vacation wholesale operations. Because these lassisare not related to the generation of a séatwe exclude the costs related to
these businesses from this measure to provide @ meaningful comparison of the costs of our airbperations to the rest of the airli
industry.

« Profit sharing.We exclude profit sharing because this exclusitowal investors to better understand and analyzeemunring cost
performance and provides a more meaningful commaig$ our core operating costs to the airline itidus

« Restructuring and other itemBecause of the variability in restructuring andestltiems, the exclusion of this item from this meass
helpful to investors to analyze our core operatipeaformance in the periods shown.

 MTM adjustmentsMTM adjustments are based on market prices aseoénial of the reporting period for contracts sagtimfuture
periods. Such market prices are not necessarily indicativbeactual future value of the underlying hedyéhie contract settlement
period. Therefore, excluding these adjustmentsvallimvestors to better understand and analyzeasts ¢or the periods reported.

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012
CASM 14.77¢ 14.9¢
Items excluded:
Aircraft fuel and related taxes (5.0 (5.32)
Ancillary businesses (0.3 (0.39)
Profit sharing (0.2 (0.1¢)
Restructuring and other items (0.1%) (0.20
MTM adjustments 0.1 0.01
CASM-Ex 9.14¢ 8.92¢
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Glossary of Defined Terms

ASM- Available Seat Mile. A measure of capacity. AS&gial the total number of seats available for arting passengers during a
reporting period multiplied by the total numbemoies flown during that period.

CASM- (Operating) Cost per Available Seat Mile. The amtaof operating cost incurred per ASM during aortipg period.

CASM-Ex The amount of operating cost incurred per ASMraya reporting period, excluding aircraft fuel aiethted taxes, ancillary
businesses, profit sharing, restructuring and dteers and MTM adjustments for fuel hedges recoldgeeriods other than the settlement
period.

Passenger Load FacterA measure of utilized available seating capaciticulated by dividing RPMs by ASMs for a reportimegriod.

Passenger Mile Yield or YieldThe amount of passenger revenue earned per RANgdureporting period.

PRASM Passenger Revenue per ASM. The amount of passengmue earned per ASM during a reporting pefRRIASM is also
referred to as “unit revenue.”

RPM- Revenue Passenger Mile. One revenue-paying pgesstansported one mile. RPMs equal the numbesvanue passengers during
a reporting period multiplied by the number of mifeown by those passengers during that period. RBid also referred to as “traffic.”
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES A BOUT MARKET RISK

We have market risk exposure related to aircragt fuices, interest rates and foreign currency amgk rates. Market risk
is the potential negative impact of adverse chang#gese prices or rates on our Consolidated Eiah&tatements. In an
effort to manage our exposure to these risks, wer émo derivative contracts and may adjust ouivagive portfolio as
market conditions change. We expect adjustmerttsetéair value of financial instruments to resalbingoing volatility in
earnings and stockholders' equity.

The following sensitivity analysis does not consitte effects of a change in demand for air trathel,economy as a whole or actions we
may take to seek to mitigate our exposure to dqudat risk. For these and other reasons, the hatgalts of changes in these prices or rates
may differ materially from the following hypothegicresults.

Aircraft Fuel Price Risk

Changes in aircraft fuel prices materially impaat cesults of operations. We actively manage oat fuice risk through a hedging program
intended to reduce the financial impact on us fobranges in the price of jet fuel. We utilize seVeitierent contract and commodity types in
this program and frequently test its economic ¢ifeness against our financial targets. We reba&ldhe hedge portfolio from time to time
according to market conditions, which may resulbirking in gains or losses on hedge contracts poitheir settlement dates .

Our fuel hedge portfolio consists of call optiopsat options; combinations of two or more call opiand put options; swap contracts; and
futures contracts. The products underlying théglkecontracts include crude oil, diesel fuel andyel, as these commodities are highly
correlated with the price of jet fuel that we comgu Our fuel hedge contracts contain margin fundagmirements. The margin funding
requirements may cause us to post margin to cquantéss or may cause counterparties to post mawgis as market prices in the underlying
hedged items change. If fuel prices change sitarifly from the levels existing at the time we eimé fuel hedge contracts, we may be
required to post a significant amount of margin. &y adjust our hedge portfolio from time to timeésponse to margin posting
requirements.

For the year ended December 31, 2013 , aircrafiafoe related taxes, including our regional casrigmder capacity purchase agreements,
accounted for $11.5 billion , or 33% , of our tatpkerating expense. We recognized $493 millionetffuel hedge gains during the year ended
December 31, 2013, including $276 million of mémkmarket gains primarily relating to hedge consasettling in future periods.

The following table shows the projected cash impadtiel cost assuming 10% and 20% increases oedses in fuel prices. The hedge
gain (loss) reflects the change in the projectesth cttlement value of our open fuel hedge corsti@dDecember 31, 2013 based on their
contract settlement dates, assuming the same 18%Q&% changes.

Year Ending December 31, 2014

(Increase) Decrease to Fuel Hedge Margin
Unhedged (Posted to) Received
(in millions) Fuel Cost® Hedge Gain (Loss)? Net Impact from Counterparties
+20% $ (2,290 $ 17C $ (2,120 $ 22¢
+10% (1,140 15C (990) 80
- 10% 1,14C 50 1,19C 30
-20% 2,29( 10 2,30( (30

@ Projections based upon the (increase) decreasentmiged fuel cost as compared to the jet fuel prézegallon of $3.00, excluding transportation s@std taxes, at
December 31, 2013 and estimated fuel consumpti@idbillion gallons for the year ending Decembir2014.
@ Projections based on average futures prices byaxirgettiement month compared to futures pric&eaember 31, 2013

Interest Rate Risl
Our exposure to market risk from adverse changéasénest rates is primarily associated with ounglderm debt obligations. Market risk

associated with our fixed and variable rate longatdebt relates to the potential reduction in failue and negative impact to future earnings,
respectively, from an increase in interest rates.
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At December 31, 2013, we had $4.9 billion of fixate long-term debt and $6.3 billion of variabégerlong-term debt. An increase of 100
basis points in average annual interest rates woave decreased the estimated fair value of oadfiate long-term debt by $210 million at
December 31, 2013 and would have increased theahmiarest expense on our variable-rate long-weist by $44 million, exclusive of the
impact of our interest rate hedge contracts.

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk

We are subject to foreign currency exchange rakelrecause we have revenue and expense denomimébeeign currencies with our
primary exposures being the Japanese yen and Gandaliar. To manage exchange rate risk, we exdmtteour international revenue and
expense transactions in the same foreign currenttyetextent practicable. From time to time, we ralgp enter into foreign currency option
and forward contracts. At December 31, 2013 , wkdpen foreign currency forward contracts totab®257 million asset position. We
estimate that a 10% depreciation or appreciatidhérprice of the Japanese yen and Canadian doltefation to the U.S. dollar would change
the projected cash settlement value of our opegéiedntracts by a $80 million gain or $100 millioss, respectively, for the year ending
December 31, 2014.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of DAliraLines, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balaheets of Delta Air Lines, Inc. (the CompanypBBecember 31, 2013 and 2012
and the related consolidated statements of opaest@mmprehensive income (loss), stockholderste@déficit), and cash flows for each of
three years in the period ended December 31, 2003 ese financial statements are the responsibilitthe Company's management.
responsibility is to express an opinion on thesaritial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstals of the Public Company Accounting OversighauBlo(United States). Thc
standards require that we plan and perform thet daodibtain reasonable assurance about whethdimntecial statements are free of mate
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on aldasis, evidence supporting the amounts and digidg in the financial statements. An @
also includes assessing the accounting princigded and significant estimates made by managenmemtelhas evaluating the overall finan
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referredibove present fairly, in all material respedtg, tonsolidated financial position of D¢
Air Lines, Inc. at December 31, 2013 and 2032d the consolidated results of its operatiomsincash flows for each of the three years ii
period ended December 31, 2013, in conformity WwitS. generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasdz the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@nited States), Delta Air Line
Inc.'s internal control over financial reporting@sDecember 31, 2013 , based on criteria estaddish Internal Controlntegrated Framewo
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatajrtbe Treadway Commission (1992 framework) andreport dated=ebruary 21, 201
expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Atlanta, Georgia /sl Ernst & Young LLP
February 21, 2014
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DELTA AIR LINES, INC.
Consolidated Balance Sheets

December 31,

(in millions, except share data) 2013 2012
ASSETS
Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 2,842 $ 2,41¢
Short-term investments 95¢ 95¢&
Restricted cash, cash equivalents and short-teresiments 122 37&
Accounts receivable, net of an allowance for uremible accounts of $23 and $36
at December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively 1,60¢ 1,692
Fuel inventory 70€ 61¢
Expendable parts and supplies inventories, neh @flawance for obsolescence of $118 and $127
at December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively 357 404
Deferred income taxes, net 1,73¢€ 46%
Prepaid expenses and other 1,31¢ 1,34«
Total current assets 9,651 8,272

Property and Equipment, Net:
Property and equipment, net of accumulated degieciand amortization of $7,792 and $6,656

at December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively 21,85¢ 20,71
Other Assets:
Goodwill 9,79¢ 9,79¢
Identifiable intangibles, net of accumulated anzation of $738 and $670
at December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively 4,65¢ 4,67¢
Deferred income taxes, net 4,99 —
Other noncurrent assets 1,30z 1,092
Total other assets 20,74° 15,56¢
Total assets $ 52,25 $ 44,55(

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT)
Current Liabilities:

Current maturities of long-term debt and capitabkks $ 1547 % 1,627
Air traffic liability 4,127 3,69¢
Accounts payable 2,30C 2,29:
Accrued salaries and related benefits 1,92¢ 1,68(
Frequent flyer deferred revenue 1,861 1,80¢
Taxes payable 673 58E
Fuel card obligation 60z 45E
Other accrued liabilities 1,121 1,12¢

Total current liabilities 14,15: 13,27(

Noncurrent Liabilities:

Long-term debt and capital leases 9,79t 11,08:
Pension, postretirement and related benefits 12,39: 16,00¢
Frequent flyer deferred revenue 2,55¢ 2,62¢
Deferred income taxes, net — 2,047
Other noncurrent liabilities 1,711 1,64¢

Total noncurrent liabilities 26,457 33,41

Commitments and Contingencies

Stockholders' Equity (Deficit):

Common stock at $0.0001 par value; 1,500,000,086eshauthorized, 869,484,981 and 867,866,505
shares issued at December 31, 2013 and 2012, teshec — —

Additional paid-in capital 13,98: 14,06¢
Retained earnings (accumulated deficit) 3,04¢ (7,389
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (5,130 (8,577)

Treasury stock, at cost, 18,041,848 and 16,4645A@Bes at December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively (25¥) (239




Total stockholders' equity (deficit) 11,64: (2,13))

Total liabilities and stockholders' equity (defjcit $ 52,25. § 44,55(

The accompanying notes are an integral part obtlEmsolidated Financial Statements.
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DELTA AIR LINES, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Operations

Year Ended December 31,

(in millions, except per share data) 2013 2012 2011
Operating Revenue:
Passenger:
Mainline $ 26,53¢ $ 25,17: $ 23,84:
Regional carriers 6,40¢ 6,581 6,41
Total passenger revenue 32,94: 31,75¢ 30,257
Cargo 937 99C 1,027
Other 3,89 3,92¢ 3,831
Total operating revenue 37,77 36,67( 35,11¢

Operating Expense:

Aircraft fuel and related taxes 9,397 10,15¢( 9,73(
Salaries and related costs 7,72( 7,26¢€ 6,894
Regional carrier expense 5,66¢ 5,647 5,47(
Aircraft maintenance materials and outside repairs 1,852 1,95¢ 1,76
Contracted services 1,66¢ 1,56¢ 1,642
Depreciation and amortization 1,65¢ 1,56t 1,52
Passenger commissions and other selling expenses 1,60: 1,59( 1,682
Landing fees and other rents 1,41( 1,33¢ 1,281
Passenger service 762 732 721
Profit sharing 50€ 372 264
Aircraft rent 20¢ 272 29¢
Restructuring and other items 40z 452 242
Other 1,52( 1,592 1,62¢
Total operating expense 34,37: 34,49¢ 33,14(
Operating Income 3,40( 2,17t 1,97t

Other Expense:

Interest expense, net (69¢) (812 (903
Amortization of debt discount, net (1549 (2993 (293
Loss on extinguishment of debt — (118 (68)
Miscellaneous, net (21) 27 (44)
Total other expense, net (879 (1,150 (1,206
Income Before Income Taxes 2,521 1,02t 76¢<
Income Tax Benefit (Provision) 8,01: (16) 85
Net Income $ 10,54( $ 1,00¢ $ 854
Basic Earnings Per Share $ 12.41 $ 1.2¢ $ 1.0z
Diluted Earnings Per Share $ 12.2¢ $ 1.1¢ $ 1.01
Cash Dividends Declared Per Share $ 0.12 $ — $ =

The accompanying notes are an integral part obtlEmsolidated Financial Statements.
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DELTA AIR LINES, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (ks)

Year Ended December 31,

(in millions) 2013 2012 2011
Net Income $ 10,54( $ 1,00¢ $ 854
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Net gain (loss) on derivatives 482 211 (167)
Net change in pension and other benefit liabilities 2,96t (2,029 (3,027
Total Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) 3,443 (1,817 (3,18¢)
Comprehensive Income (Loss) $ 1398. $ (807 $ (2,339

@ Pension and other benefit liabilities were sigmifity impacted by discount rates, see Not
The accompanying notes are an integral part oktlEmsolidated Financial Statements.

53




DELTA AIR LINES, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Year Ended December 31,

(in millions) 2013 2012 2011

Cash Flows From Operating Activities:

Net income $ 1054 $ 1,00¢ $ 854

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net caskigea by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 1,65¢ 1,56& 1,52¢
Amortization of debt discount, net 154 19¢ 19¢
Fuel hedge derivative contracts (119 (209 13t
Deferred income taxes (7,999 17 2
Pension, postretirement and postemployment exgess¢han payments (6249 (20¢) (30¢)
Restructuring and other items 28t 184 142
SkyMiles used pursuant to advance purchase underidam Express Agreements (339 (339 (49

Changes in certain assets and liabilities:
Receivables 90 (11¢) (76)
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 231 (51) 153
Fuel inventory (87) (453) (8)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 28 (139 (8)
Air traffic liability 42¢€ 21€ 174
Frequent flyer deferred revenue (123) (115) 82
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 21Z 89¢ 30z
Other assets and liabilities (36) (66) (379

Other, net 18t 76 99

Net cash provided by operating activities 4,50¢ 2,47¢ 2,83¢

Cash Flows From Investing Activities:

Property and equipment additions:

Flight equipment, including advance payments (2,119 (1,19¢) (907)
Ground property and equipment, including technology (457) (772 (347)
Purchase of Virgin Atlantic shares (360 — —
Purchase of short-term investments (959 (95¢) (1,079
Redemption of short-term investments 1,115 1,01¢ 844
Other, net 14 (55) (20
Net cash used in investing activities (2,756 (1,962 (1,499
Cash Flows From Financing Activities:
Payments on long-term debt and capital lease digiga (1,467 (2,869 (4,172
Cash dividends (202 — —
Proceeds from long-term obligations 26€& 1,96¢ 2,39
Repurchase of common stock (250) — —
Fuel card obligation 147 137 31¢
Other, net 78 7 (112
Net cash used in financing activities (1,320 (755 (1,57
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalent 42¢ (241) (23%)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 2,41¢ 2,657 2,892
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 284¢ $ 241¢ $ 2,657
Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Paid for Interest $ 69 $ 834 % 92t
Non-Cash Transactions:
Flight equipment under capital leases $ 67 $ 28 % 117
Built-to-suit leased facilities 114 214 12¢€

American Express advance purchase of restricte iy 28¢ — —



The accompanying notes are an integral part obt@emsolidated Financial Statements.
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DELTA AIR LINES, INC.

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity (Oeit)

Retained Accumulated
Common Stock Additional Earnings Other Treasury Stock
Paid-In (Accumulated Comprehensive

(in millions, except per share data) Shares Amount Capital Deficit) Loss Shares Amount Total
Balance at January 1, 2011 84t $ — $ 13,92¢ $ (9,252 $ (3,57¢) 13§ (199 $ 897
Net income — — — 854 — — — 854
Other comprehensive loss — — — — (3,189 — — (3,189
Shares of common stock issued to settle bankruptcy

claims under Plans of Reorganization 10 — — — — — — —
Shares of common stock issued and compensation

expense associated with equity awards (Treasurgs

withheld for payment of taxes, $9.63per share) 3 — 72 — — 3 (32 40
Stock options exercised — — 1 — — — — 1
Balance at December 31, 2011 861 — 13,99¢ (8,399 (6,76€) 16 (23) (1,399
Net income — — — 1,00¢ — — — 1,00¢
Other comprehensive loss — — — — (1,817 — — (1,81))
Shares of common stock issued and compensation

expense associated with equity awards (Treasurgsha

withheld for payment of taxes, $10.91per share) 5 — 54 — — — 3) 51
Stock options exercised 2 — 1€ — — — — 16
Balance at December 31, 2012 86¢ — 14,06¢ (7,389 (8,577 16 (234 (2,13))
Net income — — — 10,54( — — —  10,54(
Dividends declared — — — (102) — — — (102
Other comprehensive income — — — — 3,447 — — 3,447
Shares of common stock issued and compensation

expense associated with equity awards and other

(Treasury shares withheld for payment of taxes, %14

@ per share) 5 — 9C — — 2 (24) 66
Stock options exercised 6 — 73 — — — — 73
Stock purchased and retired (20 — (250 — — — — (250
Balance at December 31, 2013 86¢ $ — $ 1398 $ 3,04¢ $ (5,130 18 $ (25¢) $ 11,64

@ Weighted average price per st
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTE 1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of Presentatiol

Delta Air Lines, Inc., a Delaware corporation, go®s scheduled air transportation for passengetsargo throughout the United States
(“U.S.”) and around the world. Our Consolidateddfinial Statements include the accounts of Deltd ies, Inc. and our wholly-owned
subsidiaries and have been prepared in accordaitit@aecounting principles generally accepted inwh®. (‘GAAP”). We do not consolidate
the financial statements of any company in whichhaee an ownership interest of 50% or less. Waat¢he primary beneficiary of, nor do
we have a controlling financial interest in, anyiahle interest entity. Accordingly, we have nohsolidated any variable interest entity. We
reclassified certain prior period amounts, nonw/lith were material, to conform to the current penpresentation.

We have marketing alliances with other airlinegmdance our access to domestic and internationdiettisa These arrangements may
include codesharing, reciprocal frequent flyer pamg benefits, shared or reciprocal access to pgssésunges, joint promotions, common use
of airport gates and ticket counters, ticket officelocation and other marketing agreements. We heweived antitrust immunity for certain
marketing arrangements, which enables us to offaoie integrated route network and develop commatessmarketing and discount
programs for customers. Some of our marketing gerarents provide for the sharing of revenues andresgs. Revenues and expenses
associated with collaborative arrangements areepted on a gross basis in the applicable line immsur Consolidated Statements of
Operations.

As described in Note 18 , we became the sole oaihEndeavor Air, Inc. ("Endeavor"”), formerly Pinf@a\irlines, Inc., on May 1, 2013,
pursuant to a confirmed plan of reorganizatiorhim bankruptcy cases of Endeavor and its affilid®e®r to this acquisition, Endeavor serve
a regional carrier under a capacity purchase agreewhere we purchased all of Endeavor's seat ioseand marketed it under the Delta
tradename. Accordingly, Endeavor's passenger reveas included in regional carriers passenger tev@nDelta's Consolidated Statements
of Operations. All of the expenses Delta incurradar this arrangement were included in contragieraarrangements expense. Subsequent t
this acquisition, we have maintained this presémand have re-titled contract carrier arrangesierpense as regional carrier expense to
reflect the inclusion of a wholly-owned regionafrdar. This presentation aligns with the regiorelenue presentation on the Consolidated
Statements of Operations.

Use of Estimates

We are required to make estimates and assumptibes preparing our Consolidated Financial Statemardscordance with GAAP. The
estimates and assumptions affect the amounts egpiorour Consolidated Financial Statements anéttempanying notes. Actual results
could differ materially from those estimates.
Recent Accounting Standarc
Reporting of Amounts Reclassified Out of Accumdl@ner Comprehensive Incor

Recently issued accounting guidance revises thatiag of items reclassified out of accumulatedestbomprehensive income and is
effective for fiscal years beginning after Decembgr2012. We adopted this guidance in the Mard82fuarter and have presented amounts
reclassified out of accumulated other compreherisis@me in a note to the financial statements.rRore information about accumulated othel
comprehensive income (loss), see Note 14.
Presentation of Comprehensive Inca

In June 2011, the Financial Accounting Standardsr@¢'FASB") issued "Presentation of Comprehenbieeme." The standard revises
presentation and prominence of the items reportedhier comprehensive income and is effective setotively for fiscal years beginning ai
December 15, 2011. We adopted this standard in 26@2ave presented comprehensive income in ousdlidated Statements of
Comprehensive Income (Loss).

Cash and Cash Equivalents and Short-Term Investnmgent

Short-term, highly liquid investments with matwgiof three months or less when purchased arefiddsas cash and cash equivalents.
Investments with maturities of greater than thremths, but not in excess of one year, when purchaseclassified as short-term investments
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Accounts Receivabl

Accounts receivable primarily consist of amounte thom credit card companies from the sale of pagseairline tickets, customers of our
aircraft maintenance and cargo transportation sesvand other companies for the purchase of mileaghts under our SkyMiles Program. '
provide an allowance for uncollectible accountsa¢dqo the estimated losses expected to be inclyaedd on historical chargebacks, wofés,
bankruptcies and other specific analyses. Bad elginse was not material in any period presented.

Inventories

Spare Partsinventories of expendable parts related to fligiuipment, which cannot be economically repairedonelitioned or reused
after removal from the aircraft, are carried at mgwaverage cost and charged to operations as i@asLANn allowance for obsolescence is
provided over the remaining useful life of the tethfleet for spare parts expected to be availabtke date aircraft are retired from service.
also provide allowances for parts identified asessoor obsolete to reduce the carrying costs titer of cost or net realizable value. These
parts are assumed to have an estimated residued gab% of the original cost.

Refinery Refined product, feedstock and blendstock inveesorll of which are finished goods, are carriethatower of cost or market.
Cost is determined using the first-in, first-outthm. Costs include the raw material consumed gitext manufacturing costs (such as labor,
utilities and supplies) as incurred and an applegbrtion of manufacturing overhead. Ending ineentcosts in excess of market value are
written down to net recoverable values and chatgexgberating expense.

Accounting for Refinery Related Buy/Sell Agreemel

To the extent that we receive jet fuel for nonfjetl products (as defined in Note) 2xchanged under buy/sell agreements, we accot
these transactions as non-monetary exchanges. Werbeorded these non-monetary exchanges at tigincaamount of the nojet fuel
products transferred within aircraft fuel and rethtaxes on the Consolidated Statements of Opesgatio

Derivatives

Changes in aircraft fuel prices, interest ratesfaneign currency exchange rates impact our resdiltgperations. In an effort to manage our
exposure to these risks, we enter into derivatorgracts and may adjust our derivative portfolioresket conditions change. We recognize
derivative contracts at fair value on our ConsdédaBalance Sheets.

Not Designated as Accounting Heddgesring 2011, we stopped designating substantidlligfaour new fuel derivative contracts as
accounting hedges and discontinued hedge accouitirfigel derivative contracts that had previouséen designated as accounting hedgss.
a result, we record changes in the fair value offoel hedges in aircraft fuel and related taxe®rRo this change in accounting designation,
gains or losses on these contracts were deferracciiimulated other comprehensive income (loss) CAuntil contract settlement. At
contract settlement, the gains or losses wererngassified to aircraft fuel and related taxesoABecember 31, 2013, there are no fuel
derivative contracts designated as accounting teedge

Designated as Cash Flow HedgEsr derivative contracts designated as cash fladgée (interest rate contracts and foreign currency
exchange rates), the effective portion of the gailoss on the derivative is reported as a compoofeAOCI and reclassified into earnings in
the same period in which the hedged transacti@ttsffearnings. The effective portion of the deieatepresents the change in fair value o
hedge that offsets the change in fair value ohtiiged item. To the extent the change in the iresof the hedge does not perfectly offset th
change in the fair value of the hedged item, tledféctive portion of the hedge is immediately retiagd in other (expense) income.

Designated as Fair Value Hedgésr derivative contracts designated as fair vakgigles (interest rate contracts), the gain or logb®
derivative and the offsetting loss or gain on tedde item attributable to the hedged risk are naieed in current earnings. We include the ¢
or loss on the hedged item in the same accoumteasftsetting loss or gain on the related derivatientract, resulting in no impact to our
Consolidated Statements of Operations.
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The following table summarizes the risk each typdesivative contract is hedging and the classifmaof related gains and losses on our
Consolidated Statements of Operations:

Derivative Type Hedged Risk Classification of Gains and Losses
Fuel hedge contracts Increases in jet fuel prices Aircraft fuel and related taxes
Interest rate contracts Increases in interess rate Interest expense, net

Foreign currency exchange contracts  Fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates  Passenger revenue

The following table summarizes the accounting trestt of our derivative contracts:

Impact of Unrealized Gains and Losses

Accounting Designation Effective Portion Ineffective Portion
Not designated as hedges Change in fair value of hedge is recorded in egsin
Designated as cash flow hedges Market adjustnaeatsecorded in AOCI Excess, if any, over effecfportion of
hedge is recorded in other expense
Designated as fair value hedges Market adjustments are recorded in lon Excess, if any, over effective portion of
term debt and capital leases hedge is recorded in other expense

We perform, at least quarterly, an assessmenecéffiectiveness of our derivative contracts desiphas hedges, including assessing the
possibility of counterparty default. If we determithat a derivative is no longer expected to balhigffective, we discontinue hedge
accounting prospectively and recognize subsequeartges in the fair value of the hedge in earniiégsbelieve our derivative contracts that
continue to be designated as hedges, consistimyesést rate and foreign currency exchange costragll continue to be highly effective in
offsetting changes in cash flow attributable tollkeeged risk.

Hedge Marginln accordance with our fuel, interest rate andifpreurrency hedge contracts, we may require copatges to fund the
margin associated with our gain position and/omterparties may require us to fund the margin aassat with our loss position on these
contracts. The amount of the margin, if any, isquically adjusted based on the fair value of tedde contracts. The margin requirements are
intended to mitigate a party's exposure to theafsbontracting party default. We do not offset giarfunded to counterparties or margin
funded to us by counterparties against fair valuneunts recorded for our hedge contracts.

The hedge margin we receive from counterpartiesdsrded in cash and cash equivalents or restrogsk, cash equivalents and short-tern
investments, with the offsetting obligation in acnts payable. The hedge margin we provide to copattes is recorded in accounts
receivable. All cash flows associated with purchgsind settling hedge contracts are classifiegpasating cash flows.

Passenger Ticket

We record sales of passenger tickets in air tréifflulity. Passenger revenue is recognized whempregide transportation or when the tic
expires unused, reducing the related air traféibility. We periodically evaluate the estimatedtgaffic liability and record any adjustments in
our Consolidated Statements of Operations. Thesistatents relate primarily to refunds, exchangesdactions with other airlines and other
items for which final settlement occurs in perisi®sequent to the sale of the related tickets auata other than the original sales price.

Passenger Taxes and Fe

We are required to charge certain taxes and feesiopassenger tickets, including U.S. federaldpantation taxes, federal security char
airport passenger facility charges and foreigrvatiénd departure taxes. These taxes and feessgesments on the customer for which we a
as a collection agent. Because we are not entitlegtain these taxes and fees, we do not includie amounts in passenger revenue. We re
a liability when the amounts are collected and cedhe liability when payments are made to theiegple government agency or operating
carrier.
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Frequent Flyer Program

The SkyMiles Program offers incentives to traveDmita. This program allows customers to earn rgieeredits by flying on Delta,
regional air carriers with which we have contreatrier agreements and airlines that participateénSkyMiles Program, as well as through
participating companies such as credit card congsahiotels and car rental agencies. We sell milegagbts to non-airline businesses,
customers and other airlines.

The SkyMiles Program includes two types of trarisastthat are considered revenue arrangementswuittiple deliverables. As discussed
below, these are (1) passenger ticket sales eammiiegge credits and (2) the sale of mileage csddiparticipating companies with which we
have marketing agreements. Mileage credits ar@parat unit of accounting as they can be redeemeddiomers in future periods for air
travel on Delta and participating airlines, membgrsn our Sky Club and other program awards.

Passenger Ticket Sales Earning Mileage Creélitssenger ticket sales earning mileage credits wnneSkyMiles Program provide
customers with two deliverables: (1) mileage cieddrned and (2) air transportation. We value datitierable on a standalone basis. Our
estimate of the selling price of a mileage cresihdsed on an analysis of our sales of mileagétstedother airlines and customers, which is re
evaluated at least annually. We use establishkettjrices to determine the estimated selling poicar transportation. We allocate the total
amount collected from passenger ticket sales betweedeliverables based on their relative seltiriges.

We defer revenue for the mileage credits relatgqubgsenger ticket sales and recognize it as passengnue when miles are redeemed
services are provided. We record the air transporntgortion of the passenger ticket sales inraifit liability and recognize these amounts in
passenger revenue when we provide transportatiarmen the ticket expires unused.

Sale of Mileage Credit€€ustomers may earn mileage credits through pastiicig companies such as credit card companiesistantd car
rental agencies with which we have marketing agesgmto sell mileage credits. Our contracts torsdtage credits under these marketing
agreements have multiple deliverables, as defirdaib

Our most significant contract to sell mileage ctedélates to our co-brand credit card relationshith American Express. Our agreements
with American Express provide for joint marketimgant certain benefits to Delta-American Expres®r@nded credit card holders
("Cardholders") and American Express Membership &d& Program participants and allow American Exgtesnarket using our customer
database. Cardholders earn mileage credits fornggkirchases using dwanded cards, may check their first bag for feze,granted access
Delta SkyClub lounges and receive other benefitdevttaveling on Delta. These benefits that we pevn the form of separate products and
services under the SkyMiles agreements are reféorad "deliverables.” Additionally, participantsthe American Express Membership
Rewards program may exchange their points for méeaedits under the SkyMiles Program. As a resudtsell mileage credits at agreed u
rates to American Express for provision to thesgtomers under the co-brand credit card prograntteembership Rewards program.

In September 2013, we and American Express modifigdskyMiles agreements. This modification reqiteat we use a different
accounting standard for recording SkyMiles soldoo the modifications, we allocated considenatize received from selling miles to
American Express among two primary deliverablesditmredeemable for future travel and marketingvdehbles. We deferred revenue relatec
to the portion of mileage credits redeemable fourkitravel based on the rate at which we sellag#ecredits to other airlines. We calculated
the value of the marketing component based onesidwal method and recognize it as other revenuelated marketing services are provided

The September 2013 modifications introduced nevwvelelbles and modified existing deliverables. Bsesailnese modifications were
material to the SkyMiles agreements, we are redumause a different accounting standard that atesthe consideration received from sel
miles to all deliverables based on their relatiteandalone sales price. Accordingly, we determingdbest estimate of selling prices by
considering discounted cash flows analysis usintjiphelinputs and assumptions, including: (1) tkpexted number of miles awarded and
number of miles redeemed, (2) the rate at whiclsellemileage credits to other airlines, (3) puldiditates on our website for baggage fees,
access to Delta SkyClub lounges and other beneliitle traveling on Delta and (4) brand value. THea of this change in accounting
standard lowered the deferral rate we use to remiles sold under the agreements, which increasesue we will record in future periods.
The revenue impact of the SkyMiles agreement meatifins was insignificant for 2013 and is expedtenhcrease 2014 revenue by
approximately $100 million . Additionally, upon dfgation of this accounting standard, we were regplito adjust the recorded value of miles
currently deferred in our Frequent Flyer Liabilibat originated through the American Express pnograAccordingly, we adjusted the liability
in the September 2013 quarter by less than $1@omill

59




BreakageFor mileage credits that we estimate are not likelge redeemed (“breakage”), we recognize thecitsa value proportionally
during the period in which the remaining mileagediis are expected to be redeemed. Managemenstagistical models to estimate breakage
based on historical redemption patterns. A changssumptions as to the period over which mileagdits are expected to be redeemed, the
actual redemption activity for mileage creditslvg £stimated fair value of mileage credits expetudit redeemed could have a material
impact on our revenue in the year in which the gleamccurs and in future years.

Regional Carriers Revenu

During the year ended December 31, 2013 , we hatfat carrier agreements with third party regiaraatiers ("Contract Carriers”), in
addition to our whollyswned subsidiary, Endeavor. In May 2013, Endeafasm(erly Pinnacle Airlines, Inc.) emerged from beuntcy and we
became its sole owner pursuant to a confirmed @laaorganization. Our wholly-owned subsidiary, Gomlinc. ("Comair") ceased operations
in September 2012 (see Note 16).

Our Contract Carrier agreements are structuredttaer €1) capacity purchase agreements where wehpae all or a portion of the Contract
Carrier's capacity and are responsible for sefliggseat inventory we purchase or (2) revenue fiooragreements, which are based on a fixe«
dollar or percentage division of revenues for tisksold to passengers traveling on connectingtfligieraries. We record revenue related to al
of our Contract Carrier agreements as regionalararpassenger revenue. We record expenses ridabed Contract Carrier agreements, as
regional carrier expense.

Cargo Revenue

Cargo revenue is recognized when we provide thesprartation.
Other Revenue

Other revenue is primarily comprised of (1) the keting component of the sale of mileage creditsudised above, (2) baggage fee
revenue, (3) other miscellaneous service revemeijding ticket change fees and (4) revenue froaillary businesses, such as the aircraft
maintenance and repair and staffing services weigedo third parties.

Long-Lived Assets

The following table shows our property and equiptnen

December 31,

(in millions, except for estimated useful life) Estimated Useful Life 2013 2012

Flight equipment 21-30 years $ 23370 ¢ 21,48
Ground property and equipment 3-40 years 4,59¢ 4,25¢
Flight and ground equipment under capital leases Shorter of lease term or estimated useful life 1,29¢ 1,381
Advance payments for equipment 381 258
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization (7,792 (6,656
Total property and equipment, net $ 21,85 $ 20,71

®Includes accumulated amortization for flight andwgrd equipment under capital leases in the amdu$@%¥ million and $653 million at December 31, 2Gind 2012 ,
respectively.

We record property and equipment at cost and digteeor amortize these assets on a straight-lises b@ their estimated residual values
over their estimated useful lives. The estimatexfuldife for leasehold improvements is the shodklease term or estimated useful life.
Depreciation expense for each of the years endedrbiger 31, 2013 , 2012 and 2011 was approximafelyllion . Residual values for
owned aircraft, engines, spare parts and simulatergenerally 5% to 10% of cost.

We capitalize certain internal and external castsiired to develop and implement software, and timeothose costs over an estimated
useful life of three to seven years. For the yeaded December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 , we red¢@110 million , $76 million and $64
million , respectively, for amortization of capitadd software. The net book value of these assttket $383 million and $344 million at
December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively.
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We record impairment losses on flight equipment atier long-lived assets used in operations whentsvand circumstances indicate the
assets may be impaired and the estimated fututefleags generated by those assets are less tharténeying amounts. Factors which could
cause impairment include, but are not limited 19, decision to permanently remove flight equiptr@rother long-lived assets from
operations, (2) significant changes in the estichateful life, (3) significant changes in projectash flows, (4) permanent and significant
declines in fleet fair values and (5) changes #ortfgulatory environment. For long-lived assets lied sale, we discontinue depreciation and
record impairment losses when the carrying amotitiiese assets is greater than the fair valuelhessost to sell.

To determine whether impairments exist for aircusd in operations, we group assets at the fjpetievel (the lowest level for which
there are identifiable cash flows) and then estnfiaiure cash flows based on projections of capapédssenger mile yield, fuel costs, labor
costs and other relevant factors. If an impairnoecurs, the impairment loss recognized is the amloyivhich the aircraft's carrying amount
exceeds its estimated fair value. We estimateadirair values using published sources, appramadsbids received from third parties, as
available.

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

We apply a fair value-based impairment test toctireying value of goodwill and indefinite-lived artgible assets on an annual basis (as o
October 1) and, if certain events or circumstanoedgate that an impairment loss may have beerriadyon an interim basis. In 2012, the
FASB issued "Testing Indefinite-Lived Intangibles&s$s for Impairment.” The standard gives compathie®ption to perform a qualitative
assessment to determine whether it is more likedy thot that an indefinite-lived intangible assdhipaired rather than calculating the fair
value of the indefinite-lived intangible assetisleffective prospectively for annual and intermpairment tests performed for fiscal years
beginning after September 15, 2012, with early #dagpermitted. We adopted this standard and hapéeal the provisions to our annual
indefinite-lived intangible asset impairment tastboth the December 2013 and 2012 quarters. Taptih of this standard did not have a
material impact on our Consolidated Financial Statets. In September 2011, the FASB issued "Te&madwill for Impairment.” The
standard revises the way in which entities testgglbfor impairment. We adopted this standard apglied its provisions to our annual
goodwill impairment tests in each of the Decemli3 2012 and 2011 quarters.

We value goodwill and identified intangible asg@isarily using market capitalization and incom@gach valuation techniques. These
measurements include the following significant wsersable inputs: (1) our projected revenues, exggeand cash flows, (2) an estimated
weighted average cost of capital, (3) assumed digaates depending on the asset and (4) a taXTia¢ése assumptions are consistent with
those hypothetical market participants would usecé&we are required to make estimates and assumsptihen evaluating goodwill and
indefinite-lived intangible assets for impairmethie actual amounts may differ materially from theseémates.

Changes in certain events and circumstances cesidtiin impairment. Factors which could cause immpant include, but are not limited
to, (1) negative trends in our market capitalizati2) an increase in fuel prices, (3) declininggenger mile yields, (4) lower passenger
demand as a result of a weakened U.S. and globabety, (5) interruption to our operations due fwa@onged employee strike, terrorist
attack, or other reasons and (6) changes to theategy environment.

Goodwill. Our goodwill balance, which is related to the aglsegment, was $9.8 billion at December 31, 20d2valuating goodwill for
impairment, we estimate the fair value of our réipgrunit by considering market capitalization asiber factors if it is more likely than not
that the fair value of our reporting unit is lekart its carrying value. If the reporting unit's faalue exceeds its carrying value, no further
testing is required. If, however, the reportingtsmarrying value exceeds its fair value, we ttetermine the amount of the impairment che
if any. We recognize an impairment charge if theygag value of the reporting unit's goodwill exdsdts estimated fair value.

Identifiable Intangible AssetQur identifiable intangible assets, which are edab the airline segment, had a net carrying amoilu®4.7
billion at December 31, 2013 . Indefinite-lived @issare not amortized and consist of routes, dlitsDelta tradename and assets related to
SkyTeam. Definite-lived intangible assets consishaprily of marketing agreements and are amortize@ straight-line basis or under the
undiscounted cash flows method over the estimatedamic life of the respective agreements. Costisrimed to renew or extend the term of ar
intangible asset are expensed as incurred.
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We assess our indefinite-lived assets under atgtiaé or quantitative approach. We analyze mdfidators to determine if events and
circumstances have affected the fair value of tidefinite-lived intangible assets. If we determinat it is more likely than not that the asset
value may be impaired, we use the quantitative g to assess the asset's fair value and the awioine impairment. We perform the
guantitative impairment test for indefinite-livastangible assets by comparing the asset's faieualits carrying value. Fair value is estimated
based on (1) recent market transactions, wherdad@j (2) a combination of limited market trangas and the lease savings method for
certain airport slots (which reflects potentialdeaavings from owning the slots rather than lggtsiam from another airline at market rates),
(3) the royalty method for the Delta tradename @lassumes hypothetical royalties generated frangusur tradename) or (4) projected
discounted future cash flows. We recognize an inpamt charge if the asset's carrying value exceg@stimated fair value.

Income Taxes

We account for deferred income taxes under thditiaimethod. We recognize deferred tax assetsliabdities based on the tax effects of
temporary differences between the financial stateérard tax bases of assets and liabilities, asumeddy current enacted tax rates. Deferred
tax assets and liabilities are recorded net agotiand noncurrent deferred income taxes. A vaoatllowance is recorded to reduce deferred
tax assets when necessary. For additional infoamabout our income taxes, see Note 12 .

Manufacturers' Credits

We periodically receive credits in connection witlle acquisition of aircraft and engines. Theseitsede deferred until the aircraft and
engines are delivered, and then applied on a pado@sis as a reduction to the cost of the relededbment.

Maintenance Cost:

We record maintenance costs to aircraft maintenaraterials and outside repairs. Maintenance costexpensed as incurred, except for
costs incurred under power-by-the-hour contracksclvare expensed based on actual hours flown. Pbyvthe-hour contracts transfer certain
risk to third party service providers and fix thrm@unt we pay per flight hour to the service provideexchange for maintenance and repairs
under a predefined maintenance program. Modifioatthat enhance the operating performance or extendseful lives of airframes or
engines are capitalized and amortized over theirenggestimated useful life of the asset or theakrimg lease term, whichever is shorter.

Advertising Cost:

We expense advertising costs as other selling esgzein the year incurred. Advertising expense wpasoximately $200 million for the
years endeDecember 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 , respectively.

Commissions

Passenger sales commissions are recognized intiogezapense when the related revenue is recognized
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NOTE 2 . OIL REFINERY

Fuel expense is our single largest expense. Rriout acquisition of an oil refinery, global deméndjet fuel and related products had
increased while jet fuel refining capacity had éased in the U.S. (particularly in the Northeasulting in increases in the refining margin
reflected in the prices we paid for jet fuel. Im82012 we purchased an oil refinery as part of our sgnato mitigate the increasing cost of
refining margin we pay. Our wholly-owned subsidégtiMonroe Energy, LLC and MIPC, LLC (collectivel¥onroe”), acquired the Trainer
refinery and related assets located near Philaielpennsylvania from Phillips 66, which had shoivd operations at the refinery. Monroe
invested $180 million to acquire the refinery. Moareceived a $30 million grant from the Commonteaf Pennsylvania. The acquisition
includes pipelines and terminal assets that all@weéfinery to supply jet fuel to our airline optwas throughout the Northeastern U.S.,
including our New York hubs at LaGuardia and JFK.

We accounted for the refinery acquisition as aress combination. The refinery, pipelines and teainassets acquired were recorded at
$180 million in property and equipment, net basedheir respective fair values on the closing ddtie transaction.

Refinery Operations and Strategic Agreeme

BP is the primary supplier of crude oil used by itsfnery under a three year agreement. The refim@roduction consists of jet fuel, as
well as gasoline, diesel and other refined prod(fcisn-jet fuel products"). Under a multi-year agmeent, we are exchanging a significant
portion of the non-jet fuel products with Phillifé for jet fuel to be used in our airline operasiolm addition, we are selling most of the
remaining production of non-jet fuel products to BRler a buy/sell agreement, effectively exchantfioge non-jet fuel products for jet fuel.
Substantially all of the refinery's production a@fimjet fuel products is included in these agreemertte gross fair value of the products
exchanged under these agreements during years Bredediber 31, 2013 and 2012 was $5.4 billion andl Billion , respectively.

Segment Reportin

Operating segments are defined as componentsaritarprise about which separate financial inforarats available that is evaluated
regularly by the chief operating decision makerdecision making group, in deciding how to allocagources to our segments and in
assessing performance. Our chief operating deciiker is considered to be our executive leadetsiaim. Our executive leadership team
regularly reviews discrete information for our teperating segments, which are determined by théugte and services provided: our airline
segment and our refinery segment.

Our airline segment provides scheduled air trartafion for passengers and cargo throughout theedrgtates and around the world and
other ancillary airline services, including mairdene and repair services for third parties. Ouneg§ segment provides jet fuel to the airline
segment from its own production and through jet &mained through the agreements with Phillipsa6é BP. The costs included in the
refinery segment are primarily for the benefittod tairline segment. As a result, our segmentsardesigned to measure operating income or
loss directly related to the products and servicelsided in each segment on a stand-alone basis.

Segment results are prepared based on our interoalnting methods described below, with recorimlis to consolidated amounts in
accordance with GAAP.
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Intersegment

(in millions) Airline Refinery Sales/Other Consolidated
Year Ended December 31, 2013
Operating revenue: $ 37,77 $ 7,00: $ 37,77

Sales to airline segment $ (1,15¢) @

Exchanged products (5,357 @

Sales of refined products to third parties (495) ®
Operating income (loss) 3,51¢ (11€) 3,40(
Interest expense, net 69¢ — 69¢
Depreciation and amortization expense 1,641 17 1,65¢
Total assets, end of period 51,08( 1,172 52,25:
Capital expenditures 2,51¢ 52 2,56¢
Year Ended December 31, 2012
Operating revenue: $ 36,67( $ 1,347 $ 36,67(

Sales to airline segment $ (215 @

Exchanged products (1,127 @

Sales of refined products to third parties (13) ®
Operating income (loss) 2,23¢ (63 2,17¢
Interest expense, net 81z — 81z
Depreciation and amortization expense 1,561 4 1,56t
Total assets, end of period 43,38t 1,16¢ 44,55(
Capital expenditures 1,63 331 1,96¢

@ Represents transfers, valued on a market prics,fesin the refinery to the airline segment for irseirline operations. We determine market prigedference to the market
index for the primary delivery location for jet ffeom the refinery, which is New York Harbor.

@ Represents value of products exchanged under gisdiliagreements, as discussed above, determinadmarket price bas

®  Represents sales of refined products to thirdgmarfihese sales were at or near cost; accordihglynargin on these sales is de mini
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NOTE 3. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair value is defined as an exit price, represegritie amount that would be received to sell antasgeaid to transfer a liability in an orde
transaction between market participants. Fair vedagemarket-based measurement that is determisetion assumptions that market
participants would use in pricing an asset or ligbi
» Level 1.0bservable inputs such as quoted prices in actadxets
« Level 2. Inputs, other than quoted prices in active markibat are observable either directly or indisedic

» Level 3. Unobservable inputs in which there is little ormarket data, which require the reporting entitdévelop its own assumptio

Assets and liabilities measured at fair value ased on the valuation techniques identified intéiides below. The valuation techniques are
as follows:

(a) Market approact. Prices and other relevant information generateshrrket transactions involving identical or congide assets or
liabilities; and

(b) Income approactTechniques to convert future amounts to a singtsgt amount based on market expectations (ingymtigsent value
techniques, option-pricing and excess earnings tapde

Assets (Liabilities) Measured at Fair Value on a &ering Basis®

December 31, Valuation

(in millions) 2013 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Technique
Cash equivalents $ 2,487 $ 2,481 $ — $ — (@)
Short-term investments 95¢ 95¢ — — €))
Restricted cash equivalents and investments 11¢ 11¢€ — — (a)
Long-term investments 10¢ 80 29 — (a)(b)
Hedge derivatives, net

Fuel hedge contracts 314 16 29¢ — (a)(b)

Interest rate contracts (67) — (67) — (a)(b)

Foreign currency exchange contracts 257 — 257 — (a)

December 31, Valuation

(in millions) 2012 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Technique
Cash equivalents $ 2,17¢ $ 2,17¢ $ — $ — (a)
Short-term investments 95¢ 95¢ — — (a)
Restricted cash equivalents and investments 344 344 — — (a)
Long-term investments 20¢ 10C 27 81 (@)(b)
Hedge derivatives, net

Fuel hedge contracts 24¢ 27 222 — (@)(b)

Interest rate contracts (66) — (66) — (@)(b)

Foreign currency exchange contracts 128 — 12¢ — (a)

@ See Note 11 , “Employee Benefit Planfsr, fair value of benefit plan asse

Cash Equivalents, Short-term Investments and RéstriCash Equivalents and Investme@issh equivalents and short-term investments
generally consist of money market funds and trgaBilis. Restricted cash equivalents and investsiprimarily support letters of credit that
meet certain projected séifsurance obligations and airport commitments agmkgally consist of money market funds and timeodip. Thes
investments are recorded at cost, which approxifaievalue. Fair value is based on a market apgraising prices and other relevant
information generated by market transactions inmglvdentical or comparable assets.
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Long-term Investment&ur long-term investments that are measured av#ire primarily consist of equity investments iru@o
Aeromexico, S.A.B. de C.V., the parent company efdinexico, and GOL Linhas Aereas Inteligentes, $18 parent company of GOL.
Shares of the parent companies of Aeromexico and &®© traded on public exchanges and we have valuethvestments based on quoted
market prices. The investments are classifiedliemoboncurrent assets. In 2013, we sold our remgiaiiction rate securities, which were
previously classified as Level 3 instruments.

Hedge DerivativeOur derivative contracts are generally negotiatét eounterparties without going through a pubkcleange.
Accordingly, our fair value assessments give carsition to the risk of counterparty default (ashaslour own credit risk).

Fuel DerivativesOur fuel hedge portfolio consists of call optiopst options; combinations of two or more call op@nd put options;
swap contracts; and futures contracts. The produwatsrlying the hedge contracts include crudedigisel fuel and jet fuel as these
commodities are highly correlated with the pricgetffuel that we consume. Option contracts aree@lunder an income approach u
option pricing models based on data either reashiservable in public markets, derived from publigrkets or provided by
counterparties who regularly trade in public mask&tolatilities used in these valuations rangednf@ to 25% depending on the
maturity dates, underlying commodities and strikiegs of the option contracts. Swap contracts ateed under an income approach
using a discounted cash flow model based on dttaraieadily observable or derived from public nedsk Discount rates used in these
valuations vary with the maturity dates of the extive contracts and are based on LIBOR. Futuraacts and options on futures
contracts are traded on a public exchange and didlased on quoted market prices.

Interest Rate DerivativeOur interest rate derivatives consist primarilysefap contracts and are valued primarily based tanréadily
observable in public markets.

Foreign Currency Derivative:Our foreign currency derivatives consist of Japangs and Canadian dollar forward contracts and are
valued based on data readily observable in pubditkets.
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NOTE 4 . DERIVATIVES AND RISK MANAGEMENT

Changes in aircraft fuel prices, interest ratesfaneign currency exchange rates impact our resdiltgperations. In an effort to manage our
exposure to these risks, we enter into derivatorgracts and may adjust our derivative portfolioresket conditions change.

Aircraft Fuel Price Risk

Changes in aircraft fuel prices materially impaat cesults of operations. We actively manage oat fuice risk through a hedging program
intended to reduce the financial impact on us fobranges in the price of jet fuel. We utilize seVeitierent contract and commodity types in
this program and frequently test its economic ¢ifeness against our financial targets. We reba&ldhe hedge portfolio from time to time
according to market conditions, which may resulbirking in gains or losses on hedge contracts poitheir settlement dates .

During 2011, we stopped designating substantidlilgfaour new fuel derivative contracts as accongthedges and discontinued hedge
accounting for fuel derivative contracts that haglvpusly been designated as accounting hedgea.résult, we record changes in the fair
value of our fuel hedges in aircraft fuel and rethtaxes. These changes in fair value includessiegthins and losses as well as mark to marke
adjustments ("MTM adjustments"). MTM adjustments based on market prices as of the end of thetirggaeriod for contracts settling in
future periods. Prior to this change in accountegignation, gains or losses on these contracts deferred in AOCI until contract settlement.
At contract settlement, the gains or losses wezg thclassified to aircraft fuel and related taxesof December 31, 2013, there are no fuel
derivative contracts designated as accounting tedge

The following table shows the impact of fuel hediggses (gains) for both designated and undesigratedacts on aircraft fuel and related
taxes:

Year Ended December 31,

(in millions) 2013 2012 2011

Airline segment $ (4449 $ 81 $ (187)
Refinery Segment (49 — —
Effective portion reclassified from AOCI to earngng — (15) (239
(Gains) losses recorded in aircraft fuel and reladses $ (499 $ 66 $ (420

Interest Rate Risl

Our exposure to market risk from adverse changéegénest rates is primarily associated with ounglderm debt obligations. Market risk
associated with our fixed and variable rate lorrgatdebt relates to the potential reduction in Yailue and negative impact to future earnings,
respectively, from an increase in interest rates.

In an effort to manage our exposure to the risk@ased with our variable rate long-term debt, veeigically enter into interest rate swaps
We designate interest rate contracts used to cotheeinterest rate exposure on a portion of ot gertfolio from a floating rate to a fixed ri
as cash flow hedges, while those contracts comgediir interest rate exposure from a fixed rate fi@ating rate are designated as fair value
hedges.

We also have exposure to market risk from advensages in interest rates associated with our cagltash equivalents and benefit plan
obligations. Market risk associated with our casti eash equivalents relates to the potential dedtinnterest income from a decrease in
interest rates. Pension, postretirement, postempdoy, and worker's compensation obligation risites to the potential increase in our future
obligations and expenses from a decrease in itteres used to discount these obligations.

Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk
We are subject to foreign currency exchange ralelrecause we have revenue and expense denomimébeeign currencies with our
primary exposures being the Japanese yen and Gandaliar. To manage exchange rate risk, we exdmtteour international revenue and

expense transactions in the same foreign currenttyetextent practicable. From time to time, we ralgp enter into foreign currency option
and forward contracts. These foreign currency exghaontracts are designated as cash flow hedges.
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Hedge Position as cDecember 31, 2013

Prepaid Other Other Other Hedge
Final Expenses and Noncurrent Accrued Noncurrent  Derivatives,
(in millions) Notional Balance Maturity Date Other Assets Assets Liabilities Liabilities net
Designated as hedges
Interest rate contracts (cash $ 477 U.S. dollars May 2019 $ — $ — $ 17 ¢ (26) $ (43)
flow hedges)
Interest rate contracts (fair $ 44F U.S. dollars August 2022 — — ) (22 (249)
value hedges)
Foreign currency exchange 120,91! Japanese yen August 2016 157 10C — — 257
contracts 43¢ Canadian dollars
Not designated as hedges
Fuel hedge contracts 4,077 gallons - crude oil, diesel March 2015 42¢ 29 (227) (16) 314
and jet fuel
Total derivative contracts $ 58t $ 12¢ $ (14€) $ (64) $ 504
Hedge Position as cDecember 31, 2012
Prepaid Other Other Other Hedge
Final Expenses and Noncurrent Accrued Noncurrent  Derivatives,
(in millions) Notional Balance Maturity Date Other Assets Assets Liabilities Liabilities net
Designated as hedges
Interest rate contracts (cash $ 74C U.S. dollars May 2019 $ — 3 — 3 (22) $ 48 $ (70)
flow hedges)
Interest rate contracts (fair $ 46S U.S. dollars August 2022 — 6 (2 — 4
value hedges)
Foreign currency exchange 119,27 Japanese yen December 62 63 @ Q) 125
contracts 43C Canadian dollars 2015
Not designated as hedges
Fuel contracts 1,792 gallons - heating ail, December 511 — (262) — 24¢
crude oil and jet fuel 2013
Total derivative contracts $ 57 $ 68 $ (287) $ 49 $ 30¢

Offsetting Assets and Liabilities

We have master netting arrangements with all ofcounterparties giving us the right of setoff. Waevé elected not to offset the fair value
positions recorded on our Consolidated BalancetSh&ke following table shows the potential net failue positions had we elected to offset.

Prepaid Other Other
Expenses and Noncurrent  Other Accrued  Noncurrent Hedge
(in millions) Other Assets Liabilities Liabilities Derivatives, Net
December 31, 2013
Net derivative contracts $ 45€ $ 11€ $ (19 $ (49 $ 504
December 31, 2012
Net derivative contracts $ 32C $ 69 $ (34) $ (49 $ 30€
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Designated Hedge Gains (Losst¢

Gains (losses) related to our designated hedgeamtsitincluding those previously designated asatiing hedges, are as follows:

Effective Portion Reclassified from AOCI to Effective Portion Recognized in Other
Earnings Comprehensive Income (Loss)
Year Ended December 31,
(in millions) 2013 2012 2011 2013 2012 2011
Fuel hedge contracts $ — $ 15 $ 232 % — $ 15 $ (16€)
Interest rate contracts — (5) — 28 14 (8)
Foreign currency exchange contracts 13t (25) (62) 13z 212 7
Total designated $ 13t $ (15) $ 17z $ 161 $ 211 $ (167)

As of December 31, 2013ve have recorded $157 million of net gains on dhsi hedge contracts in AOCI, which are scheduteddttle
and be reclassified into earnings within the néxtrfonths.

Credit Risk

To manage credit risk associated with our airdtadt price, interest rate and foreign currency hieglgrograms, we select counterparties
based on their credit ratings and limit our expedorany one counterparty.

Our hedge contracts contain margin funding requér@siThe margin funding requirements may cause us tbrpaggin to counterparties
may cause counterparties to post margin to us asetngrices in the underlying hedged items chabge to the fair value position of our
hedge contracts, we received net margin of $65anitind $62 million as of December 31, 2013 and220Espectively. Margin received is
recorded in accounts payable and margin postezt@rded in prepaid expenses and other.

Our accounts receivable are generated largely fhensale of passenger airline tickets and cargsp@rtation services. The majority of
these sales are processed through major creditoanganies, resulting in accounts receivable treat be subject to certain holdbacks by the
credit card processors. We also have receivalbes fine sale of mileage credits under our SkyMileggRam to participating airlines and non-
airline businesses such as credit card comparésishand car rental agencies. The credit riskcatnl with our receivables is minimal.

SelfInsurance Risk

We self-insure a portion of our losses from claielated to workers' compensation, environmentalkissproperty damage, medical
insurance for employees and general liability. legsare accrued based on an estimate of the aggtedmlity for claims incurred, using
independent actuarial reviews based on standatgsindpractices and our historical experience. Aipo of our projected workers'
compensation liability is secured with restrictedte collateral.

NOTE 5. JFK REDEVELOPMENT

We are optimizing our international and trans-awentital flight schedule and undertaking a redevekagmroject at John F. Kennedy
International Airport (“JFK”) to facilitate convesmt connections for our passengers and improvedgwdion with our SkyTeam alliance
partners. Prior to beginning the redevelopmentgatove primarily operated domestic flights ouTefminal 2 and international flights out of
Terminal 3 under leases with the Port AuthorityNefiv York and New Jersey (“Port Authority”), whicperates JFK. Our redevelopment
project, which began in 2010, is on schedule. Teaid is operated by JFK International Air TermibaC (“IAT"), a private party, under its
lease with the Port Authority. We have constructigk new international gates in Terminal 4, whiglemed in 2013. We have relocated our
operations from Terminal 3 to our newly construdtadlities at Terminal 4 and have begun the detiooliof Terminal 3. During 2013, we
announced plans for an additional $180 million egian project that will add 11 more gates at Teahih With the expansion project, we will
relocate our regional jet operations from Term& Terminal 4.
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In December 2010, the Port Authority issued appnately $800 million principal amount of special jgret bonds to fund the substantial
majority of the project. Also in December 2010, eveered into a 33 year agreement with IAT (“Sul#€at sublease space in Terminal 4.
IAT is unconditionally obligated under its leasdiwihe Port Authority to pay rentals from the rewes it receives from its operation and
management of Terminal 4, including among othergental payments under the Sublease, in an ansoffitient to pay principal and intere
on the bonds. We do not guarantee payment of thd€d he balance of the project costs will be gtediby Port Authority passenger facility
charges, Transportation Security Administrationding and our contributions. Our future rental pagisewill vary based on our share of total
passenger and baggage counts at Terminal 4, theaerwhgates we occupy in Terminal 4, IAT's acesenses of operating Terminal 4 and
other factors.

We are responsible for the management and conistnuaft the project and bear construction risk, iinithg cost overruns. We record an
asset for project costs as construction takes ptagardless of funding source. These costs inaliedegn fees, labor and construction permits,
as well as physical construction costs such asigasystems, utilities and other costs generabpeiated with construction projects. The
project will also include capitalized interest béi&m amounts we spend calculated based on our tedigiverage incremental borrowing rate.
The related construction obligation is recorded &ability and is equal to project costs fundedplayties other than us. Future rental payment:
will reduce the construction obligation and resuithe recording of interest expense, calculatedguthe effective interest method. During the
construction period, we are also incurring costtmstruction site ground rental expense and rétied and abatement activities, which are
expensed as incurred. As of December 31, 2013hawe recorded $675 million as a fixed asset agibwned the asset and $646 million as
the related construction obligation.

We have an equity-method investment in the enttiictvowns IAT, our sublessor at Terminal 4. Thel8ake requires us to pay certain
fixed management fees. We determined the investimenvariable interest and assessed whether weedawntrolling financial interest in IA

Our rights under the Sublease with respect to memagt of Terminal 4 are consistent with rights ¢gerto an anchor tenant under a standarc
airport lease. Accordingly, we do not consolidé&ke éntity in which we have an investment in our €tidated Financial Statements.

NOTE 6 . INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets

Carrying Amount at December 31,

(in millions) 2013 2012

International routes and slots $ 2,287 $ 2,24(
Delta tradename 85(C 85(C
SkyTeam related assets 661 661
Domestic slots 622 622
Total $ 4420 $ 4,37:

International Routes and SloSur remaining international routes and slots pritpaelate to the Pacific region. The U.S. and Jabave a
bilateral agreement that allows U.S. air carrigrimited flying to and from Japan under route auities granted by the U.S. Department of
Transportation. Access to the primary JapaneserisrpHaneda and Narita airports in Tokyo) is rated through allocations of slots, which
limit the rights of carriers to operate at thespaits. The U.S. and Japan have agreed on plamslifmited number of additional slots at these
airports. The substantial number of slots we holfickyo Narita Airport, combined with limitedntry rights we hold in other countries, enal
us to operate a hub at Tokyo serving the Asia-Ra@fjion. We currently believe that the currenSllapan bilateral agreement will not hay
significant long-term impact on our Pacific routesl slots; therefore, these assets continue todrauedefinite life and are not presently
impaired.

Negative changes to our operations could reswhirmpairment charge or a change from indefinitedito definite-lived in the period in
which the changes occur or are projected to occur.
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Domestic Slotdn December 2011, we and US Airways exchanged faked landing rights at LaGuardia Airport ("LaGd&") and
Reagan National airports. Under the agreementyélacquired 132 slot pairs at LaGuardia from USvairs and (2) US Airways acquired
from us 42 slot pairs at Reagan National and $6fomin cash. Additionally, we divested 16 slotigaat LaGuardia and eight slot pairs at
Reagan National to airlines with limited or no seevat those airports and received $90 millionaslcproceeds from the sale of the divested
slot pairs. The divestiture of these slot pairsiites in the recognition of a $43 million gain chgithe December 2011 quarter in restructuring
and other items on our Consolidated Statement ef&@jwns. This gain was offset by a $50 milliorpairment charge recorded on our Mosc
slots, for a net $7 million loss recorded durind 20

The 132 slot pairs at LaGuardia acquired in 201dewecorded at fair value. We estimated theirfalue using a combination of limited
market transactions and the lease savings methudhws an income approach. These assets arefiddssi Level 3 of the fair value hierarct
The carrying value related to the 42 slot pairRed@gan National acquired by US Airways was remdk@u our indefinite-lived intangible
assets. In approving the transaction, the Depattofefransportation restricted our use of the ergeal slots. We recorded a $78 million
deferred gain in December 2011. We recognizeddfisrred gain in 2012 as the restrictions lapsed.

Definite-Lived Intangible Assets

December 31, 2013 December 31, 2012

Gross Gross

Carrying Accumulated Carrying Accumulated
(in millions) Amount Amortization Amount Amortization
Marketing agreements $ 73C $ (602) $ 73C $ (545)
Contracts 19z (83 19z (72
Other 53 (53 53 (53
Total $ 97€¢ $ (738) $ 97€¢ $ (670)

Amortization expense for each of the years endeteBDber 31, 2013 , 2012 and 2011 was approxima@&yndillion . The following tabl
summarizes the estimated aggregate amortizatioensepfor each of the five succeeding fiscal years:

Years Ending December 31,

(in millions)

2014 $ 67
2015 67
2016 9
2017 9
2018 8
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NOTE 7 . AMERICAN EXPRESS RELATIONSHIP

General.Our agreements with American Express provide fit jmarketing, grant certain benefits to Delta-Aman Express co-branded
credit card holders ("Cardholders™) and Americaptiess Membership Rewards Program participants kod American Express to market
using our customer database. Cardholders earngrilgadits for making purchases using co-brandedscenay check their first bag for free,
are granted access to Delta SkyClub lounges amilvezother benefits while traveling on Delta. Thbeaefits that we provide in the form of
separate products and services under the SkyMilesments are referred to as "deliverables." Aolaiily, participants in the American
Express Membership Rewards program may exchangeptiiats for mileage credits under the SkyMilesdtam. As a result, we sell mileage
credits at agreed upon rates to American Expregsréwision to their customers under the co-bramdlit card program and the Membership
Rewards program.

During 2013, we amended our agreements with Ameiiogpress that modified the products and servieegigled under the agreements.
The amendments changed certain mileage award reiespaccess to SkyClubs, among other thingsak@scription of how these
amendments changed our accounting, please seelNoider Frequent Flyer Program.

Advance Purchase of Restricted SkyMile2008, we entered into a multi-year extensioowf American Express agreements and receive
$1.0 billion from American Express for an advanaechase of Restricted SkyMiles (the "prepaymertfe 2008 agreement provided that our
obligations with respect to the advance purchasddvoe satisfied as American Express uses the paecthmiles over a specified future perioc
(“SkyMiles Usage Period”yather than by cash payments from us to Americgréss. Due to the SkyMiles Usage Period and o#striction:
placed upon American Express regarding the timirdywse of the SkyMiles, we classified the $1.0dmllprepayment we received as |omgm
debt.

In 2010, we amended our 2008 American Express agree The amendments, among other things, (1) geovihat Cardholders could
check their first bag for free on every Delta flighrough June 2013 ("Baggage Fee Waiver Perid¢d));hanged the SkyMiles Usage Period tc
a three-year period beginning in the December 2utter from a two-year period beginning in Decenftid 0 quarter and (3) gave American
Express the option to extend our agreements wimtfor one year.

During the SkyMiles Usage Period, American Expreas drawing down on the prepayment instead of gagé@sh to Delta for SkyMiles
used. As SkyMiles are used by American Expresseeegnized the two separate revenue componentesd ISkyMiles consistent with our
accounting policy discussed in Note [h December 2013, we and American Express amethiedgreement to allow American Express to
these SkyMiles immediately and without restrictiés.a result, in the December 2013 quarter, theaneimg $285 million of the original $1.0
billion pre-payment was classified as frequentifigeferred revenue with a portion related to theketing component recorded within other
accrued liabilities.

Annual Sale of Unrestricted SkyMilés.December 2011, we amended our American Expiggeements to sell to American Express $675
million of unrestricted SkyMiles in each of the forears ending 2014. The December 2011 amendnemeatends the Baggage Fee Waiver
Period. The SkyMiles purchased pursuant to the Dbéee 2011 amendment may be used immediately by ikareExpress. The usage of th
SkyMiles is not restricted in any way. These anquathases of SkyMiles are recorded as deferrezhre/within current liabilities. The
portion of each purchase of SkyMiles related tceagle credits redeemable for future travel are ifikedsvithin frequent flyer deferred revenue
and the portion related to the marketing componeatlassified within other accrued liabilities.ehecember 2011 amendment does not
change the number of miles that we expect Ametigress to purchase from us over the four yeaoggit only impacts the timing of those
purchases.

Fuel Card Obligation In December 2011, we obtained a purchasing catfdAmerican Express for the purpose of buyingijet and
crude oil. The card currently carries a maximunditrémit of $612 million and must be paid monthit December 31, 2013 and
December 31, 2012 , we had $602 million and $43bomi, respectively, outstanding on this purchgsiard, which was classified as fuel carc
obligation.
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NOTE 8 . LONG-TERM DEBT

The following table summarizes our long-term debt:

Maturity Interest Rate(s) Per Annum at December 31,

(in millions) Dates December 31, 2013 2013 2012
Pacific Facilities:

Pacific Term Loan B-# October 2018 4.00% variable  $ 1,08¢ $ 1,10(

Pacific Term Loan B-2® April 2016 3.25% variable® 39¢ 40C

Pacific Revolving Facility ($450) October 2017 duawn variable? — —
2011 Credit Facilities:

Term Loan Facility? April 2017 3.50% variabl® 1,341 1,35¢

Revolving Credit Facility ($1,225) April 2016 undrawn variable® — —
Other Secured Financing Arrangements:

Certificates?® 2014 to 2023 475% to  9.75% 3,83« 4,31¢

Aircraft financings®® 2014 to 2025 0.64% to 6.76% 3,781 3,96¢

Other financing®® 2014 to 2031 0.00% to 6.12% 627 707

Other Revolving Credit Facilities ($250) 2014  to2015 undrawn variabl& — —
Total secured debt 11,07 11,83¢
American Express - Advance Purchase of RestrickgtVies © — 61¢
Other unsecured deft 2014 to 2035 3.01% to 9.00% 154 17t
Total unsecured debt 154 794
Total secured and unsecured debt 11,22¢ 12,63
Unamortized discount, net (389) (527)
Total debt 10,84: 12,10¢
Less: current maturities (1,449 (1,507
Total long-term debt $ 9,39¢ $ 10,59¢

@ Interest rate equal to LIBOR (generally subjec ftoor) or another index rate, in each case plsgegified margi
®  Due in installment:

®  Secured by aircra

@ Primarily includes loans secured by spare partesengines and real est

®  For additional information about our debt assodatéh American Express, see Note 7

Pacific Facilities

In October 2012, we entered into senior secureditdigcilities (the "Pacific Facilities") to borrowp to $2.0 billion . The Pacific Facilities
consist of two first lien term loan facilities (thBacific Term Loans") and a $450 million revolviogedit facility (the "Pacific Revolving
Facility"). Borrowings under the Pacific Term Loamsist be repaid annually in an amount equal tqpg¥gyear of the original principal amot
of the respective loans (to be paid in equal qugriestallments). The remaining unamortized pryadiamounts under the Pacific Term Loans
are due on their final maturity dates.

Our obligations under the Pacific Facilities aragunteed by substantially all of our domestic alibsies (the "Guarantors") and secured by
a first lien on our Pacific route authorities artain related assets. For a discussion of refatadcial covenants, see "Key Financial
Covenants" below.
2011 Credit Facilities

In 2011, we entered into senior secured first-tisdit facilities (the “2011 Credit Facilities”) tworrow up to $2.6 billion . The 2011 Credit

Facilities consist of a $1.4 billion first-lien tarloan facility (the “Term Loan Facility”) and a Ribillion first-lien revolving credit facility, up
to $500 million of which may be used for the isstaof letters of credit (the “Revolving Credit Hagf).
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Borrowings under the Term Loan Facility must beaid@nnually in an amount equal to 1% of the oagprincipal amount (to be paid in
equal quarterly installments), with the balance ithi2017 . Borrowings under the Revolving Creditikigy are due in 2016 .

Our obligations under the 2011 Credit Facilities guaranteed by the Guarantors. The 2011 Crediitfeacand the related guarantees are
secured by liens on certain of our and the Guararassets, including accounts receivable, flighigment, ground property and equipment,
certain aircraft, spare engines and parts, cem@mPacific international routes, domestic slatg) estate and certain investments (the
“Collateral”). For a discussion of related finanaavenants, see "Key Financial Covenants" below.

Key Financial Covenant:
The credit facilities discussed above include afitive, negative and financial covenants that iesiur ability to, among other things,

make investments, sell or otherwise dispose oatafal if we are not in compliance with the coltateeoverage ratio tests described below, pa
dividends or repurchase stock. We were in compéiamith all covenants in our financing agreement®etember 31, 2013 .

Pacific Facilities 2011 Credit Facilities
Minimum Fixed Charge Coverage Ratib 1.20:1 1.20:1
Minimum Unrestricted Liquidity
Unrestricted cash and permitted investments n/a $1.0 billion
Unrestricted cash, permitted investments and unarawolving credit facilities $2.0 billion $2.0llon
Minimum Collateral Coverage Ratié 1.60:1 1.67:1®@

@ Defined as the ratio of (a) earnings before intetages, depreciation, amortization and aircredit and other adjustments to net income to (b}tine of gross cash interest

expense (including the interest portion of our tjzied lease obligations) and cash aircraft repease, for the 1#onth period ending as of the last day of eaclafigoarter
@ Defined as the ratio of (a) certain of the collak¢hat meets specified eligibility standards tpttie sum of the aggregate outstanding obligatmscertain other obligatiol
®  Excluding the norRacific international routes from the collateral prposes of the calculation, the required mininuaitateral coverage ratio is 0.7

Availability Under Revolving Credit Facilitie:

The table below shows availability under revolvargdit facilities, all of which were undrawn, as@écember 31, 2013 :

(in millions)

Revolving Credit Facility $ 1,22¢
Pacific Revolving Credit Facility 45(
Other Revolving Credit Facilities 25C
Total availability under revolving credit facilise $ 1,92¢

Future Maturities

The following table summarizes scheduled maturitiesur debt, including current maturities, at Daber 31, 2013 :

Years Ending December 31, Total Secured and ~ Amortization of Debt

(in millions) Unsecured Debt Discount, net

2014 $ 1,491 $ (80)

2015 1,08¢ (73)

2016 1,47: (67)

2017 2,19( (58)

2018 2,15¢ (47

Thereafter 2,821 (58)

Total $ 11,22¢ $ (389 $ 10,84¢
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Fair Value of Debt

Market risk associated with our fixed and variatsle long-term debt relates to the potential rédndh fair value and negative impact to
future earnings, respectively, from an increasaterest rates. In the table below, the aggregdtevélue of debt was based primarily on
reported market values, recently completed markesactions and estimates based on interest naédstities, credit risk and underlying
collateral and is classified primarily as Level Bhin the fair value hierarchy.

December 31,

(in millions) 2013 2012

Total debt at par value $ 11,22¢ $ 12,63
Unamortized discount, net (389) (527)
Net carrying amount $ 10,84f $ 12,10¢
Fair value $ 11,60 $ 13,00(

NOTE 9 . LEASE OBLIGATIONS

We lease aircraft, airport terminals, maintenaradifies, ticket offices and other property andiipgnent from third parties. Rental expense
for operating leases, which is recorded on a ditdige basis over the life of the lease term, latapproximately $1.1 billion for each of the
years endeDecember 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 . Amounts duerwapital leases are recorded as liabilities, avlidsets acquired under
capital leases are recorded as property and equoipimortization of assets recorded under cap#tasés is included in depreciation and
amortization expense. Our airport terminal leasekide contingent rents, which vary based uporilitiaasage, enplanements, aircraft weight
and other factors. Many of our aircraft, facilitydaequipment leases include rental escalation etaasd/or renewal options. Our leases do no
include residual value guarantees and we are eqgtrimary beneficiary in or have other forms ofighle interest with the lessor of the leased
assets. As a result, we have not consolidated fime@ntities that lease to us.

The following tables summarize, as of December2®13 , our minimum rental commitments under capéases and noncancelable
operating leases (including certain aircraft flosnContract Carriers) with initial or remaining ies in excess of one year:

Capital Leases

Years Ending December 31,

(in millions) Total

2014 $ 16t
2015 15¢
2016 14z
2017 10C
2018 54
Thereafter 74
Total minimum lease payments 694
Less: amount of lease payments representing itteres (197
Present value of future minimum capital lease payme 497
Less: current obligations under capital leases (98)
Long-term capital lease obligations $ 39¢
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Operating Leases

Contract Carrier

Years Ending December 31, Delta Lease Aircraft Lease

(in millions) Payments® Payments® Total
2014 $ 1,07¢ $ 35C $ 1,42¢
2015 1,02¢ 32¢ 1,35¢
2016 90C 28¢ 1,18¢
2017 78E 241 1,02¢
2018 63t 19¢ 831
Thereafter 5,44; 224 5,66¢
Total minimum lease payments $ 9,86¢ $ 1,62t $ 11,49:

@ Includes payments accounted for as constructidigatinns. See Note 5
@ Represents the minimum lease obligations undeCoutract Carrier agreements with Chautauqua Aslihec. (“Chautauqua”), Compass Airlines, Inc., E2gsJet Airlines,
Inc., GoJet Airlines, LLC, Shuttle America Corpaoat (“Shuttle America”) and SkyWest Airlines, Inc.

NOTE 10 . COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Aircraft Purchase and Lease Commitmer

At December 31, 2013, future aircraft purchasemiments total approximately $9.1 billion and ind$u88 B-737-900ER, 30 A321-200,
28 CRJ-900, 18 B-787-8 aircraft and 10 A330-300rait. We have obtained long-term financing comneitits for a substantial portion of the
purchase price of all of these aircraft, excepttlfier 18 B-787-8 aircraft. Our purchase commitmenttie 18 B-787-8 aircraft provides for
certain aircraft substitution rights.

Years Ending December 31,

(in millions) Total

2014 $ 1,58¢
2015 1,21¢
2016 1,70(
2017 1,49¢
2018 45C
Thereafter 2,70(
Total $ 9,14

We also have agreements with Southwest AirlinesTdrBoeing Company to lease 88 B-717-200 aircYsé.took delivery of 13 B-717-
200 aircraft during 2013 and deliveries will continthrough 2015.

Contract Carrier Agreements

We have contract carrier agreements with regioaalars with agreements expiring from 2016 to 2022

Capacity Purchase Agreementsiost of our Contract Carriers operate for us urtdgacity purchase agreements. Under these agnéeme
the Contract Carriers operate some or all of thiearaft using our flight designator codes, andoestrol the scheduling, pricing, reservations,
ticketing and seat inventories of those aircraft eetain the revenues associated with those flighitss pay those airlines an amount, as definec

in the applicable agreement, which is based ortermiéation of their cost of operating those flghhnd other factors intended to approximate
market rates for those services.
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The following table shows our minimum fixed obligats under our existing capacity purchase agreesm@&he obligations set forth in the
table contemplate minimum levels of flying by therfract Carriers under the respective agreementslan reflect assumptions regarding
certain costs associated with the minimum levelyyaig such as the cost of fuel, labor, mainterggngsurance, catering, property tax and
landing fees. Accordingly, our actual payments urtdese agreements could differ materially fromrttirimum fixed obligations set forth in
the table below.

Years Ending December 31,

(in millions) Amount @

2014 $ 2,11(
2015 2,04(
2016 1,78(
2017 1,56(
2018 1,32(
Thereafter 1,93(
Total $ 10,74(

@ These amounts exclude Contract Carrier paymentsuated for as operating leases of aircraft, whigh described in Note 9. The contingencies descrigdw unde
“Contingencies Related to Termination of Contraatrér Agreements” are also excluded from thiseabl

Revenue Proration Agreemenis of December 31, 2013, a portion of our Cartt2arrier agreement with SkyWest Airlines, Inc. is
structured as a revenue proration agreement. aenue proration agreement establishes a fixedrdmilpercentage division of revenues for
tickets sold to passengers traveling on connedliiglgt itineraries.

Contingencies Related to Termination of Contractriea Agreements

We may terminate without cause our agreement whthuGauqua at any time and our agreement with &hAittierica at any time after
January 2016 by providing certain advance notfoeelterminate either the Chautauqua or Shuttle Agaeagreements without cause,
Chautauqua or Shuttle America, respectively, hasitht to (1) assign to us leased aircraft thatailine operates for us, provided we are able
to continue the leases on the same terms theeahlrhd prior to the assignment and (2) require ysitohase or lease any aircraft the airline
owns and operates for us at the time of the teroimalf we are required to purchase aircraft owbgdChautauqua or Shuttle America, the
purchase price would be equal to the amount negesél) reimburse Chautauqua or Shuttle Amerigatie equity it provided to purchase
aircraft and (2) repay in full any debt outstanditguch time that is not being assumed in conmreetith such purchase. If we are required to
lease aircraft owned by Chautauqua or Shuttle Asaethe lease would have (1) a rate equal to thegiyments of Chautauqua or Shuttle
America for the debt financing of the aircraft edéted as if 90% of the aircraft was debt finanbgdChautauqua or Shuttle America and (2)
other specified terms and conditions . Becausestbestingencies depend on our termination of tmeeagents without cause prior to their
expiration dates, no obligation exists unless saomination occurs.

We estimate that the total fair values, determim@df December 31, 2013, of the aircraft ChautawgquShuttle America could assign to us
or require that we purchase if we terminate withzautse our contract carrier agreements with thiokees (the "Put Right") are approximately
$119 million and $294 million , respectively. Thet@l amount we may be required to pay in thesmimstances may be materially different
from these estimates. If the Put Right is exercigedmust also pay the exercising carrier 10% @stefcompounded monthly) on the equity the
carrier provided when it purchased the put airciEtfiese equity amounts for Chautauqua and Shuttlerf&sa total $25 million and $52
million , respectively.

Legal Contingencie

We are involved in various legal proceedings relateemployment practices, environmental issueityast matters and other matters
concerning our business. We record liabilitieslésses from legal proceedings when we determindtttsgprobable that the outcome in a le
proceeding will be unfavorable and the amount e§loan be reasonably estimated. We cannot reagasihate the potential loss for certain
legal proceedings because, for example, the litigas in its early stages or the plaintiff does specify the damages being sought. Although
the outcome of the legal proceedings in which veeimavolved cannot be predicted with certainty, nggamaent believes that the resolution of
these matters will not have a material adverseceéfie our Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Credit Card Processing Agreements

Our VISA/MasterCard and American Express creditigapcessing agreements provide that no cash eg§#eserve”) is required, and no
withholding of payment related to receivables axbel will occur, except in certain circumstancesjuding when we do not maintain a
required level of liquidity as outlined in the miant processing agreements. In circumstances ichvthe credit card processor can establish
Reserve or withhold payments, the amount of theeResor payments that may be withheld would be ktguiae potential liability of the crec
card processor for tickets purchased with VISA/MeSard or American Express credit cards, as agpécthat had not yet been used for
travel. There was no Reserve or amounts withhetsf 82cember 31, 2013 and 2012 .

Other Contingencies
General Indemnifications

We are the lessee under many commercial real deteges. It is common in these transactions foasishe lessee, to agree to indemnify th
lessor and the lessor's related parties for toktirenmental and other liabilities that arise ofibpbrelate to our use or occupancy of the leased
premises. This type of indemnity would typically keaus responsible to indemnified parties for ligie# arising out of the conduct of, among
others, contractors, licensees and invitees am, connection with, the use or occupancy of theddgporemises. This indemnity often extends t
related liabilities arising from the negligencetlod indemnified parties, but usually excludes aalilities caused by either their sole or gross
negligence or their willful misconduct.

Our aircraft and other equipment lease and finanagreements typically contain provisions requitiisgas the lessee or obligor, to
indemnify the other parties to those agreementdydiing certain of those parties' related persagajnst virtually any liabilities that might ar
from the use or operation of the aircraft or suttfeoequipment.

We believe that our insurance would cover mostusfexposure to liabilities and related indemnitssociated with the commercial real
estate leases and aircraft and other equipmera asfinancing agreements described above. Whilénsurance does not typically cover
environmental liabilities, we have certain insumrapolicies in place as required by applicable emvitental laws.

Certain of our aircraft and other financing trarnarts include provisions that require us to makgnpants to preserve an expected econt
return to the lenders if that economic return isidished due to certain changes in law or regutatién certain of these financing transactions
we also bear the risk of certain changes in tas lthat would subject payments to non-U.S. lendevgithholding taxes.

We cannot reasonably estimate our potential fytagements under the indemnities and related prawsiescribed above because we
cannot predict (1) when and under what circumsttioese provisions may be triggered and (2) theuatrthat would be payable if the
provisions were triggered because the amounts wmeilthsed on facts and circumstances existingchttsue.

Employees Under Collective Bargaining Agreem

At December 31, 2013, we had approximately 78f00@ime equivalent employees, approximately 18P4vbom were represented by
unions. The following table shows our domesticirériemployee groups that are represented by unions.

Approximate Number of Active Date on which Collective Bargaining
Employee Group Employees Represented Union Agreement Becomes Amendable
Delta Pilots 10,70C ALPA December 31, 201
Delta Flight Superintendents (Dispatchébs) 37C PAFCA December 31, 201
Endeavor Air Pilots 1,82( ALPA January 1, 202
Endeavor Air Flight Attendants 99C AFA December 31, 201
Endeavor Air Dispatchers 60 DISTWU December 31, 201

MWe are in discussions with representatives of thghFSuperintendents.

In addition, 210 refinery employees of Monroe apresented by the United Steel Workers under aseaggnt that expires on February 26,
2015.
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Labor unions periodically engage in organizing gffdo represent various groups of our employees)ding at our operating subsidiaries,
that are not represented for collective bargaipingoses.

War-Risk Insurance Contingency

As a result of the terrorist attacks on Septembef001, aviation insurers significantly (1) redd¢ee maximum amount of insurance
coverage available to commercial air carriers ifility to persons (other than employees or pagses) for claims from acts of terrorism, war
or similar events and (2) increased the premiumsdoh coverage. Since September 24, 2001, thegdv&rnment has been providing U.S.
airlines with war-risk insurance to cover lossas|uding those resulting from terrorism, to passeagthird parties (ground damage) and the
aircraft hull. The U.S. Secretary of Transportati@as extended coverage through September 30, 28d4ye expect the coverage to be furthe
extended. The withdrawal of government supportitiha war-risk insurance would require us to obtadar-risk insurance coverage
commercially. Such commercial insurance could rsulestantially less desirable coverage than cuyr@ndvided by the U.S. government, n
not be adequate to protect our risk of loss froturiiacts of terrorism or, may result in a matdriafease to our operating expense.

Other

We have certain contracts for goods and servicgs#guire us to pay a penalty, acquire inventpaciic to us or purchase contract
specific equipment, as defined by each respectiméract, if we terminate the contract without capser to its expiration date. Because these
obligations are contingent on our termination @& tlontract without cause prior to its expiratiotegd@ao obligation would exist unless such a
termination occurs.

NOTE 11 . EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

We sponsor defined benefit and defined contribugiension plans, healthcare plans and disabilitysamdivorship plans for eligible
employees and retirees and their eligible familynbers.

Defined Benefit Pension Planale sponsor defined benefit pension plans for dig#mployees and retirees. These plans are clogseint
entrants and frozen for future benefit accruale Pension Protection Act of 2006 allows commeiaiidines to elect alternative funding rules
(“Alternative Funding Rules”) for defined benefiaps that are frozen. Delta elected the Alterndfiveding Rules under which the unfunded
liability for a frozen defined benefit plan may &mortized over a fixed 17-year period and is cal®d using an 8.85% discount rate. We
estimate the funding under these plans will topgdraximately $925 million in 2014, which include®3p million of contributions above the
minimum funding requirements.

Defined Contribution Pension Plari3elta sponsors several defined contribution pl@hgse plans generally cover different employee
groups and employer contributions vary by plan. @b associated with our defined contribution pEmplans is shown in the tables below.

Postretirement Healthcare Pland/e sponsor healthcare plans that provide benefigdigible retirees and their dependents who adeun
age 65 . We have generally eliminated company-pa#d age 65 healthcare coverage, except for (kjdials available to a limited group of
retirees and their dependents and (2) a grouptiokes who retired prior to 1987. Benefits undessehplans are funded from current assets an
employee contributions. During 2012, we remeasorgdostretirement healthcare obligation to accémnthanges to retiree medical benefits
resulting from the final integration of wages arahéfits following our merger with Northwest Airlisand the voluntary workforce reduction
programs offered to eligible employees. As a resvétrecorded $116 million of special terminati@néfits in restructuring and other items
(see Note 16).

Postemployment Plang/e provide certain other welfare benefits to eligiformer or inactive employees after employmeritidaiore

retirement, primarily as part of the disability astvivorship plans. Substantially all employeesaligible for benefits under these plans in the
event of death and/or disability.
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Benefit Obligations, Fair Value of Plan Assets adinded Status

Other Postretirement and

Pension Benefits Postemployment Benefits
December 31, December 31,

(in millions) 2013 2012 2013 2012

Benefit obligation at beginning of period $ 21,48¢ $ 19,29! $ 3,582 $ 3,57(
Service cost — — 49 56
Interest cost 861 93( 142 164
Actuarial (gain) loss (2,217 2,33¢ (307 147
Benefits paid, including lump sums and annuities (2,079 (1,057%) (313 (310
Participant contributions — — 45 58
Plan amendments — — — (219
Special termination benefits — — — 11€
Settlements — (12) — —
Benefit obligation at end of peridtl $ 19,06( $ 21,48¢ $ 3,208 $ 3,582
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of period $ 8,19¢ $ 7,78¢ % 1,00¢ $ 972
Actual gain on plan assets 90t 77¢ 12¢ 134
Employer contributions 914 697 191 222
Participant contributions — — 45 58
Benefits paid, including lump sums and annuities (1,079 (1,05%) (326 (382)
Settlements — (12) — —
Fair value of plan assets at end of period $ 8,937 $ 8,19¢ % 1,04: $ 1,00«
Funded status at end of period $ (10,129 $ (13,299 $ (2,162) $ (2,57¢)

@ At each periocend presented, our accumulated benefit obligafansur pension plans are equal to the benefigalibns shown abo

Balance Sheet Positio

Other Postretirement and

Pension Benefits Postemployment Benefits
December 31, December 31,

(in millions) 2013 2012 2013 2012

Current liabilities $ (22) $ 24 ¢ (139 $ (132
Noncurrent liabilities (10,109 (13,269 (2,029 (2,44¢)
Total liabilities $ (10,129 $ (13,29) ¢ (2,162) $ (2,57¢)
Net actuarial loss $ (5,349 $ (7,95¢) % (103 $ (473
Prior service credit — — 161 187
Total accumulated other comprehensive income (lpsejtax $ (5,349 $ (7,95¢) % 58 $ (28€)

During 2013, the net actuarial loss recorded inCA@lated to our benefit plans decreased to $tli8rbfrom $8.2 billion. This decrease
primarily due to the increase in discount ratesfi2012 to 2013 .

Estimated amounts that will be amortized from AQ@b net periodic benefit cost in 2014 are a nétagal loss of $111 million . Amounts
are generally amortized from AOCI over the expedtrdre lifetime of plan participants.
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Net Periodic Cos

Other Postretirement and

Pension Benefits Postemployment Benefits

Year Ended December 31, Year Ended December 31,
(in millions) 2013 2012 2011 2013 2012 2011
Service cost $ — $ — $ — 3 48 3 56 $ 52
Interest cost 861 93C 96¢ 145 164 18C
Expected return on plan assets (739 (70%) (729 (84) (77) (90
Amortization of prior service credit — — — (26) (21) (©)]
Recognized net actuarial loss (gain) 221 142 55 25 23 (11)
Settlements 6 — — — — —
Special termination benefits — — — — 11€ —
Net periodic cost $ 354 % 36¢ $ 30C % 107 $ 261 $ 12¢
Defined contribution plan costs 49( 42¢€ 377 — — —
Total cost $ 844 $ 794 % 677 % 107 $ 261 $ 12¢
Assumptions

We used the following actuarial assumptions to rieitee our benefit obligations and our net periatbist for the periods presented:

December 31,
Benefit Obligations “® 2013 2012

Weighted average discount rate 5.01% 4.11%

Year Ended December 31,

Net Periodic Cost® 2013 2012 2011

Weighted average discount rate - pension benefit 4.1(% 4.95% 5.7(%
Weighted average discount rate - other postretinginenefit® 4.0(% 4.62% 5.55%
Weighted average discount rate - other postemplayinenefit 4.19% 4.88% 5.65%
Weighted average expected long-term rate of resnrplan assets 8.9% 8.94% 8.9:%
Assumed healthcare cost trend f&te 7.0% 7.0(% 7.0%

@ Qur 2013 and 201Benefit obligations are measured using a morttditye projected to 2017 and 2016, respecti

@ Future compensation levels do not impact our fratefined benefit pension plans or other postretn@nplans and impact only a small portion of otneotpostemployment
liability.

®  Assumed healthcare cost trend rate at Decemb@033,is assumed to decline gradually to 5.@8#2022 and remain level thereaf

@ Our assumptions reflect various remeasurementsrtdin portions of our obligations and represeatwieighted average of the assumptions used forraaesurement da

Healthcare Cost Trend Ratdssumed healthcare cost trend rates have an effieitte amounts reported for the other postretire¢ienefit
plans. A 1% change in the healthcare cost trerdused in measuring the accumulated plan bendiiation for these plans at December 31,
2013, would have the following effects:

(in millions) 1% Increase 1% Decrease
Increase (decrease) in total service and inteest ¢ $ 1% D
Increase (decrease) in the accumulated plan bexidfifation 15 (25)
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Expected Long-Term Rate of Retubur expected long-term rate of return on plan assdiased primarily on plan-specific investment
studies using historical market return and volgtitiata. Modest excess return expectations versug public market indices are incorporated
into the return projections based on the activeiynaged structure of the investment programs andrdeords of achieving such returns
historically. We also expect to receive a premiamifivesting in less liquid private markets. Weieswour rate of return on plan asset
assumptions annually. Our annual investment pedana for one particular year does not, by itsahificantly influence our evaluation. Our
actual historical annualized three and five yete o return on plan assets for our defined bempefitsion plans was approximately 9% and
12% , respectively, as of December 31, 2013 . fliestment strategy for our defined benefit penpilan assets is to use a diversified mix of
global public and private equity portfolios, pubdind private fixed income portfolios and privatalrestate and natural resource investments t
earn a long-term investment return that meets oeeds our annualized return target. Our expectegtierm rate of return on assets for net
periodic pension benefit cost for the year endedebd®er 31, 2013 was 9% .

Benefit Payment:
Benefit payments in the table below are based ersdime assumptions used to measure the relatefit lobfigations. Actual benefit
payments may vary significantly from these estirmaBenefits earned under our pension plans andicgrbstemployment benefit plans are

expected to be paid from funded benefit plan trwsksle our other postretirement benefits are fuhftem current assets.

The following table summarizes, the benefit payrae¢hat are scheduled to be paid in the years eridizogmber 31:

Other Postretirement and

(in millions) Pension Benefits Postemployment Benefits
2014 $ 1,12¢ $ 27z
2015 1,13¢ 272
2016 1,15¢ 273
2017 1,17¢ 27C
2018 1,19¢ 264
2019-2023 6,22¢ 1,311
Plan Assets

We have adopted and implemented investment polioresur defined benefit pension plans and disgbélind survivorship plan for pilots
that incorporate strategic asset allocation mirésnided to best meet the plans' long-term obligatidhis asset allocation policy mix utilizes a
diversified mix of investments and is reviewed pditally. The weighted average target and actusdtaalocations for the plans are as folla

December 31, 2013

Target Actual
Diversified fixed income 23% 12%
Domestic equity securities 21 14
Non-U.S. developed equity securities 20 23
Alternative investments 19 21
Non-U.S. emerging equity securities 6 6
Hedge funds 5 6
Cash equivalents 5 14
High yield fixed income 1 4
Total 10C% 10C%

The overall asset mix of the portfolios is morevilgaveighted in equity-like investments. Active maegement strategies are utilized where
feasible in an effort to realize investment retumexcess of market indices. As part of thesdestias, we are required to hold increased
amounts of cash collateral associated with cedaiivative investments. We use derivatives insti#fatblding the underlying securities to
mitigate certain risks and facilitate asset allmsat
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Benefit Plan Assets Measured at Fair Value on a Reting Basis

Fair value is defined as an exit price, represegritie amount that would be received to sell antasgeaid to transfer a liability in an orde
transaction between market participants. Fair vedagemarket-based measurement that is determisetion assumptions that market
participants would use in pricing an asset or ligbi
» Level 1.0bservable inputs such as quoted prices in actadxets
« Level 2. Inputs, other than quoted prices in active markibat are observable either directly or indisedic

» Level 3. Unobservable inputs in which there is little ormarket data, which require the reporting entitdévelop its own assumptio

Assets and liabilities measured at fair value ased on the valuation techniques identified intéiides below. The valuation techniques are
as follows:

(a) Market approact. Prices and other relevant information generateshrrket transactions involving identical or congide assets or
liabilities; and

(b) Income approactTechniques to convert future amounts to a singteeativalue based on market expectations (inclughegent value
techniques, option-pricing and excess earnings tapde

Benefit Plan AssetBenefit plan assets relate to our defined benefispn plans and certain of our postemploymentfitgrians that are
funded through trusts. The following table shows loenefit plan assets by asset class. These ingatirare presented net of the related be
obligation in pension, postretirement and relateddfits on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

December 31, 2013 December 31, 2012
Valuation Valuation

(in millions) Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3  Technique Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3  Technique
Common stock

uU.S. $ 558 % 558 — 8 9 — () $ 57¢$ 57t — 8 — €)

Non-U.S. 1,26¢ 1,21¢ 53 — €) 927 88¢ 37 — €)
Mutual funds

U.S. 3 — 3 — €) 69 — 69 — €)

Non-U.S. 43 — 43 — (a) 12¢ — 12¢ — (a)

Non-U.S. emerging markets 327 — 327 — (@) 46€ — 46€ — (@

Diversified fixed income 21¢ — 21¢ — (a) 39C — 39C — (a)

High yield 34¢ — 34¢ —  (a)(b) 15% — 152 —  (a)b)
Commingled funds

U.S. 864 — 864 — €) 824 — 824 — (a)

Non-U.S. 782 — 782 — €) 68¢ — 68€ — €)

Non-U.S. emerging markets 31¢ — 31¢ — €) 17¢ — 17¢ — (a)

Diversified fixed income 68( — 68C — (a) 763 — 763 — (a)

High yield 98 — 39 59 €) 38 — 25 13 €)
Alternative investments

Private equity 1,36¢€ — — 1,36¢ (a)(b) 1,46¢€ — — 1,46¢ (a)(b)

Real estate and natural resources 68¢ — — 68¢  (a)(b) 613 — — 61:  (a)(b)
Hedge Funds 552 — — 55z  (a)(b) 484 — — 484  (a)(b)
Fixed income 15t — 15t —  (a)b) 572 — 572 —  (a)(b)
Cash equivalents and other 1,61( 28 1,582 — €) 81¢ 77 741 — €)
Total benefit plan assets $ 9,88( $ 1,802 $ 541 $ 2,66 $ 9,15( $ 1,53¢ $ 5,03t $ 2,57¢
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Common StoclkCommon stock is valued at the closing price repoote the active market on which the individual séigs are traded.

Mutual and Commingled Fundhese funds are valued using the net asset vahigediby the number of shares outstanding, which is
based on quoted market prices of the underlyingtassvned by the fund.

Alternative Investment3he valuation of alternative investments requiigaificant judgment due to the absence of quotetketgrices as
well as the inherent lack of liquidity and the letegm nature of these assets. Accordingly, thesetasire generally classified in Level 3.
Alternative investments include private equity | restate, energy and timberland. Investments dreedébased on valuation models where one
or more of the significant inputs into the modehieat be observed and which require the developofessumptions. We also assess the
potential for adjustment to the fair value of theseestments due to the lag in the availabilitydafa. In these cases, we solicit preliminary
valuation updates at year-end from the investmemtagers and use that information and corroborak@tg from public markets to determine
any needed adjustments to estimate fair value.

Fixed Incomelnvestments include corporate bonds, government$arollateralized mortgage obligations and otlsseibacked securiti¢
These investments are generally valued at theriie pr the average of the bid and ask price. Bréze based on pricing models, quoted price
of securities with similar characteristics, or beokjuotes.

Hedge FundsOur hedge fund investments are primarily made tiinashares of limited partnerships or similar sttes for which a liquid
secondary market does not exist. Hedge funds arsidered Level 3 assets. Hedge funds are valuedhtydsy a third-party administrator that
has been appointed by the fund's general partner.

Foreign Currency Derivative©ur foreign currency derivatives consist of variémsvard contracts and are valued based on datilyea
observable in public markets.

Cash Equivalents and Othérhese investments primarily consist of short temeestment funds which are valued using the net asdee.
Cash is not included in the table above.

Changes in Level T he following table shows the changes in our bepédin assets classified in Level 3:

Commingled

(in millions) Private Equity Real Estate Hedge Funds Funds Total
Balance at January 1, 2012 $ 1517 $ 527 $ 43z $ 11 $ 2,481
Actual return on plan assets:

Related to assets still held at the reporting date — (11 50 2 41

Related to assets sold during the period 44 8 9 — 43
Purchases, sales and settlements, net (95) 89 2 — (8
Transfers from Level 3 — — 13 — 13
Balance at December 31, 2012 1,46¢ 613 484 13 2,57¢
Actual return on plan assets:

Related to assets still held at the reporting date 98 61 49 2 21C

Related to assets sold during the period 64 19 — — 83
Purchases, sales and settlements, net (262) (5) 19 44 (209)
Transfers to Level 3 — — — — —
Balance at December 31, 2013 $ 1,36€ $ 68¢ $ 552 $ 58 $ 2,66¢

Other

We also sponsor defined benefit pension plansligibée employees in certain foreign countries. 3&@lans did not have a material impac
on our Consolidated Financial Statements in anipgeresented.

Profit Sharing Program
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Our broad based employee profit sharing programiges that, for each year in which we have an anmgatax profit, as defined, we will
pay a specified portion of that profit to employeear the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012@ht, we accrued $506 million , $372
million and $264 million under the profit sharingpgram, respectively.
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NOTE 12 . INCOME TAXES

Income Tax Benefit (Provision

Our income tax benefit (provision) consisted of thiéowing:

Year Ended December 31,

(in millions) 2013 2012 2011
Current tax benefit (provision):
Federal 24 $ — % 91
State and local 3 15 (6)
International 1 (14) 2
Deferred tax provision:
Federal 7,197 (4) 2
State and local 794 (13 —
Income tax benefit (provision) 8,01 $ (16) $ 85

The following table presents the principal reasimnghe difference between the effective tax rate the U.S. federal statutory income tax

rate:

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
U.S. federal statutory income tax rate 35.C% 35.C% 35.C%
State taxes 3.C 3.8 3.4
Other (0.9) 4.C 3.7
37.€ 422 34.7
Decrease in valuation allowance (367.5) (40.9) (45.7)
Income tax allocation 12.7 — —
Effective income tax rate (317.29% 1.5% (11.0%

Deferred Taxes

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effe¢eofporary differences between the carrying amooihéssets and liabilities for financial
reporting and income tax purposes. The followirgaahows significant components of our deferredatssets and liabilities:

(in millions)

December 31,
2013 2012

Deferred tax assets:

Net operating loss carryforwards

Pension, postretirement and other benefits
AMT credit carryforward

Deferred revenue

Other

Valuation allowance

$ 6,02¢ $ 6,41¢

4,98: 6,41°
37¢ 40z
1,96¢ 2,13:
69¢€ 881

(177 (10,969

Total deferred tax assets

$ 13,87( $ 5,28:

Deferred tax liabilities:
Depreciation
Intangible assets
Other

$ 4,79¢ $ 4,851
1,70¢ 1,73C
63¢ 28t

Total deferred tax liabilities

$ 7,142 $ 6,86¢
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The following table shows the current and noncurdaferred tax assets (liabilities):

December 31,

(in millions) 2013 2012

Current deferred tax assets, net $ 1,73€ $ 462
Noncurrent deferred tax assets (liabilities), net 4,99 (2,047
Total deferred tax assets (liabilities), net $ 6,72¢ $ (1,589

The current and noncurrent components of our dedetax balances are generally based on the baddweet classification of the asset or
liability creating the temporary difference. If tdeferred tax asset or liability is not based @omponent of our balance sheet, such as our ne
operating loss (“NOL") carryforwards, the classifion is presented based on the expected reveatabtithe temporary difference. Our
valuation allowance has been allocated betweemicuar noncurrent based on the percentages ofrtianel noncurrent deferred tax assets to
total deferred tax assets.

At December 31, 2013, we had (1) $378 millionexfdral alternative minimum tax (“AMT") credit cafoywards, which do not expire and
(2) $15.3 billion of federal pretax NOL carryforwaar, which will not begin to expire until 2023 .

Valuation Allowance

We periodically assess whether it is more likegrtimot that we will generate sufficient taxableoime to realize our deferred income tax
assets. We establish valuation allowances ifribislikely we will realize our deferred income tagsets. In making this determination, we
consider all available positive and negative evigeand make certain assumptions. We consider, aotteg things, our future projections of
sustained profitability, deferred income tax lihak, the overall business environment, our hisédfinancial results, our industry's historice
cyclical financial results and potential currentidature tax planning strategies. We recorded lavhllation allowance in 2004 due to our
cumulative loss position at that time, compoundgthle negative industry-wide business trends aridaki At December 31, 2012, we had an
$11.0 billionvaluation allowance established against our deddrreome tax assets, which represented a full Wialuallowance against our 1
deferred income tax assets.

For 2012, we recorded a pre-tax profit of $1.0dmilland during 2012 we moved from a three-year dative loss position to a cumulative
income position for the first time since we eststidid the full valuation allowance. However gives itihdustry's recent history of significant
losses, we concluded as of December 31, 2012 tiotther year of significant profitability was neededsupport a release of valuation
allowance.

During 2013, we continued our trend of sustainedfifability, recording a pre-tax profit of $2.5 ldn for the year. During the December
2013 quarter, after considering all relevant fagtare concluded that our deferred income tax assetmore likely than not to be realized. In
evaluating the likelihood of utilizing our net defed net assets, the significant relevant factuas we considered are: (1) our recent history of
profitability; (2) growth in the U.S. and global@mwmies; (3) forecast of airline revenue trendse@timate of future fuel prices; and (5) future
impact of taxable temporary differences. Accordngt December 31, 2013, we released almost alliofaluation allowance against our net
deferred income tax assets, resulting in an $8iBrbbenefit in our provision for income taxes. Wave retained a valuation allowanceb@d7
million against capital loss carryforwards, as veslI$70 million against certain state and localatgey loss and credit carryforwards, due to
limited carryforward periods. In addition to taXwation allowance release of $8.3 billion , we melgal an income tax expense of $321 million
related to an income tax allocation as discussemhbheesulting in a net income tax benefit of $Billion in 2013.
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The following table shows the balance of our vabratllowance and the associated activity:

(in millions) 2013 2012 2011

Valuation allowance at beginning of period $ 10,96: $ 10,70¢ $ 9,63-
Income tax provision (975) (432 (35))
Other comprehensive income tax benefit (1,186 69C 1,241
ReleaséV (8,310 — —
Other (31%) — 183
Valuation allowance at end of peri6t $ 177 $ 10,96: $ 10,70t

@ In addition to tax valuation allowance release &B%billion , we recorded an income tax expensg3afl million related to an income tax allocatiordasussed below,
resulting in a net income tax benefit of $8.0 billiin 2013.

@ At December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, $13 milli$&.1 billion and $2.5 billion of deferred inconax expense was recorded in AOCI on our ConsolitiBeEance Sheets,
respectively.

Income Tax Allocation

We consider all income sources, including other p@hensive income, in determining the amount obexefit allocated to continuing
operations (the "Income Tax Allocation”). At thedesf 2013, we released our tax valuation allowaasaliscussed above. GAAP requires tha
the release of a valuation allowance be recogriizedrrent earnings, even when a portion of thateel deferred tax asset originated through
amounts recognized in AOCI. As a result, $1.9dmllbf income tax expense remains in AOCI, primarillated to pension obligations, and v
not be recognized in net income until the pensioligations are fully extinguished, which will notaur for approximately 25 years.

During 2009, as a result of the Income Tax Allomatiwe recorded a non-cash deferred income taxnsepef $321 million on other
comprehensive income as a result of hedge gaifiseblerivatives and an offsetting non-cash inceaxebenefit of $321 million . This
deferred income tax expense remained in AOCI afitdmounts in AOCI that related to fuel derivaswehich were designated as accounting
hedges were recognized in the Consolidated Statesfi€@perations. All of the remaining amounts hield\OCI for fuel derivatives previously
designated as hedges were reclassified to eardingsy 2013. As a result, an income tax expens8afi millionwas recognized in 2013 up
the settlement of the fuel derivative contractsglested as accounting hedges.

Uncertain Tax Positions
The amount of and changes to our uncertain taxiposiwere not material in any of the years presgnthe amount of unrecognized tax
benefits at the end of 2013, 2012 and 2011 wasy#iBion , $44 million and $22 million , respectiyelWe accrue interest and penalties relate

to unrecognized tax benefits in interest expensieoperating expense, respectively. Interest andlpes are not material in any period
presented.

We are currently under audit by the IRS for theafd 2012 tax years.
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NOTE 13 . EQUITY AND EQUITY COMPENSATION
Equity

We are authorized to issue 2.0 billion shares pitabhstock, of which up to 1.5 billion may be siasiof common stock, par value $0.0001
per share and up to 500 million may be sharesefeped stock.

Preferred StockWe may issue preferred stock in one or more seftes.Board of Directors is authorized (1) to fie thescriptions, powers
(including voting powers), preferences, rights, ldications, limitations and restrictions with resy to any series of preferred stock and (2) to
specify the number of shares of any series of piedestock. We have not issued any preferred stock.

Treasury StockWe generally withhold shares of Delta common stockover employees' portion of required tax witlods when
employee equity awards are issued or vest. Theseshre valued at cost, which equals the markeg pf the common stock on the date of
issuance or vesting. The weighted average costayes held in treasury was $14.31 and $14.24 Beoémber 31, 2013 and 2012 ,
respectively.

Equity-Based Compensation

Our broad based equity and cash compensation ptaidps for grants of restricted stock, stock amigperformance awards, including ¢
incentive awards and other equity-based awards'20@7 Plan"). Shares of common stock issued uti@eP007 Plan may be made available
from authorized but unissued common stock or comstock we acquire. If any shares of our commonkséwe covered by an award that is
canceled, forfeited or otherwise terminates witharlivery of shares (including shares surrenderedithheld for payment of the exercise pi
of an award or taxes related to an award), sucteshill again be available for issuance under2®@7 Plan. The 2007 Plan authorizes the
issuance of up to 157 million shares of commonkstés of December 31, 2013, there were 28 milBbares available for future grants.

We make long term incentive awards annually toildkgemployees under the 2007 Plan. Generally, @svagest over time, subject to the
employee's continued employment. Equity compensatipense for these awards is recognized in sslanié related costs over the employ
requisite service period (generally, the vestinggueof the award) and totaled $90 million , $54liom and $72 million for the years ended
December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 , respectivedyr&tlord expense on a straight-line basis for aswaith installment vesting. As of
December 31, 2013, unrecognized costs relatedvestied shares and stock options totaled $45 millwe expect substantially all unvested
awards to vest.

Restricted StockRestricted stock is common stock that may nctdde or otherwise transferred for a period of tianel is subject to
forfeiture in certain circumstances. The fair vatdieestricted stock awards is based on the clogiitg of the common stock on the grant date
As of December 31, 2013, there were seven milliovested restricted stock awards.

Stock OptionsStock options are granted with an exercise priegkp the closing price of Delta common stock loe grant date and
generally have a 10-year term. We determine thevédiie of stock options at the grant date usinggtion pricing model. As of December 31,
2013, there were eight million outstanding stopkian awards with a weighted average exercise @fi¢11.80 , and seven million were
exercisable.

Performance Share®erformance shares are long-term incentive oppitigarwhich are payable in common stock or cashaaedyenerally
contingent upon our achieving certain financiallgoa

Other.There was no tax benefit recognized in 2013, 28¥12011 related to equity-based compensation ab ealuation allowance was
recorded against our deferred tax assets due tanitertainty regarding the ultimate realizatioritafse assets. At December 31, 2013, we
released almost all of our valuation allowance gfaour net deferred income tax assets. For méoenration regarding our income taxes, see
Note 12.
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NOTE 14 . ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (L OSS)

The following table shows the components of accateal other comprehensive income (loss):

Pension and Other Derivative

(in millions) Benefits Liabilities Contracts @ Total

Balance at January 1, 2011 $ (3,270 $ (307) $ (3,57¢)
Changes in value (net of tax effect of $0) (3,062) 5 (3,057
Reclassification into earnings (net of tax effefc$0) 41 (172) (131
Balance at December 31, 2011 (6,297) (479 (6,766
Changes in value (net of tax effect of $0) (2,177) 19€¢ (1,975
Reclassification into earnings (net of tax effefc$0) 14¢ 15 164
Balance at December 31, 2012 (8,319 (263) (8,577)
Changes in value (net of tax effect of $0) 2,741 29¢ 3,031
Reclassification into earnings (net of tax effec$821) 224 18¢€ 41C
Balance at December 31, 2013 $ (5,349 $ 21¢ $ (5,130

@ Included $321 million of deferred income tax exgetigat remained in AOCI until 2013 when all amount8OCI that related to fuel derivatives desigibas accounting
hedges were recognized in the Consolidated Statemh@perations.

NOTE 15 . GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION

Operating segments, airline and refinery, are eefias components of an enterprise whose separatecial information is regularly
reviewed by the chief operating decision maker@setl in resource allocation and performance assggsm

Our airline segment is managed as a single busuresthat provides air transportation for passes@ad cargo. This allows us to benefit
from an integrated revenue pricing and route ndtwOur flight equipment forms one fleet, which spibyed through a single route schedu
system. When making resource allocation decisiomschief operating decision maker evaluates fliglofitability data, which considers
aircraft type and route economics, but gives nateto the financial impact of the resource all@ratlecision on an individual carrier basis.
Our objective in making resource allocation decisits to optimize our consolidated financial result

Our refinery segment operates for the benefit efainline segment. The revenues of the refinetiynamily consisting of fuel sales to the
airline, have been eliminated in the Consolidatedicial Statements. For more information regardingrefinery and segment information,
see Note 2 .

Operating revenue is assigned to a specific gebgrapgion based on the origin, flight path andtidesion of each flight segment. Our
operating revenue by geographic region (as definyetthe United States Department of Transportati®symmarized in the following table:

Year Ended December 31,

(in millions) 2013 2012 2011

Domestic $ 24,857 $ 23,98¢ $ 22,72:
Atlantic 6,44¢ 6,32¢ 6,48¢
Pacific 4,08¢ 4,19¢ 3,64¢
Latin America 2,38¢ 2,15¢ 2,26:
Total $ 37,77 $ 36,67( $ 35,11¢

Our tangible assets consist primarily of flight guent, which is mobile across geographic mark&tsordingly, assets are not allocated tc
specific geographic regions.
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NOTE 16 . RESTRUCTURING AND OTHER ITEMS

The following table shows amounts recorded in vestring and other items on our Consolidated Statgsof Operations:

Year Ended December 31,

(in millions) 2013 2012 2011

Facilities, fleet and other $ 402 $ 29¢ % 13t
Severance and related costs — 237 10C
Routes and slots (See Note 6) — (78) 7
Total restructuring and other items $ 40z $ 452 $ 242

Facilities, Fleet and OtherWe recorded restructuring charges of $402 mildkad $293 million during 2013 and 2012 primariliated to
our fleet restructuring initiative. Under the fleestructuring initiative, we are focused on remgvolder, less efficient aircraft from our fleet
and replacing them with B-737-900ER, B-717-200 @Rl-900 aircraft that we have committed to acqdihe 2013 and 2012 restructuring
charges are related to older, retiring aircraftiuding remaining lease payments for grounded afi,.cthe acceleration of aircraft depreciation
and lease return costs and related equipment dilspdss an extension of our fleet restructuringidtive and our desire to reduce the numb
regional jets in our network, we shut down the afiens of Comair, a wholly-owned regional airlingsidiary, as of September 29, 2012. The
restructuring charges in 2012 also include amoasgsciated with the closure of Comair.

During 2011, we recorded charges related to cahestidin of facilities and certain aircraft that weeenoved from our operations.

An important component of the fleet restructurinijiative is to reduce 50-seat CRJ aircraft, whach our least fuel efficient aircraft and
have the lowest customer satisfaction ratings. Yé¢d¢aageting a fleet size of 100 to 125 aircratin the next two years. Our current fleet
includes aircraft we lease and aircraft that arerajed for us by regional carriers that own ordegiscraft through third parties. As part of the
reduction, we will retire a significant portion tife fleet that is leased by us. We expect to castio recognize material restructuring charges
as we retire the leased aircraft for the remaimibligations under the leases. Although many faatotdd change over the next two years, we
currently estimate that future charges will be lEetw $200 million to $300 million , in addition foet $107 milliorrecorded in 2013. The timil
and amount of these charges will depend on a nupflfactors, including our final negotiations widgssors, the timing of removing aircraft
from service and the ultimate disposition of aifcnacluded in the fleet restructuring program. é\I$o accelerate the restructuring of the fleet,
we may park a portion of the fleet on a temporasi®until contracts for aircraft flying under caut carrier agreements expire. The
temporarily parked aircraft will be returned to\see as aircraft flying under these expiring agreats exit the fleet. We will continue to incur
operating lease expense for these temporarily paakeraft. As a result of restructuring the flegg expect to benefit from improved
operational and fuel efficiency, customer servied eeduced future maintenance cost that we wilkeepce over the life of the new aircraft.

Severance and Related CosBuring 2012, we recognized a severance char§2®f million , which included $116 million of spati
termination benefits (see Note 11 ). We offerediatdry severance programs in which more than 2¢0@8loyees elected to participate. These
participants became eligible for retiree healthdzeefits. Also, we accrued $66 million in severand related costs in 2012 to provide
severance benefits to Comair's 1,700 employeeseasased operations at the carrier.

During 2011, we recorded charges associated piimaith voluntary workforce reduction programs t@a staffing with expected future
capacity.

Gain on Slot Exchang®uring December 2011, we closed transactions withAlifways where we received takeoff and landingptsgeact
a "slot pair") at LaGuardia in exchange for slarpat Reagan National. In approving these traimastthe Department of Transportation
restricted our use of the exchanged slots. We decba $78 million deferred gain in December 201&./4¢tognized this deferred gain in 2012
as the restrictions lapsed.
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The following table shows the balances and actifatyrestructuring charges:

Severance and Related Costs Lease Restructuring
(in millions) 2013 2012 2011 2013 2012 2011
Liability at beginning of period $ 49 $ 46 $ 20 % 77 $ 64 $ 85
Additional costs and expenses — 12¢ 10C 114 45 —
Other 3 — — 5) — —
Payments (46) (129 (74) (18) (32 (22)
Liability at end of period $ — 3 43 $ 46 $ 16€ $ 77 % 64

NOTE 17 . EARNINGS PER SHARE

We calculate basic earnings per share by dividiegiet income by the weighted average number ohwmmshares outstanding, excluding
restricted shares. The following table shows ounatation of basic and diluted earnings per share:

Year Ended December 31,

(in millions, except per share data) 2013 2012 2011

Net income $ 10,54C $ 1,00¢ $ 854
Basic weighted average shares outstanding 84¢ 84t 83¢
Dilutive effects of share based awards 9 5 6
Diluted weighted average shares outstanding 85¢ 85C 844
Basic earnings per share $ 1241 $ 1.2C $ 1.0z
Diluted earnings per share $ 122¢ % 1.1¢ $ 1.01
Antidilutive common stock equivalents excluded frdituted earnings per share 8 18 17

92




NOTE 18 . OTHER INVESTMENTS
Endeavor Acquisitior

In May 2013, Endeavor (formerly Pinnacle Airlindisc.) emerged from bankruptcy and we became its sainer pursuant to a confirn
plan of reorganization. Consideration for our asiigin of Endeavor totaled $30 milligrprimarily consisting of previous loans and adwe
we made to Endeavor. The primary assets acquirddiailities assumed related to 16 CRJ-900 aitaréth a fair value of $270 milliomnc
related debt of $240 million on the date of acdigsi These aircraft and 1@8her aircraft leased by Endeavor were alreadeimise to Delte
accordingly, our capacity was unaffected by theugition.

Transatlantic Joint Venture With Virgin Atlantic

In June 2013, we purchased 49% of Virgin Atlardi@rivately held London-based airline, from Singapéirlines for $360 million . In
addition, we entered into a collaborative arranggmgth Virgin Atlantic on non-stop routes betwetie United Kingdom and North America.
In September 2013, the U.S. Department of Tranapor granted antitrust immunity on these routdétedtive January 1, 2014, we began our
immunized collaborative arrangement, which alloarsjbint marketing and sales, coordinated pricing eevenue management, networking
planning and scheduling with respect to operatamsoutes between North America and the United Hamg. As a result of this relationship,
our customers have increased access and frequéntieadon's Heathrow airport from points in theSU primarily from our hub at New
York's JFK airport.

We account for the investment under the equity ogkthf accounting and recognize our portion of Mirgitlantic's results in other expense
in our Consolidated Statements of Operations. Asgfaquity method of accounting, we allocateditheestment in Virgin Atlantic to (1) our
portion of their equity, (2) adjustments in ther faiarket value of assets and liabilities and (lied goodwill. Our share of Virgin Atlantic's
equity was approximately $60 million ; accordinglye majority of the allocation was to the fairu@lof indefinite-lived intangible assets and
implied goodwiill.
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NOTE 19 . DIVIDEND AND SHARE REPURCHASE

In May 2013, we announced a plan to return more $iabillion to shareholders over the next thregrgeAs part of this plan, our Board of

Directors initiated a quarterly dividend prograndateclared a $0.06 per share dividend for sharemlof record as of August 9, 2013 and
November 6, 201. These dividends were paid in September 2013 aveidber 2013 and each totaled $51 million . In @aidi the Board of
Directors authorized a $500 million share repureh@®gram, to be completed no later than June@®0§ 2During the year ended
December 31, 2013, we repurchased and retireazippately 10 million shares at a cost of approxieha$250 million . On February 7,
2014 , the Board of Directors declared a $0.06déind for shareholders of record on February 2142@hd payable on March 14, 2014 .

NOTE 20 . QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED)

The following table summarizes our unaudited rasoftoperations on a quarterly basis. The quargaiyings (loss) per share amounts
year will not add to the earnings per share fot ylear due to the weighting of shares used in tatiog per share dat

Three Months Ended

(in millions, except per share data) March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31
2013

Operating revenue 8,50C $ 9,707 $ 10,49C $ 9,07¢
Operating income 222 914 1,56: 701
Net income 7 68t 1,36¢ 8,47¢
Basic earnings per share 0.01 $ 0.81 $ 161 $ 10.0z2
Diluted earnings per share 0.01 % 0.8C $ 15¢ $ 9.8¢
2012

Operating revenue 8,41: $ 9,732 $ 9,92: $ 8,60:
Operating income 382 134 1,30¢ 352
Net income (loss) 124 (16€) 1,047 7
Basic earnings (loss) per share 0.1t $ (0.20 $ 124 $ 0.01
Diluted earnings (loss) per share 0.1t $ 0.20) $ 12t $ 0.01

The following are included in the results above:
Three Months Ended

(in millions) March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31
2013

Facilities, fleet and other $ (102) $ (39 % (128 $ (160
MTM adjustments 24 (12%) 28t 92
Release of tax valuation allowance — — — 7,98¢
Total income (loss) $ (78) $ (159 $ 157 $ 7,921
2012

Severance and related cost $ — $ (171) $ (66) $ —
Facilities, fleet and other 27) (22 (122 (122
Gain on slot exchange 3¢9 — 39 —
Loss on extinguishment of debt — — (12 (10€)
MTM adjustments 151 (561) 44C 3
Total income (loss) $ 16: $ (754 $ 27¢ $ (231)
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTAN TS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, including our Chief Executive @ffiand Chief Financial Officer, performed an eviabraof our disclosure controls and
procedures, which have been designed to permd texbrd, process, summarize and report, withie fi@riods specified by the SEC's rules
and forms, information required to be disclosedr @anagement, including our Chief Executive Offiaad Chief Financial Officer, conclud
that the controls and procedures were effectivef @ecember 31, 2011® ensure that material information was accumulateticommunicate
to our management, including our Chief Executivdef and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriaieatlow timely decisions regarding
required disclosure.

Changes in Internal Control

During the three months ended December 31, 20¥3disvnot make any changes in our internal comivel financial reporting that have
materially affected, or are reasonably likely totenglly affect, our internal control over finantiaporting.

Management's Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and taigiimg adequate internal control over financiglaring, as such term is defined in
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Securkieshange Act of 1934. Our internal control ovegfigial reporting is designed to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliabilitynaiicial reporting and the preparation of finansiatements for external purposes in
accordance with accounting principles generallyepted in the United States of America.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or @étaisstatements. Projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods agject to the risk that controls may become inadegibecause of changes in conditions, or
the degree of compliance with the policies may ritatate.

Management conducted an evaluation of the effautige of our internal control over financial repugtas of December 31, 2013 using the
criteria issued by the Committee of Sponsoring @izgtions of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in1882 Internal Control-Integrated
Framework. Based on that evaluation, managemeigvies| that our internal control over financial repm was effective as of December 31,
2013.

The effectiveness of our internal control over fioi@al reporting as of December 31, 2013 has beditealby Ernst & Young LLP, an

independent registered public accounting firm, Whatso audited our Consolidated Financial Statesniemtthe year ended December 31,
2013 . Ernst & Young LLP's report on our internahtrol over financial reporting is set forth below.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL
REPORTING

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Delta Air Lines, Inc.

We have audited Delta Air Lines, Inc.'s internahizol over financial reporting as of December 3212, based on criteria establishe«
Internal Controlintegrated Framework issued by the Committee oinSpong Organizations of the Treadway Commissid@®plframework
(the COSO criteria). Delta Air Lines, Inc.'s managat is responsible for maintaining effective intdrcontrol over financial reporting, and
its assessment of the effectiveness of internafrebover financial reporting included in the acqmmying Management's Annual Repor
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our resgibility is to express an opinion on the Compsiryternal control over financial report
based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stadsd of the Public Company Accounting Oversight lBo@United States). Tho
standards require that we plan and perform thetdodbbtain reasonable assurance about whethectigeinternal control over financ
reporting was maintained in all material respe€ar audit included obtaining an understanding ¢érimal control over financial reportir
assessing the risk that a material weakness etésting and evaluating the design and operatifertfeness of internal control based on
assessed risk, and performing such other procedigege considered necessary in the circumstancesbéleve that our audit provide
reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company's internal control over financial repogtiis a process designed to provide reasonableamesuregarding the reliability
financial reporting and the preparation of finahsiatements for external purposes in accordanttegenerally accepted accounting princig
A company's internal control over financial repogtincludes those policies and procedures thapéttfpin to the maintenance of records
in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reftbet transactions and dispositions of the assetseofompany; (2) provide reasonable assui
that transactions are recorded as necessary toitpgraparation of financial statements in accor@amdgth generally accepted accoun
principles, and that receipts and expenditureshef dompany are being made only in accordance withosizations of management :
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasanalssurance regarding prevention or timely deteatiounauthorized acquisition, use
disposition of the company's assets that could hawaterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or détmisstatements. Also, projections of
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods atgexct to the risk that controls may become inadégjbecause of changes in conditions, o
the degree of compliance with the policies or pdoces may deteriorate.

In our opinion, Delta Air Lines, Inc. maintained,all material respects, effective internal contreér financial reporting as @fecember 3:
2013, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasdz the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@snited States), the consolida
balance sheets of Delta Air Lines, Inc. as of Ddoen31, 2013 and 2012and the related consolidated statements of dpasatcomprehensi
income (loss), stockholders' equity (deficit), azash flows for each of the three years in the peeinded December 31, 20d8 Delta Ait
Lines, Inc. and our report dated February 21, 28dptessed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Atlanta, Georgia /sl Ernst & Young LLP
February 21, 2014
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ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
None.
PART III
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORAT E GOVERNANCE OF THE REGISTRANT
Information required by this item is set forth unttee headings “Governance Matters,” “ProposaElection of Directors - Certain
Information About Nominees” and “Other Matters cBen 16 Beneficial Ownership Reporting Complianaebur Proxy Statement to be filed
with the Commission related to our Annual Meetifiggtockholders (“Proxy Statement”), and is incogied by reference. Pursuant to

instruction 3 to paragraph (b) of Item 401 of Regioh S-K, certain information regarding executdféicers is contained in Part | of this Form
10-K.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Information required by this item is set forth untlee headings “Corporate Governance Matters - @Gorsgtion Committee Interlocks and
Insider Participation,” “Executive Compensation'ddibirector Compensation” in our Proxy Statemerd &nincorporated by reference.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL O WNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Corpensation Plans

The following table provides information about thember of shares of common stock that may be issnddr the 2007 Plan, Delta's c
equity compensation plan, as of December 31, 2013 .

(c) No. of Securities

(a) No. of Securitiesto  (b) Weighted- Remaining Available for
be Issued Upon Average Exercise Future Issuance Under
Exercise of Price of Outstanding Equity Compensation Plans
Outstanding Options, Options, Warrants (Excluding Securities
Plan Category Warrants and Rights and Rights Reflected in Column (a))®
Equity compensation plans approved by securitiédens 7,089,55 $ 11.0Z 27,826,43
Equity compensation plans not approved by secarit@ders — — —
Total 7,089,55! $ 11.0Z 27,826,43

@ Up to 157 million shares of common stock are abédldor issuance under the 2007 Plan. If any shafresr common stock are covered by an award utiée2007 Plan that
is canceled, forfeited or otherwise terminates auitrdelivery of shares (including shares surrergierenithheld for payment of the exercise pricenfaward or taxes related
to an award), then such shares will again be aveaifar issuance under the 2007 Plan. In additothé 7,089,555 stock options outstanding, 6,785sB2res of restricted
stock remain unvested and a maximum of 1,806,38¢eslof common stock may be issued upon the achineof certain performance conditions under ontitay
performance share awards as of December 31, 2013 .

Other information required by this item is set lfiounder the heading “Beneficial Ownership of Sd@s’ in our Proxy Statement and is
incorporated by reference.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACT IONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE
Information required by this item is set forth unttee headings “Governance Matters,” “Executive @ensation - Post-Employment

Compensation - Other Benefits - Pre-Existing MeldRenefits Agreement with Northwest” and “Propos$al Election of Directors” in our
Proxy Statement and is incorporated by reference.
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ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

Information required by this item is set forth unttee heading “Proposal 3 - Ratification of the Appgment of Independent Auditors” in
our Proxy Statement and is incorporated by refexenc

PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(a) (). The following is an index of the financ&htements required by this item that are includetis Form 10-K:

Report of Independent Registered Public AccourfEinm

Consolidated Balance Sheets— December 31, 2013Gi®i

Consolidated Statements of Operations for the yeraded December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Incomssjlfor the years ended December 31, 2013 , 20d 2@hl
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the ysaded December 31, 2013 , 2012 and 2011
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' (Defigifiity for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2022011
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(2). The schedule required by this item is inclu@fetllotes 12 and 1® the Consolidated Financial Statements. All ofireancial stateme
schedules are not required or are inapplicablelzr@fore have been omitted.

(3). The exhibits required by this item are listedhe Exhibit Index to this Form 1K- The management contracts and compensatory
or arrangements required to be filed as an extdlihis Form 10-K are listed as Exhibits 10.9(aptigh 10.26 in the Exhibit Index.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 18fdfe Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused this report tc
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereduatyp authorized, on the 21st day of February 2014 .

DELTA AIR LINES, INC.

By: /s/ Richard H. Anderson
Richard H. Anderson
Chief Executive Officer
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Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed belowhe 21st day of February 20y
the following persons on behalf of the registramd & the capacities indicated.

Signature

Title

/s/ Richard H. Anderson

Richard H. Anderson

/s/ Paul A. Jacobson

Paul A. Jacobson

/sl Craig M. Meynard

Craig M. Meynard

/s/ Edward H. Bastian

Edward H. Bastian

/sl Roy J. Bostock

Roy J. Bostock

/s/ John S. Brinzo

John S. Brinzo

/sl Daniel A. Carp

Daniel A. Carp

/s/ David G. DeWalt

David G. DeWalt

/s/ William H. Easter Il

William H. Easter I

/sl Mickey P. Foret

Mickey P. Foret

Is! Shirley C. Franklin

Shirley C. Franklin

/s/ David R. Goode

David R. Goode

/sl George N. Mattson

George N. Mattson

/sl Paula Rosput Reynolds

Paula Rosput Reynolds

/sl Kenneth C. Rogers

Kenneth C. Rogers

/s Kenneth B. Woodrow

Kenneth B. Woodrow

Chief Executive Officer and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Office
(Principal Financial Officer)

Vice President and Chief Accounting Officer (Pradi Accounting
Officer)

President and Director

Director

Director

Chairman of the Board

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Note to Exhibits: Any representations and warranties of a partyas#t in any agreement (including all exhibits authedules thereto) file
with this Annual Report on Form 10-K have been msalely for the benefit of the other party to tlygeement. Some of those representation:s
and warranties were made only as of the date cdigheement or such other date as specified ingfeement, may be subject to a contractual
standard of materiality different from what mayvewed as material to stockholders, or may have lnsed for the purpose of allocating risk
between the parties rather than establishing nsattefacts. Such agreements are included withiilihig only to provide investors with
information regarding the terms of the agreemearid, not to provide investors with any other facturadisclosure information regarding the
registrant or its business.

3.1 Delta's Certificate of Incorporation (FiledEghibit 3.1 to Delta's Current Report on ForrK &s filed on April 30, 2007)
3.2 Delta's By-Laws (Filed as Exhibit 3.1 to D&t@urrent Report on Formi8-as filed on May 22, 2008)

Delta is not filing any instruments evidencing amyebtedness because the total amount of secuaitif®rized under any single such
instrument does not exceed 10% of the total asddelta and its subsidiaries on a consolidatedi®aSopies of such instruments will be
furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commisgion reques!

10.1 Credit and Guaranty Agreement, dated as of 2p, 2011, among Delta Air Lines, Inc., as Bavar, the subsidiaries of the Borrower
named as Guarantors, each of the several Lenaenstime to time party thereto, JPMorgan Chase BHnk,, as administrative agent
for the Lenders, J.P. Morgan Securities LLC, GoldrBachs Lending Partners LLC, UBS Securities LLaxcBys Capital, the
investment banking division of Barclays Bank PL@ &merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorpordtas joint lead arrangers,
J.P. Morgan Securities LLC, Barclays Capital, Gdigp Global Markets Inc., Credit Suisse AG, Cayrsd@nds Branch, Deutsche
Bank Securities Inc., Goldman Sachs Lending PastnérC, Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Inparated, Morgan Stanley
Senior Funding, Inc. and UBS Securities LLC, amtjbookrunners, Goldman Sachs Lending Partners, ahdCUBS Securities LLC,
as co-syndication agents, and Barclays Bank an#t BeBAmerica, N.A., as co-documentation agentse@as Exhibit 10.1 to Delta's
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter entlete 30, 2011).*

10.2 Credit and Guaranty Agreement, dated as tdlfec 18, 2012, among Delta Air Lines, Inc., asrBoer, the subsidiaries of the
Borrower named as Guarantors, each of the severaldrs party thereto, Barclays Bank PLC, as adtratiige agent, Wilmington
Trust, National Association, as Collateral Trusfeeutsche Bank Securities Inc. and UBS Securitlgs,las Co-Syndication Agents,
Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporataad Citigroup Global Markets Inc., as co-documeoteagents, Barclays Bank
PLC, Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorpted, Citigroup Global Markets Inc., Deutsche B&ekurities Inc., and UBS
Securities LLC, as joint lead arrangers, and BgscBank PLC, BNP Paribas Securities Corp, Merihth, Pierce, Fenner & Smith
Incorporated, Citigroup Global Markets Inc., Creslitisse Securities (USA) LLC, Deutsche Bank Seiesrinc., Goldman Sachs Be
USA, J.P. Morgan Securities LLC, Morgan Stanleyi&eRunding, Inc. and UBS Securities LLC, as jdinbkrunners.

10.3 Transaction Framework Agreement among DBkdta Master Executive Council, Northwest Masteeéixive Council and Air Line
Pilots Association, International dated as of J26e2008 (Filed as Exhibit 10 to Delta's Quarté&tport on Form 1@ for the quarte
ended June 30, 2008).*

10.4  Letter Agreement, dated April 14, 2008, by and agbelta Air Lines, Inc., the Master Executive Coilin€ Delta, and Air Line Pilot
Association, International dated April 14, 2008€Hias Exhibit 10.2 to Delta's Quarterly Reporfranm 10-Q for the quarter ended
June 30, 2008).*

10.5 Anchor Tenant Agreement dated as of Dece@d2010 between JFK International Air Terminal La@d Delta Air Lines, Inc. (Filed
as Exhibit 10.4 to Delta's Annual Report on ForreKlfor the year ended December 31, 2010).*

10.6 Supplemental Agreement No. 13 to Purchasedxgent Number 2022, dated August 24, 2011, betiwkerBoeing Company and
Delta relating to Boeing Model 737NG Aircraft (tt#-737NG Purchase Agreement”) (Filed as Exhibitll{d Delta's Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended SepteB®e2011).*/**

10.7 Letter Agreements, dated August 24, 201 atirg) to the B-737NG Purchase Agreement (Filedxdstit 10.2 to Delta's Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended Septe@®e2011).*/**
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10.8(a) Aircraft General Terms Agreement, datetb@er 21, 1997, between Boeing and Delta (FileBxdsbit 10.6 to Delta's Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended Decerdbgt 997).*/**

10.8(b) Letter Agreement, dated August 24, 20&lhting to Revisions to Aircraft General Terms Agrent dated October 21, 1997 and the
B-737NG Purchase Agreement (Filed as Exhibit 10.8(lDelta's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for thuarter ended September 30,
2011).%/**

10.9(a) Delta Air Lines, Inc. 2007 Performance @emsation Plan (Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Delta'sréut Report on Form 8-K filed on
March 22, 2007).*

10.9(b) First Amendment to the Delta Air Lines, Inc. 200atflermance Compensation Plan (Filed as Exhibit2@J)1to Delta's Annual Repc
on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2608).

10.9(c) Form of Delta 2007 Performance Compensation Plaardvhgreement for Officers (Filed as Exhibit 1001xelta's Current Report
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EXHIBIT 10.15

DELTA AIR LINES, INC.
2014 LONG-TERM INCENTIVE PROGRAM

1. Purpose.The 2014 Long-Term Incentive Program (th2014 LTIP ") is a long term incentive program sponsored by |
Air Lines, Inc. (“Delta” or the “Company ") that is intended to closely: (a) link pay and perfance by providing managem
employees with a compensation opportunity basedelta achieving key business objectives and (Ijnathe interests
management employees with the Company’s other greetoand stakeholders.

The 2014 LTIP is being adopted under the DeltalAies, Inc. 2007 Performance Compensation Pl&007 Performance Pla
"). It is subject to the terms of the 2007 Perfonca Plan and an individual's 2014 LTIP Award Agresm (* Award
Agreement”).

Capitalized terms that are used but not definettien2014 LTIP shall have the meaning ascribedeémtin the 2007 Performar
Plan. For purposes of the 2014 LTIP, the defingioh“ Good Reason” and “ Retirement” as set forth in the 2007 Performa
Plan are hereby replaced or modified under Se@&ibelow, and shall apply as set forth in Sectidn Beu of the definitions ¢
these terms in the 2007 Performance Plan or asfieddas applicable.

2. Plan Administration . (a) The Personnel & Compensation Committee oBth&rd of Directors (the Committee”) shall be
responsible for the general administration andrimegation of the 2014 LTIP and for carrying owt fitrovisions. The Committ
shall have such powers as may be necessary toadigcits duties hereunder, including, without lati@n, the following powe
and duties, but subject to the terms of the 201#PLT

() authority to construe and interpret the terms ef2014 LTIP, and to determine eligibility, awardwl ahe
amount, manner and time of payment of any awarc=uneler;

(i)  authority to prescribe forms and procedures foppses of the 2014 LTIP participation and distribatot
awards; and

(iii) authority to adopt rules and regulations and te tsich actions as it deems necessary or desi@bike
proper administration of the 2014 LTIP.

(b)  Any rule or decision by the Committee that is notansistent with the provisions of the 2014 LTIRilklbe
conclusive and binding on all persons, and shafliben the maximum deference permitted by law.

(c) Notwithstanding anything contained in the 2007 &enfance Plan to the contrary, the Committee stwdlhave th
authority to increase or decrease the actual pagbany Performance Award (as defined below) girtte any Participa
pursuant to Section 4(b) hereunder.

3. Individual Award Agreements. Any person offered an Award under the 2014 LTIH b required to sign an individt
Award Agreement. Execution by such person of hisi@r Award Agreement will be a prerequisite to &ffectiveness of tt
Award under the 2014 LTIP and to the persamécoming a Participant in the 2014 LTIP. The teamd conditions of any Awe
Agreement, if contrary to the terms of the 2014 R,T8hall govern the rights of the correspondindi&pant.




4.

Awards.

(@)

Restricted Stock.

() Award Grant. A Participant may receive Restricted Stock as $igelcin the Participans Award Agreemei

(the “Restricted Stock”).

(i) Grant Date. The Grant Date of the Restricted Stock will be dateed by the Committee in accorda

with the Company’s Equity Award Grant Policy, asefffiect from time to time, and set forth in a Rap@ant's Awarc
Agreement.

(i)  Restrictions Until the restrictions imposed by this Section 4¢ag “ Restrictions”) have lapsed pursu:

to Section 4(a)(iv), (v) or (vi) below, a Particigawill not be permitted to sell, exchange, assigansfer, pledge
otherwise dispose of the Restricted Stock and #striRted Stock will be subject to forfeiture asfeeth below.

(iv)  Lapse of Restrictioa€ontinued EmploymentSubject to the terms of the 2007 Performance Piaintlae

2014 LTIP, the Restrictions shall lapse and be mffurther force or effect with respect to oméd of the Shares
Restricted Stock on each of the following dateg: EAbruary 1, 2015 (First RS Installment ”), (B) February 1, 2016 (*
Second RS Installment) and (C) February 1, 2017 Third RS Installment ). *

(v) Lapse of Restrictions/Forfeiture upon Terminatioh Employment. The Restricted Stock and -

Restrictions set forth in this Section 4(a) argjestifto the following terms and conditions:

(A) Without Cause or For Good Reasdupon a Participans’ Termination of Employment by 1
Company without Cause or by the Participant for GBeason (including the Termination of Employmeintha
Participant if he is employed by an Affiliate aettime the Company sells or otherwise divestsfitsekuct
Affiliate), with respect to any portion of the Rested Stock subject to the Restrictions, the Re&ins sha
immediately lapse on the Pro Rata RS Portion athefdate of such Termination of Employment. Upc
Participants Termination of Employment by the Company with@aiuse or by the Participant for Good Ree
any Restricted Stock that remains subject to thetriR&ons, other than the Pro Rata RS Portion]l dbe
immediately forfeited.

“ Pro Rata RS Portion” means, with respect to any portion of RestricteaclSthat is subject to t
Restrictions at the time of a ParticipanTermination of Employment, the number of Sharitk respect to whic
the Restrictions would havapsed on each future RS Installment multipliedabfraction (i) the numerator
which is the number of calendar montfr®m the Grant Date to the date of such Termination

! The number of Shares subject to each RS Installméhbe equal to the total number of Shares subjedhe Restricted Stock Award divided by th
provided, that if this formula results in any fractionalaBa allocation to any RS Installment, the numbeBludires with respect to which the Restrictionsé
under the First RS Installment and, if necess#my,Second RS Installment, will be increased sodhbt full Shares are covered by each RS Instaltrien
example, if a Restricted Stock Award covers 1,008r8s, the Restrictions will lapse with respec33d Shares under the First RS Installment and 3i33ef
under each of the Second and Third RS Installments.

2 For purposes athe 2014 LTIP, one calendar month is calculatechfthe date of measurement to the same or closestnal date occurring during 1

following month. For example, one calendar montimfrJanuary 31, 2014 will elapse as of Februan2@&4, two months will elapse on March 31, 2014,
so on.




Employment, rounded up for any partial month and (ii) the aramator of which is twelve (12) for the First
Installment, twenty-four (24) for the Second RSdtiment and thirty-six (36) for the Third RS Inéteent.®

(B)  Voluntary ResignationiJpon a Participan$’ Termination of Employment by reason of a volwy
resignation (other than for Good Reason or Retirgjpeany portion of the Restricted Stock subjectthe
Restrictions shall be immediately forfeited.

(C) RetirementSubject to Section 4(a)(v)(F) below, upon a Paéint's Termination of Employme
by reason of Retirement, with respect to any portid the Restricted Stock subject to the Restmiatjothe
Restrictions shall immediately lapse on the PrafR$ Portion as of the date of such TerminatioBroployment
Pro Rata RS Portion has the meaning set forth aid®e4(a)(v)(A) above. Upon a ParticipafTermination ¢
Employment by reason of Retirement, any Restri&tk that remains subject to the Restrictionsgrothan th
Pro Rata RS Portion, shall be immediately forfeited

(D) Death or Disability.Upon a Participant’ Termination of Employment due to death or Disgh
the Restrictions shall immediately lapse and bawfurther force or effect as of the date of suelnination o
Employment.

(E) For Cause.Upon a Participant’ Termination of Employment by the Company for @ausn
portion of the Restricted Stock subject to the Reg&ins shall be immediately forfeited.

(F) Retirement-Eligible Participants Who Incur a Teration of Employment for Other Reasolisa
Participant who is eligible for Retirement is, oowld be, terminated by the Company without Causel
Participant shall be considered to have been teteshby the Company without Cause for purposes®f01.
LTIP rather than having retired, but only if therfRépant acknowledges that, absent Retirement Ptsticipar
would have been terminated by the Company with@usg. If, however, the employment of a Participeamb i<
eligible for Retirement is terminated by the Compdor Cause, then regardless of whether the Ppatidi it
considered as a retiree for purposes of any otlegram, plan or policy of the Company, for purposethe 201.
LTIP, the Participant’s employment shall be consédego have been terminated by the Company for€aus

(vi) Change in Control Notwithstanding the forgoing and subject to Setth below, upon a Participaat’
Termination of Employment by the Company withoutu§a or by the Participant for Good Reason (inclgidiime
Termination of Employment of the Participant ifiseemployed by an Affiliate at the time the Compaeils or otherwis
divests itself of such Affiliate) on or after a Glge in Control but prior to the second anniversafnguch Change
Control, any Restrictions in effect shall immedit@pse on the date of such Termination of Emplegtrand be of r
further force or effect as of such date.

% If this formula results in any fractional Shareg foro Rata RS Portion will be rounded up to theemavhole Share.




(vii)  Dividends. In the event a cash dividend shall be paid witlpeesto Shares at a time the Restriction
the Restricted Stock have not lapsed, the Partitighall be eligible to receive the dividend uptwe tapse of tt
Restrictions. The Restrictions shall apply to anghsdividend.

(b)  Performance Awards.

() Award Grant. A Participant may receive a Performance Award fapacified target cash amount as
forth in the Participant’'s Award Agreement (Rérformance Award”).

(i)  Grant Date. The Grant Date of the Performance Award will beedmined by the Committee and set fi
in the Participant’'s Award Agreement.

(iii) Payout Criteria and Form of PaymentExcept as otherwise expressly set forth in thastisn 4(b)
payment, if any, of a Performance Award will bedthen the following factors as described and ddfinelow: (A) th
Average Annual Operating Income Margin during thref@&mance Period of the Company relative to thenasite
Performance of the members of the Industry Compdaibup; (B) Customer Service Performance duriegPtarformanc
Period of the Company; and (C) Return on Investedit@l for each calendar year during the Perforragperiod of th
Company.

The payout, if any, of a Performance Award willthade (A) in Shares, calculated based on the CaoweFormula (a
defined below), to each Participant who is employgdhe Company as an executive vice presidentase reenior office
(* Executive Officer Participant ") at the time of such payout and (B) in cash iro#ter circumstances.

(iv)  Definitions.

(A) In General.

(D) “ Composite Performance” means, for purposes of determining the total Averdgnua
Operating Income Margin of the Industry Compositeup, the result obtained by treating
members of the Industry Composite Group as if thege one combined entity.

(2 The “Conversion Formula” will apply to convert from cash to Shares the payduany, of
Performance Award to a person who is an Executifiedd Participant at the time of such pay:
First, the cash amount of the payout is calculatethe same manner as if the payout is t
made in cash. Next, the cash amount is convertedaimumber of Shares based on the follo'
formula: A = B, where:

A = the amount of the payout for the Performanceafdnif it is paid in cash; and

B = the closing price of a Share on the New YoricBtExchange on the later of (1)
date that the Committee approves the payoutsyif @inthe Performance Awards to the Exect
Officer Participants following the Committesedetermination of the achievement of the pe
criteria described in Section 4(b)(iii) and (2) thed




(3)
(4)

()

(B)
(1)

(@)

(3)

(©)

(1)

business day following the date on which the Compaublicly announces its annual finan
results if this date is scheduled in the same mdtmhthe Committee approves such payou
any.

“GAAP " means accounting principles generally acceptedarunited States of Americ

“ Industry Composite Group " means Alaska Air Group, Inc., AMR Corporation, Jed
Airways Corporation, Southwest Airlines Co., Unit€dntinental Holdings, Inc., and US Airw;
Group, Inc.

“ Performance Period” means the period beginning on January 1, 2014 addhg on an
including December 31, 2016.

Average Annual Operating Income Margin

The “Average Annual Operating Income Margin” for Delta and each member of the Indu
Composite Group shall be calculated by using thgesti companys Operating Income and Tc
Operating Revenue for the applicable periods aeddtowing formula: (A +~ B ), where:

A = Operating Income for 2014, 2015, and 2016; and
B = Total Operating Revenue for 2014, 2015, and201

“ Operating Income ” means, subject to Section 4(b)(v)(B) below, théject companyg
consolidated operating income for the applicabldéope based on its statements of opera
contained in reports on Forms 10-Q andKlfiled with the Securities and Exchange Commis
(* SEC") prepared in accordance with GAAP, but excludinpitéms presented in the line it
“restructuring and other items” or such similarelitem; (ii) mark-tomarket adjustments for fu
hedges recorded in periods other than the settlemeniod; (iii) other special, unusual,
nonrecurring items which are disclosed in publialyailable filings with the SEC; and (
expenses with respect to any annual broasked employee profit sharing plan, program orlai
arrangement.

“ Total Operating Revenue” means, subject to Section 4(b)(v)(B) below, thbject companyg
total operating revenue for the applicable peribdsed on its regularly prepared and puk
available statements of operations prepared inrdaoce with GAAP.

Customer Service Performance

The “ Customer Service Performance’ for Delta shall be measured based on the perce
point improvement in Delta’s average monthly NebrRoter Score (‘NPS ") from the 201
calendar year to the average monthly NPS over gréoihance Period, with (A) Dels'NP<
performance attributable to domestic travel acdogrfor 60% of the




measure and (ii) Delta’NPS performance attributable to internationaleraccounting for 40
of the measure. The criteria and methodology usedetermine Deltad NPS is described ir
document titled, “Net Promoter: Measuring Custom®atisfaction at Delta,"which wa:
previously reviewed by the Committee. Company manant will periodically report to tl
Company’s Board of Directors regarding Delta’s NPS.

(D) Return on Invested Capit:

(1) The “Return on Invested Capital” for Delta shall be calculated by using Dedt#djusted Tot:
Operating Income and Average Invested Capital feheindividual calendar year during
Performance Period (2014, 2015, and 2016) andbtf@ing formula (AB), where:

A = Adjusted Total Operating Income; and
B = Average Invested Capital.

(2 “ Adjusted Total Operating Income " means, subject to Section 4(b)(v)(B) below, Delta
consolidated operating income for the applicableogs based on its regularly prepared
publicly available statements of operations pregha@meaccordance with GAAP, but excluding.
items present in the line item “restructuring atttteo items” or such similar line item; (ii) mark-to
market adjustments for fuel hedges recorded iroderother than the settlement period; (iii) o
special, unusual, or nonrecurring items which aseldsed in publicly available filings with t
SEC; and (iv) implied interest in aircraft rent erge, and amortized pension expense rela
gains/losses that impact accumulated other compsareeincome (‘AOCI 7).

3 “ Average Invested Capital’ means, subject to Section 4(b)(v)(B) below, Dsltwtal investe
capital determined based on the average of angdiive calendar quarters measured from the
calendar quarter preceding each calendar yeareof#rformance Periodusing the followin
formula, (A+B), where:

A = Adjusted Book Value of Equity; and
B = Adjusted Net Debt.

(4) “Adjusted Book Value of Equity” for Delta shall be calculated quarterly based srregularl
prepared internal financial statements (i) with iaitial starting value for the quarter end
December 31, 2013 (the Ihitial Value ") equal to the book value of equity determine
accordance with GAAP as of December 31, 2013, ktltiding the

4 For example, for determining Average Investegi@l for the 2014 calendar year, the trailingefalendar quarter average will be measured basdik
quarter ending December 31, 2013 and each of theeguent four quarters of 2014.




impact of gains or losses as of December 31, 28%8caated with (1) the cumulative pension and
postemployment retirement benefits net balance recoidedOCI; (2) the derivative contracts ¢
associated items net balance recorded in AOCI;(8nthe deferred tax asset valuation allowanceria
and (ii) using the following formula for each su@pgent quarter thereafter, (A+B+C), where:

A = The Initial Value;

B = The cumulative amount starting as of Januag014 and ending as of the last de
the applicable calendar quarter of the Companyéstgor income determined in accordance
GAAP, but (i) excluding: (1) items present in thre item “restructuring and other itemaf’ sucl
similar line item; (2) mark-tonarket adjustments for fuel hedges recorded iroderother than tl
settlement period; and (3) other special, unusmahonrecurring items which are disclose
publicly available filings with the SEC and (ii)aluding expenses due to amortization of pos
employment benefit losses in AOCI that have occlidering the Performance Period; and

C = in the event that the Company pays a divideniésues or repurchases additic
Common Stock for cash during the Performance Pefimd excluding the exercise of ¢
employee stock option for cash or any other isseasfcCommon Stock to employees), (i)
gross cash proceeds of the equity issuance dh@igross cash payments for the equity repur:
or dividends, before adjustment for any applicdéés or charges associated therewith.

(5) “Adjusted Net Debt” for Delta shall be calculated quarterly based @nrégularly prepare
internal financial statements using the followimgnfiula (A+B-C), subject to Section 4(b)(v)(l
where:

A = Total gross long term debt and capital leageduding current maturities) that refl
Delta’s actual obligations to lenders or lessors, inclgdiny adjustments from the book valu
reflect premiums or discounts that may be amougizin

B = Annual aircraft rent expense multiplied by sevand

C = Unrestricted cash, cash equivalents and sbort-investments.

(v) Vesting.

(A) General. Subject to the terms of the 2007 Performance Piam,2014 LTIP, and all oth
conditions included in any applicable Award Agreain¢he Performance Award shall vest, as descnbddis
Section 4(b)(v), as of the end of the Performanedgol to the extent that the Compasdctual performan
results meet or exceed Threshold level with respecAverage Annual Operating Income Margin, Custt
Service Performance and/or Return on Invested &lagis applicable and as described below. For gespo
Average Annual Operating Income Margin, the

7




Company’s performance is compared against the Csitep@erformance of the Industry Composite Group.

(B) Committee’s Authorityin determining the Average Annual Operating Incavieggin for Delta an
each member of the Industry Composite Group andR#itarn on Invested Capital for Delta, the Comreittéal
make such adjustments with respect to any subg@upany as is necessary to ensure the results ampacable
including, without limitation, differences in acawting policies, practices, guidelines, reclassifaas o
restatements (for example, fuel hedging, purchaseumting adjustments associated with mergers,igitiqns o
divestures, or fresh start accounting as a refuwdtrergence from bankruptcy). Without limiting thenerality o
the forgoing, the Committee shall (i) make suchedeinations based on financial data filed by théjes
company with the U.S. Department of Transportatowtherwise and (ii) exclude from any calculatamy iten
of gain, loss, or expense to be extraordinary asual in nature or infrequent in occurrence.

(C) Impact of Certain Event$. company shall be automatically removed from thaulstry Composi
Group in the event that any of the following ocduring or with respect to the Performance Perigdsiict
company ceases to maintain or does not timely peepablicly available statements of operations areg ir
accordance with GAAP; (ii) such company is not skeviving entity in any merger, consolidation, @her non-
bankruptcy reorganization (or survives only as bsaliary of an entity other than a previously wiabwnec
subsidiary of such company); (iii) such companyssdéases, or exchanges all or substantially faliscassets 1
any other person or entity (other than a previousiplly owned subsidiary of such company); (iv) Bwompan
is dissolved and liquidated; or (v) more than 2(Réuxh company's revenues (determined on a coasetidas
based on the regularly prepared and publicly abklstatements of operations of such company peepa
accordance with GAAP) for any fiscal year of sucmpany are attributable to the operation of busieg®the
than such company's airline business and such aomgaes not provide publicly available statement
operations with respect to its airline businesd #ra separate from the statements of operatiomadad witt
respect to its other businesses.

(D) Transactions Between Airline3o the extent reasonably practicable, in the ewérd merge
consolidation, or similar transaction during thef@enance Period between Delta and any other aijriimcluding
a member of the Industry Composite Group, or betwaagy member of the Industry Composite Group arx
other airline, including another member of the lstdy Composite Group (an Airline Merger "), Average
Annual Operating Income Margin for any such compamvplved in an Airline Merger will be calculatedh @
combined basis as if the Airline Merger had ocalirom January 1, 2014, removing the effects of pas
accountingrelated adjustments. Furthermore, to the extersoregbly practicable, in the event of an acquisitit
divestiture, or similar transaction during the Barfance Period between Delta and any regionalecasribetwee
any member of the Industry Composite Group and ragyonal carrier (a ‘Regional Carrier Transaction "),
Average Annual Operating Income Margin and, asieable, Return on Invested Capital for any such pams
involved in a Regional Carrier Transaction will teculated to remove the impact of any reclasgifioa of cost
from (or to) such company’presentation of contract carrier expense torny the other expense line items
the statement of operations (determined based errdfularly prepared and publicly available statase
operations of such company prepared in accordartbeGAAP).




(E) Vesting/Performance Measures-Excluding Return oredted Capital. The payment, if any,
Participant will receive in connection with the treg of the portion of the Performance Award atitdble t
Average Annual Operating Income Margin and Custogewice Performance will be based on the following

+ +
Average Annual Operating Customer Service Customer Service
Income Margin Performance--Domestic Performance--International
Performance Performance Performance
Measure % of Target Measure % of Target Measure % of Target
Earned x Earned x Earned x
Weight Weight Weight
Maximum 20.0% above Maximum +4.5% Maximum +5.5%
Composite 200% points or 200% points or 200%
Performance x50% higher x15% higher x10%
Target Composite Target +2.5% Target +3.5%
Performance 100% points 100% points 100%
x50% x15% x10%
Threshold 20.0% below Threshold +0% point Threshold +2.0%
Composite 50% 50% points 50%
Performance x 50% x 15% x 10%

Any portion of a Performance Award attributableAeerage Annual Operating Income Margin and Cust
Service Performance that does not vest at the etitedPerformance Period will immediately lapse &edom
void. Payouts based on the above performance mesasiill be straightine interpolated when actual performa
results fall above Threshold and below Target @vabrarget and below Maximum.

(F) Vesting/Performance Measures-Return on Investedt&@aphe payment, if any, a Participant \
receive in connection with the vesting of the mortof the Performance Award attributable to Retumninveste
Capital will be based on the following:

Return on Invested Capital Return on Invested Capital Return on Invested Capital
2014 + 2015 + 2016
Performance Performance Performance
Measure % of Target Measure % of Target Measure % of Target
Earned x Earned x Earned x
Weight Weight Weight
Maximum 14.0% or highgr Maximum 14.0% or highgr Maximum 14.0% or
200% 200% higher 200%
x 8.333% x 8.333% X 8.334%
Target 12.0% Target 12.0% Target 12.0%
100% 100% 100%
x 8.333% x 8.333% X 8.334%
Threshold 10.0% Threshold 10.0% Threshold 10.0%
50% 50% 50%
x 8.333% X 8.333% X 8.334%




The Companys Return on Invested Capital performance will beasneed each calendar year during
Performance Period (each calendar year incremeamffasred to herein as anROIC Installment ") and to th
extent that the Comparsyactual performance results meet or exceed Thicesiwel at the end of each caler
year during the Performance Period, each such R@d@llment will be treated as anEarned Award .” A
Participants Earned Award(s), if any, will accumulate untieétbnd of the Performance Period at which tim
Earned Awards will vest.

Any ROIC Installment that does not vest at the ehthe Performance Period will immediately lapsd Aecom
void. Payouts based on the above performance memagill be straightine interpolated when actual performa
results fall above Threshold and below Target @vabrarget and below Maximum.

(vi)  Timing of PaymentThe payout, if any, of any Performance Award trests under Section 4(b)(v) will
made as soon after the end of the PerformancedPasidhe payment amount can be finally determibatjn no ever
later than March 15, 2017, unless it is administey impracticable to do so, and such impractiigbiwas no
foreseeable at the end of 2016, in which case pagment shall be made as soon as administrativelgtipable afte
March 15, 2017.

(vii)  Accelerated Vesting/Forfeiture upon TerminatiorEafiploymenExcluding Return on Invested Capital
The portion of the Performance Award attributaldeAverage Annual Operating Income Margin and CustoBervic
Performance is subject to the following terms amalditions.

(A) Without Cause or For Good Reasddupon a Participans’ Termination of Employment by 1
Company without Cause or by the Participant for &Beason (including the Termination of Employmeintha
Participant if he is employed by an Affiliate aetitime the Company sells or otherwise divestsfitselsuct
Affiliate), the portion of the Participarst’target Performance Award attributable to AverAgeual Operatin
Income Margin and Customer Service Performance lvéllrecalculated and will be the result of thediaihg
formula (the “Adjusted Performance Award”): S x (T + 36) where,

S = the portion of the Participasttarget Performance Award attributable to AverAgaual Operatin
Income Margin and Customer Service Performancd dedsrant Date; and

T = the number of calendar months from January0142o the date of such Termination of Employr
(rounded up for any partial month).

Thereafter, the Participant will be eligible to ea@ a payment, if any, in cash based on the AgjuBerformanc
Award which will vest and become payable under iSact(b)(v) in the same manner and to the sameneaei
the Participant’s employment had continued.

(B) Voluntary ResignationiJpon a Participan$’ Termination of Employment by reason of a volwy
resignation (other than for Good Reason or Retirgjy@ior to the end of the workday on DecemberZill,6, th:
Participant will immediately forfeit any unpaid pion of the Performance Award attributable to AggraAnnus
Operating Income Margin and Customer Service Pexdioce as of the date of
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such Termination of Employment. In the event aiBigdnt incurs a Termination of Employment by reasb ¢
voluntary resignation (other than for Good ReasoRe&tirement) on or after January 1, 2017, thei¢aant will
remain eligible for any unpaid Performance Awaltditaitable to Average Annual Operating Income Margin(
Customer Service Performance, which award will \aes become payable under Section 4(b)(v) in timee
manner and to the same extent as if the Particgpantployment had continued.

(C) RetirementSubject to Section 4(b)(vii)(F) below, upon a Rapint's Termination of Employme
due to Retirement, the portion of the Participeniirget Performance Award attributable to Averagmua
Operating Income Margin and Customer Service Paxdoice will be recalculated in accordance with trenfile
set forth in Section 4(b)(vii)(A) above. Thereaftdre Participant will be eligible to receive a p@nt, if any, il
cash based on the Adjusted Performance Award whilktvest and become payable under Section 4(kj(\the
same manner and to the same extent as if the iPartits employment had continued.

(D) Death or Disability.Upon a Participant’ Termination of Employment due to death or Disgh
the portion of the ParticipaistPerformance Award attributable to Average Anmagrating Income Margin a
Customer Service Performance will immediately beemmsted at the target level and such amount wipddd ir
cash as soon as practicable thereafter to theciparit or the Participant’s estate, as applicable.

(E) For Cause.Upon a Participans’ Termination of Employment by the Company for @ause
Participant will immediately forfeit any unpaid pion of the Performance Award attributable to AvgraAnnus
Operating Income Margin and Customer Service Perdoce as of the date of such Termination of Empéaym

(F) Retirement-Eligible Participants Who Incur a Teration of Employment for Other Reasolisa
Participant who is eligible for Retirement is, oowmd be, terminated by the Company without Causel
Participant shall be considered to have been tettaihby the Company without Cause for purposes®f01.
LTIP rather than having retired, but only if therfRépant acknowledges that, absent Retirement Ptsticipar
would have been terminated by the Company with@usg. If, however, the employment of a Particiemb is
eligible for Retirement is terminated by the Compdor Cause, then regardless of whether the Ppatidi it
considered as a retiree for purposes of any otlegram, plan or policy of the Company, for purposethe 201.
LTIP, the Participant’s employment shall be consédeo have been terminated by the Company for&aus

(viiiy  Accelerated Vesting/Forfeiture upon TerminatiorfcofploymenReturn on Invested Capitallhe portiot
of the Performance Award attributable to Returriruested Capital is subject to the following teramsl conditions.

(A) Without Cause or For Good ReasotJpon a Participard’ Termination of Employment by 1
Company without Cause or by the Participant for &Beason (including the Termination of Employmeintha
Participant if he is employed by an Affiliate aetilime the Company sells or otherwise divestsfitselsuct
Affiliate), the Participant will be eligible to retve:
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(D) payment of any Earned Awards in cash, which Earye@rds will vest and becor
payable under Section 4(b)(v) in the same manner tanthe same extent as if the Participant
employment had continued; and

) with respect to the ROIC Installment camsting in the calendar year of the Participant
Termination of Employment, the ParticipaROIC Installment for such year will be recalcaethand wil
be the result of the following formula (theAtljusted ROIC Installment ”): U x (V + 12) where,

U = the Participans target Performance Award with respect to theiegiple ROIC Installmer
as of the Grant Date; and

V = the number of calendar months from January thefcalendar year in which the Termina
of Employment occurred to the date of such Termonabf Employment (rounded up for any pal
month).

Thereafter, the Participant will be eligible to ee@ a payment, if any, based on the Adjusted RIDELallmen
which will vest and become payable under Sectid)(4) in the same manner and to the same exteiitths
Participant’s employment had continued.

Upon a participans Termination of Employment by the Company with@atuse or by the Participant for Gi
Reason, any ROIC Installment(s) outstanding inciiendar year(s) following the year in which thetiegant’s
Termination of Employment occurred shall be immeadja forfeited as of the date of such Terminatidh
Employment.

(B) Voluntary ResignatiorlJpon a Participant’ Termination of Employment by reason of a voluy
resignation (other than for Good Reason or Retirgpy@ior to the end of the workday on DecemberZ8ll,6, th:
Participant will immediately forfeit any unpaid pion of the Performance Award attributable to Retwr
Invested Capital, including any Earned Awards, fathe date of such Termination of Employment. la #vent
Participant incurs a Termination of Employment bgson of a voluntary resignation (other than foodBeaso
or Retirement) on or after January 1, 2007, théidaant will remain eligible for any unpaid Penfoance Awar
attributable to Return on Invested Capital, inchgdiany Earned Awards, which award will vest andob
payable under Section 4(b)(v) in the same manngrt@the same extent as if the Participamimployment h¢
continued.

© Retirement. Subject to Section 4(b)(viii)(F) below, upon artRgpant's Termination ¢
Employment due to Retirement, the Participant lglleligible to receive:

(1) payment of any Earned Awards in cash, which Earfe@rds will vest and becor
payable under Section 4(b)(v) in the same manner tanthe same extent as if the Participant
employment had continued; and

(2 with respect to the ROIC Installment oamsting in the year of the Participant’

Termination of Employment, the ParticipatROIC Installment for such year will be recalcethtr
accordance with the formula set forth in Sectidn)@fii)(A) above.
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Thereafter, the Participant will be eligible to ea@ a payment, if any, based on the Adjusted RIDELallmen
which will vest and become payable under Sectid)(4) in the same manner and to the same exteiitths
Participant’'s employment had continued.

Upon a participan$ Termination of Employment by reason of Retiremany ROIC Installment(s) outstanding
the calendar year(s) following the year in whick ®articipans Termination of Employment occurred shal
immediately forfeited as of the date of such Teation of Employment.

(D) Death or Disability.Upon a Participant’ Termination of Employment due to death or Disgh
the Participant will be eligible to receive:

(1) payment of any Earned Awards, which Earned Awarntismmediately become vested ¢
such amount will be paid in cash as soon as pediécthereafter to the Participant or the Partrdijza
estate, as applicable; and

(2 with respect to any remaining ROIC Installment(sistanding as of the date of
Participant’'s Termination of Employment, the Papént's ROIC Installment(s) will immediately beco
vested at the target level and such amount wilpaiel in cash as soon as practicable thereaftelne
Participant or the Participant’s estate, as apipleca

(E) For Cause.Upon a Participans’ Termination of Employment by the Company for @aute
Participant will immediately forfeit any unpaid pon of the Performance Award attributable to Retar
Invested Capital, including any Earned Awards, fab® date of such Termination of Employment.

(F) Retirement-Eligible Participants Who Incur a Teration of Employment for Other Reasolisa
Participant who is eligible for Retirement is, oowmd be, terminated by the Company without Causel
Participant shall be considered to have been tettaihby the Company without Cause for purposes®f01.
LTIP rather than having retired, but only if therfR@pant acknowledges that, absent Retirement Pisticipar
would have been terminated by the Company with@usg. If, however, the employment of a Particiemo is
eligible for Retirement is terminated by the Compdor Cause, then regardless of whether the Ppatidi it
considered as a retiree for purposes of any ottogram, plan or policy of the Company, for purposktthe 201
LTIP, the Participant’s employment shall be consédeo have been terminated by the Company for&aus

(ix) Change in_Control Notwithstanding the forgoing and subject to Sattb below, upon a Participaat’

Termination of Employment by the Company withoutu§a or by the Participant for Good Reason (inclgidiime
Termination of Employment of the Participant ifiseemployed by an Affiliate at the time the Compaejls or otherwis
divests itself of such Affiliate) on or after a Gigee in Control but prior to the second anniversaingsuch Change
Control, the Participard’ outstanding Performance Award shall immediatelgoime vested at the target level (or,
respect to any Earned Award, at the level at whiglas earned) and such amount will be paid in ¢aghe Participant
soon as practicable. With respect to any Partitipdro incurs a Termination of Employment by the @amy withou
Cause or who resigns for Good Reason prior to a@ha Control, if a Change in Control occurs théer
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during the Performance Period, such ParticigaAtjusted Performance Award, Adjusted ROIC Insteht and Earne
Awards, if any, will immediately become vested &mdpaid in cash to the Participant as soon asipaadét.

(c) Restricted Stock Units

() Award Grant. A Participant may receive Restricted Stock Unitsjscified in the Participaist’Awarc
Agreement (the RSU”).

(i) Grant Date. The Grant Date of the RSUs will be determined icoagance with the ComparsyEquity
Award Grant Policy, as in effect from time to tinaamd set forth in the Participant's Award Agreement

(iir) Risk of Forfeiture. Until an RSU becomes vested, a Participant will b@tpermitted to sell, exchan
assign, transfer, pledge or otherwise disposeeoRIBU and the RSU will be subject to forfeituresessforth below.

(iv)  Vesting. Subject to the terms of 2007 Performance Planla@@®14 LTIP, the RSUs will vest with resg
to one-third of the RSUs on each of the followirades: (A) February 1, 2015 First RSU Installment "), (B) Februar
1, 2016 (“Second RSU Installment) and (C) February 1, 2017 Third RSU Installment ). °

As soon as practicable after any RSUs become vestedCompany shall pay to Participant in cashnaplsun
amount equal to the number of RSUs vesting muttipbly the closing price of a Share of Common Stotkhe NYSE o
the vesting date or, if the Common Stock was ramted on the NYSE on the vesting date, the lastyutéde to the vestin
date that the Common Stock was traded on the NYSE.

(v)  Accelerated Vesting; ForfeitureThe RSUs and the vesting provisions set forth ia 8ection 4(c) a
subject to the following terms and conditions:

(A) Without Cause or For Good Reasddpon a Participant’ Termination of Employment by 1
Company without Cause or by the Participant for &Beason (including the Termination of Employmeintha
Participant if he is employed by an Affiliate aettime the Company sells or otherwise divestsfitsekuct
Affiliate), a number of RSUs equal to the Pro RRflU Portion will become immediately vested as efdhate ¢
such termination. Upon a ParticipanfTermination of Employment by the Company with@ause or by tt
Participant for Good Reason, any unvested RSU®r dttan the Pro Rata RSU Portion, shall be immely
forfeited.

“ Pro Rata RSU Portion” means, with respect to any RSU Installment thabisvested at the time o
Participants Termination of Employment, the number of RSUseted by such RSU Installment multiplied k
fraction (i) the numerator of which is

The number of RSUs subject to each RSU Inseadtrwill be equal to the total number of RSUs diddoy threeprovided,
that if this formula results in any fractional RSlllocation to any RSU Installment, the number ofURSn the First RS
Installment and, if necessary, the Second RSU lIinstat, will be increased so that only full RSU% amovered by each R
Installment. For example, if an RSU Award covel®0D, RSUs, the RSU will vest with respect to 334 RS$ldder the First RS
Installment and 333 RSUs under each of the Secodd hird RSU Installments.
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the number of calendar monthfsom the Grant Date to the date of such TerminatibEmployment, rounded
for any partial month and (ii) the denominator dfigh is twelve (12) for the First RSU Installmetwentyfour
(24) for the Second RSU Installment and thirty{8ig) for the Third RSU Installmert.

(B)  Voluntary ResignationiJpon a Participan$ Termination of Employment by reason of a volwy
resignation (other than for Good Reason or Retirgjp@any unvested portion of the RSUs shall be icfiately
forfeited.

(C) RetirementSubject to Section (4)(c)(v)(F) below, upon a Rgstint's Termination of Employme
by reason of Retirement, with respect to any RSdflaliment that is not then vested, a number of R&dsl t
the Pro Rata RSU Portion will become immediatelsted as of the date of such Termination of Emplaymrc
Rata RSU Portion has the meaning set forth in &eact(c)(v)(A) above. Upon a ParticipantTermination ¢
Employment by reason of Retirement, any unvestedsR®ther than the Pro Rata RSU Portion, sha
immediately forfeited.

(D) Death or Disability.Upon a Participan$’ Termination of Employment due to death or Disghill
unvested RSUs will immediately vest as of the @&tuch Termination of Employment.

(E) For Cause.Upon a Participan$’ Termination of Employment by the Company for @aumn
unvested portion of the RSUs shall be immediatetiefted.

(F) Retirement-Eligible Participants Who Incur a Teration of Employment for Other Reasori a
Participant who is eligible for Retirement, is, would be, terminated by the Company without Casse}
participant shall be considered to have been termih by the Company without Cause for purposeshig
Agreement rather than having retired, but onlyhé tParticipant acknowledges, that absent Retirgntbe
Participant would have been terminated by the Caypaithout Cause. If, however, the employment
Participant who is eligible for Retirement is tenaied by the Company for Cause, then regardlesdether th
Participant is considered a retiree for purposesngfother program, plan or policy of the Compdny purpose
of this Agreement, the Participasittmployment shall be considered to have beennated by the Company
Cause.

(vi)  Change in Control Notwithstanding the foregoing and subject to Bacb below, upon a Participaat’
Termination of Employment by the Company withoutu§a or by the Participant for Good Reason (inclgidiime
Termination of Employment of the Participant ifiseemployed by an Affiliate at the time the Compaeils or otherwis
divests itself of such Affiliate) on or after a Cige in Control, but prior to the second anniversainguch Change
Control, any unvested portion of the RSUs will inthagely vest as of the date of such Terminatio&mployment.

¢ For purposes of the 2014 LTIP, one calendartmi@ncalculated from the date of measurement éostime or closest numerical date occurring dutie

following month. For example, one calendar montmfrJanuary 31, 2014 will elapse as of Februar2@&4, two months will elapse on March 31, 2014sa
on.

" If this formula results in any fractional RSUlse Pro Rata RSU Portion will be rounded up tortbarest whole RSU.
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(d)  Stock Option

(i) Award Grant. A Participant may receive a Non-Qualified StoghtiGn covering the number of Shares as
specified in the Participant’'s Award Agreement (th@ption 7).

(i) Grant Date. The Grant Date of the Option will be determinedtbg Committee in accordance with
Company’s Equity Award Grant Policy, as in effecinfi time to time, and set forth in a Participartisard Agreement.

(iii) Exercise Price The exercise price of the Option is the closinigepof a Share on the New York St
Exchange on the Grant Date.

(iv)  Exercise Period/Performance MeasureSubject to the terms of the 2007 Performance Riantlae 201
LTIP, an Option shall:

(A) vest and become exercisable upon the achievemeeithafr of the following two performan
measures in the proportion and on the dates (gatlOation Installment Vesting Date”) set forth below:

(1) If there is a payout under the Company’s broased employee profit sharing program (the
Profit Sharing Program ) for 2014, the Option shall vest and become exdslasaith respect i
one-third of the Shares on each of the followintesgia(l) February 1, 2015 (theFirst Option
Installment ), (II) February 1, 2016 (the Second Option Installment”) and (lll) February :
2017 (the “Third Option Installment ”); or

(2) If there is no payout under the Profit Sharing Paag for 2014, but there is a payout undel
Profit Sharing Program for 2015, the Option shaktvand become exercisable with respect
the First and Second Option Installments on Felgria016 and (1) the Third Option Installm
on February 1, 2017; and

(B)  be exercisable through and including the day imatetli preceding the tenth anniversary of
Grant Date (the Expiration Date ").

In the event there is no Profit Sharing Programopéyor either 2014 or 2015, the Option shall benidiately forfeite
(regardless of whether there is a Profit SharirmgRim payout for 2016).

(v) Change in Exercisability and Exercise Period upenriination of EmploymentThe exercisability of the
Option and the exercise period set forth in Secti@)(iv) are subject to the following terms ancehdiions:

(A)  Without Cause or For Good Reasdipon a Participant’s Termination of Employment bg t
Company without Cause or by the Participant for 6Beason (including the Termination of Employméefthe
Participant if he is employed by an Affiliate aettime the Company sells or otherwise divestsfitdfeduch
Affiliate), the Pro Rata Option Portion of any Qptilnstallment that is not exercisable at the tohsuch
Termination of Employment (1) will vest and becoexercisable, if applicable, under Section 4(d)¢#he LTIP
in the same manner and to the same extent asHateipant's employment had continued and (2)ethi&e then
exercisable portion of the
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Option, as applicable, shall be exercisable duttiegperiod: () beginning on the applicable Optinstallment
Vesting Date and (Il) ending on the earlier ofth@ later of (i) the third anniversary of such Taration of
Employment or (ii) the applicable Option Installm&festing Date or (y) the Expiration Date. Uponaatkipant’s
Termination of Employment by the Company withouu§aor by the Participant for Good Reason, anyqodf
the Option that is not exercisable at the timeuchsTermination of Employment, other than the PataFOption
Portion, shall be immediately forfeited.

“ Pro Rata Option Portion ” means, with respect to any Option Installment thaot exercisable at the
time of a Participant’s Termination of Employmethie number of Shares covered by such Option Inséait
multiplied by a fraction (i) the numerator of whishthe number of calendar months from the Grarte Bathe
date of such Termination of Employment, roundedauany partial month and (ii) the denominator dfigh is
twelve (12) for the First Option Instaliment, twetibur (24) for the Second Option Installment, dinigty-six (36)
for the Third Option Installment.

(B) Voluntary ResignatiorlJpon a Participant’s Termination of Employment bgson of a voluntary
resignation (other than for Good Reason or Retirg)nél) any portion of the Option that is not exisable at the
time of such Termination of Employment shall be iethately forfeited and (2) any portion of the Optibat is
exercisable at the time of such Termination of Exyplent shall remain exercisable until the earligi)o90 days
after such Termination of Employment or (Il) thepitation Date.

(C) RetirementSubject to Section 4(d)(v)(F) below, upon a Pastiait’'s Termination of Employment
by reason of Retirement, the Pro Rata Option Podfaany Option Installment that is not exercisaddl¢he time
of such Termination of Employment (1) will vest dmetcome exercisable, if applicable, under Sect{dj(#) of
the LTIP in the same manner and to the same eageifithe Participant’s employment had continued @) the
entire then exercisable portion of the Option shalkexercisable during the period: (I) beginningtemapplicable
Option Installment Vesting Date and (ll) endingtba earlier of (x) the later of (i) the third anaigary of such
Termination of Employment or (ii) the applicablet®p Installment Vesting Date or (y) the ExpiratiDate. Pro
Rata Option Portion has the meaning set forth tti&@e 2(a) above. Upon the Participant’s Terminatié
Employment by reason of Retirement, any portiothefOption that is not exercisable at the timeuahs
termination, other than the Pro Rata Option Poytstrall be immediately forfeited.

(D) Death or Disability.Upon a Participant’s Termination of Employment daieleath or Disability,
any Option Installment that is not exercisablehattime of such Termination of Employment shallt\eexd
become exercisable and the then exercisable partitire Option shall be exercisable during thequkr(1)
beginning on the date of such Termination of Emplegt and (2) ending on the earlier of (I) the tlarohiversary
of such Termination of Employment or (ll) the Exgiion Date.

(E) For CauseUpon a Participant’s Termination of Employment bg t

8 If this formula results in any fractional Skathe Pro Rata Option Portion will be roundedathe nearest whole Share.
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Company for Cause, any unexercised portion of tho® shall be immediately forfeited, including gmyrtion
that was then exercisable.

(F) Retirement-Eligible Participants Who Incur a Teration of Employment for Other Reasolig
Participant who is eligible for Retirement is, cowid be, terminated by the Company without Causeh s
Participant shall be considered to have been tetieshby the Company without Cause for purposeiseof t
Agreement rather than having retired, but only& Participant acknowledges that, absent Retirertient
Participant would have been terminated by the Coyppathout Cause. If, however, the employment of a
Participant who is eligible for Retirement is tenaied by the Company for Cause, then regardlestether the
Participant is considered as a retiree for purpotasy other program, plan or policy of the Compdor
purposes of the Agreement, the Participant's empéoyt shall be considered to have been terminatékeby
Company for Cause.

(G) Change in Control Notwithstanding the foregoing and subject to Secimf the 2014 LTIP, upc
a Participant’s Termination of Employment by then@pany without Cause or by the Participant for GBedson
(including the Termination of Employment of the tRapant if he is employed by an Affiliate at thee the
Company sells or otherwise divests itself of suéfiliate) on or after a Change in Control but prtorthe second
anniversary of such Change in Control, any Optitdliment that is not exercisable at the timeushs
Termination of Employment shall vest and becomeasable, and the entire then exercisable portfdhe
Option shall be exercisable during the period €gibning on the date of such Termination of Emplegtrand (2
ending on the earlier of (1) the third anniversafyuch Termination of Employment or (I) the Exgiion Date.

5. Potential Reduction in Payments Due to Excise Takn the event that a Participant becomes entitleloeteefits under tt
2014 LTIP, then such benefits, together with anynpent or consideration in the nature of value angensation to or for tl
Participants benefit under any other agreement with or plaDeifa, shall be subject to reduction as set fortBection 4(e) of tt
2009 Delta Air Lines, Inc. Officer and Director ®eance Plan, which relates to the excise tax uBdetion 4999 of the Code.

6. Definitions. For purposes of the 2014 LTIP, the following ddforis are hereby modified as set forth below arilagply in
lieu of the definitions set forth in the 2007 Peni@nce Plan or as modified, as applicable.

€) For purposes of the 2014 LTIPGbod Reason”shall have the meaning set forth in the 2007 Pevdoice Pla
except the following will be ignored for purposdsdetermining whether a Participant has sufferegdaction that constitut
Good Reason under the 2014 LTIP: (i) any loeign award made to a Participant under the 200foiesince Plan; (ii) any oth
equitybased awards or other incentive compensation awaadke to a Participant by Delta (or any Affiliateformer Affiliate);
and (iii) any retention payment or special travehéfits provided to a Participant as a result efdriher initial employment wi
Delta or any Affiliate.

(b)  For purposes of the 2014 LTIFRé&tirement” means a Termination of Employment (other than fause or deat
either: (i) on or after a Participant’s 8dirthday provided that such Participant has coneplett least 5 years service since h
her most recent hire date with the Company (or #iliake or former Affiliate) or (ii) on or after @articipant’s 52 birthday
provided that such Participant has completed &t I£@ years service since his or her most receatdzte with the Company
an Affiliate or former Affiliate).
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7. Clawback. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the 2QITIP and subject to further amendment of thistiBac? tc
the extent required to be in compliance with angliapble law or regulations or Del&internal clawback policy, as it may
amended from time to time, if the Committee detesnithat a vice president or more senior officeell®articipant has engac
in fraud or misconduct that caused, in whole gpart, the need for a required restatement of Deftaancial statements filed w
the Securities and Exchange Commission, the Comniitill review all incentive compensation awardedot earned by tt
Participant, including, without limitation, any Awhunder the 2014 LTIP, with respect to fiscal pdsi materially affected by t
restatement and may recover from the Participansudh incentive compensation to the extent that @ommittee deer
appropriate after taking into account the relevants and circumstances. Any recoupment hereundgrlra in addition to ai
other remedies that may be available to Delta uagplicable law, including, disciplinary action tgpand including termination
employment.

8.  Section 409A of the CodeTo the extent required to be in compliance witht®ac409A of the Code, and the regulati
promulgated thereunder (togetheiSéction 409A"), notwithstanding any other provision of this Plaa), &ny payment or bene
to which a Participant is eligible under the 20IAR, including a Participant who is a “specifiedmayee”as defined in Sectic
409A, shall be adjusted or delayed and (b) any wrthe 2014 LTIP may be adjusted, in such manedo &omply with Sectic
409A and maintain the intent of the 2014 LTIP te thaximum extent possible. More specifically, te #xtent any payme
provided to a Participant under the 2014 LTIP atuss non excepted deferred compensation undeiioBe409A and th
Participant is at the time of his termination ofpdayment considered to be a “specified employee’spant to the Comparg/’
policy for determining such employees, the paynwnany such non excepted amount and the provisicguch non except
benefits will be delayed for six months followinlget Participant separation from service. Notwithstanding the doneg, Del:
shall not have any liability to any Participantamy other person if any payment is determined tstitute ‘honqualified deferre
compensation’'within the meaning of Section 409A and does noissathe additional conditions applicable to nonidfiex
deferred compensation under Section 409A.
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EXHIBIT 10.17
DELTA AIR LINES, INC.
2014 MANAGEMENT INCENTIVE PLAN

1. Purpose.The 2014 Management Incentive Plan (tHdIP ") is an annual incentive program sponsored by Deiltd_ides.
Inc. (“ Delta” or the “Company”) that is intended to closely: (a) link pay and parfance by providing management emplo
with a compensation opportunity based on Deltaeath§ key business plan goals in 2014; and (b)natlge interests
management employees with the Comparother employees and stakeholders. The MIP igykailopted under, and is subjec
the terms of, the Delta Air Lines, Inc. 2007 Pamiance Compensation Plan (th@007 Plan”). Capitalized terms that are u:
but not defined in the MIP shall have the meansgyibed to them in the 2007 Plan.

2. Plan Administration . (a) The Personnel & Compensation Committee oBth&rd of Directors (the Committee”) shall be
responsible for the general administration andrjmégation of the MIP and for carrying out its pigigns. The Committee sh
have such powers as may be necessary to dischardaties hereunder, including, without limitatidhe following powers ar
duties, but subject to the terms of the MIP:

() authority to construe and interpret the terms efNHP, and to determine eligibility, awards and émeount
manner and time of payment of any awards hereunder;

(i)  authority to prescribe forms and procestufor purposes of MIP participation and distribntof awards;

(iii) authority to adopt rules and regulations and te tsich actions as it deems necessary or desi@bike
proper administration of the MIP; and

(iv)  authority at any time prior to a Change in Contoogliminate or reduce the actual payout to anyidtan!
in the MIP.

(b)  Any rule or decision by the Committee that is mafoinsistent with the provisions of the MIP shalldoaclusive an
binding on all persons, and shall be given the marn deference permitted by law.

(c) Notwithstanding anything contained in the 2007 Rtathe contrary, the Committee shall not haveatnority tc
increase the actual payout to any ParticipanténMiiP.

3.  Eligibility. All Delta employees worldwide who are officers, ragimg directors (grade 13), directors (grade 12hega
managers (grade 11), grade 10 or grade 8 (otherethgployees who participate in a sales incentiae pk other major functior
incentive plan, as may be in effect from time tod) are eligible to participate in the MIPRarticipants ).

4. MIP Awards.

@) General. The MIP award (the ‘MIP Award ") each Participant receives, if any, will be based @nthe
Participant’'s Target MIP Award, as defined beloiiy;the level of achievement within each applicapformance measuranc
(iii) the occurrence of a payout for 2014 under @mmpany’s broad-based employee profit sharingnaragthe “Profit Sharing
Program "), as described below. Certain additional requizata will apply
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to any Participant who is employed by the Compasiyama executive vice president or more senior affafethe Company (“
Executive Officer Participant ”), as discussed in Section 7(b) below.

(b) Performance Measures The performance measures used will be one or mbrénancial (* Financial
Performance "), operational (“Operational Performance”), revenue (“Revenue Performance’), leadership effectiveness (*
Leadership Effectiveness Performancé) and individual performance (fhdividual Performance ). Achievement under ea
performance measure may range from below threshbldhich there is no payout, to the maximum penfonce level, at whic
the payout will be greater than the target leudbject to Section 4(c) below.

(c) Interaction with Profit Sharing Program and Indivdl Performance Measurd.there is no payout under the Pr
Sharing Program for 2014, (i) no amount will bedpaiith respect to Financial Performance to any i€lpent regardless
whether Delta meets or exceeds that performanceureand (ii) for general manager (grade 11) Rpatits and above, the act
MIP Award, if any, will not exceed such ParticipanTarget MIP Award (as defined below). In additigha Participant
performance under the Individual Performance Meagapplicable to Participants who are not officdadls below the fneet:
expectations’performance rating, no amount will be paid withpexst to Financial Performance, Operational Perfosaaand/c
Revenue Performance to such Participant regardfesbether Delta meets or exceeds those performaeesures.

(d) Target MIP Awards.The Target MIP Award for each Participant will bepeessed as a percentage of
Participant's Annual Base Salary (theTarget MIP Award ") as determined by the Committee and will be comnaiait tc
Participants in such manner as the Committee degmpriate. Subject to Section 8 belowArinual Base Salary” means th
Participant’'s 2014 annual base salary as in effledecember 31, 2014.

5.  Weighting of Performance MeasuresSubject to Section 8 below, a percentage of eadicipant's Target MIP Award
allocated to one or more of Financial Performar@perational Performance, Revenue Performance, kssigeEffectivenes
Performance and/or Individual Performance baseith@fParticipant’s employment level, as follows:




Employment
Level % of Target MIP | % of Target MIP % of Target MIP | % of Target MIP
Award allocated tq Award allocated ta Award allocated to| Award allocated td
Financial Operational % of Target MIP Leadership Individual
Performance Performance Award Allocated to Effectiveness Performance
Revenue Performang Performance

CEO 50% 25% 25% 0% 0%

President 50% 25% 25% 0% 0%

COO and CRO 50% 25% 25% 0% 0%

EVP 50% 25% 25% 0% 0%

ClO and SVP -

ACS/TechOps 50% 25% 25% 0% 0%

SVP* 50% 25% 15% 10% 0%

VP* 50% 25% 15% 10% 0%

Managing Director

(Grade 13y 35% 15% 10% 0% 40%

Director(Grade 12} 35% 15% 10% 0% 40%

General Manager

(Grade 11) 25% 15% 10% 0% 50%

Grade 10 0% 0% 0% 0% 100%

Grade 8 0% 0% 0% 0% 100%

* Notwithstanding the weightings set forth above, @memmittee has delegated to the Chief Executivec@ff the Company, tl
authority to reallocate up to an aggregate ofiw@rtty percentage points for Senior Vice PresidantsVice Presidents and (ii) -
percentage points for Managing Directors and Dinegtof the Target MIP Award allocated to Finand&airformance to one
both of the Operational Performance and Revenuerfnce weightings.

6. The Performance Measures-Threshold, Target and Marium Payout Levels.The Target MIP Award, and the amot
paid in connection with target levels of Financ@perational, Revenue, Leadership Effectivenes$]rdividual Performance, ¢
based on the achievement of the target performéned with respect to each applicable performanaasure (except tf
Financial Performance also requires a payout utideProfit Sharing Program for 2014). A Participargctual MIP Award me
be greater or less than the target amount basedether performance under one or more of the pedace measures applice
to the Participant exceeds or is below target perémce, subject to Section 4(c) above. This isarpt in more detail below.

(@  Financial Performance MeasuresThe Financial Performance measures for 2014 asedon Delta’'s Préax
Income, as defined below. The following table diss the performance ranges and award payout Iéoel2014 Financi:
Performance, subject to Section 4(c) above:




% of Target Financial Performance Measure 50% 100% 200%
Paid

Required 2014 Pre-Tax $2,456 Million $3,581 Million $4,109 Million
Income

Payouts will be straight-line interpolated when-Pex Income results fall above Threshold and belang&t or above Target ¢
below Maximum;provided, however for managing director (grade 13), director (grdd®) and general manager (grade
Participants only, if the Percentage Payout unkderRrofit Sharing Program for 2014 (as such termlefined therein) meets
exceeds 3.5%, payouts to such Participants basé&ihancial Performance will not be less than thee¥hold amount regardle
of whether the actual performance results fall weldwreshold.

“Pre-Tax Income” will be the amount of Pre-Tax Income, if any, detiered under the Profit Sharing Program for 2014.

(b)  Operational Performance Measureghe Operational Performance measures for 2014 agedbon both Delta a
Delta Connection operational performance, withD@lta's operational performance accounting for 75% ofrtteasure and (
Delta Connection performance accounting for 25%hef measure. Delts’'Operational Performance is based on the numl
times during 2014 that Delta meets or exceeds astiy goals under the broad-based employee shawards program (the *
Shared Rewards Program”). Delta Connectiors Operational Performance is based on the numb@nes$ during 2014 that t
Delta Connection carriers meet or exceed their mgraperational goals for (x) controllable compdetifactor and (y) omime
performance (the Delta Connection Goals’). The Delta Connection Goals and the methodologyd&termining whether the
goals are met are describeddrhibit A hereto. The following table describes the perforcearanges and award payout level
2014 Operational Performance, subject to Sectiopakfove:

! The Profit Sharing Program for 2014 defines “Pre-Trecome” as follows: for any calendar year, therany’s consolidated pre-tax income calculated in
accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Rpies in the United States and as reported in thragany’s public securities filings but excluding) &ll
asset write downs related to long term assetgydins or losses with respect to employee equityriters, (c) gains or losses with respect to extiaary, one-
time or non-recurring events, and (d) expense accwith respect to the profit sharing plan andvHE.




Shared Rewards Program

% of Target Payout for th 0%
Performance Measure (75% Weightir] 0

Number of monthly Shared Rewal
Program goals actually met during 20|

37.5% 75% 150%

Ilz? or less 16 21 26 or more

Delta Connection Goals

% of Target Payout for th 0%
Performance Measure (25% Weightir] 0

Number of Delta Connection Go
actually met during 2014

12.5% 25% 50%

8 or less 9 14 19 or more

Payouts based on the Shared Rewards Program ard Oehnection Goals will be straiglite interpolated when actt
performance results fall above Threshold and bélavget or above Target and below Maximum.

(© Revenue Performance Measur@$ie Revenue Performance measures for 2014 will basored based on
comparison of Deltd TRASM for the 2014 calendar year over the 2018nckar year relative to the Industry Group Ave
TRASM for the 2014 calendar year over the 2013nxide year. The following table describes the penforce ranges and aw
payout levels for 2014 Revenue Performance, sutijeBection 4(c) above:

% of Target Revenue Performance Measure Pa]80% 100% 200%

Delta's 2014 TRASM over 2013 TRASM relative
Industry Group Average TRASM for the sa
period

2013 TRASM minus 0.50 2013 TRASM + 0.5% poin
points 2013 TRASM or more

Payouts based on Revenue Performance will be ktd#ig interpolated when actual performance resalisabove Threshold a
below Target or above Target and below Maximymgvided, however if 2014 Financial Performance equals or excebe
Maximum performance level, payouts based on RevBau®rmance will not be less than the Target ammgardless of whett
the actual performance results fall below Target.

“ Available Seat Mile ” means the consolidated scheduled and swreduled total number of seats available
transporting passengers during a reporting perioldiptied by the total number of miles flown duritigat period.




“ Industry Group " means Alaska Air Group, Inc., AMR Corporation, JatBAirways Corporation, Southwest Airlir
Co., United Continental Holdings, Inc., and US Aags Group, Inc.

“ Industry Group Average TRASM ” means the aggregate Total Operating Revenue fonathbers of the Indusi
Group divided by the aggregate Available Seat Miteall members of the Industry Group.

“ Total Operating Revenue” means, for Delta and each member of the InduStigup, the applicable compasytota
operating revenue for a calendar year based aedisarly prepared and publicly available statemeritoperations prepared
accordance with accounting principles generallyepted in the United States of America.

In determining the Total Operating Revenue for ®elhd each member of the Industry Group, the Comeenghall mak
such adjustments with respect to any subject coynpanis necessary to ensure the results are cobl@armcluding, withot
limitation, differences in accounting policies (fexample, nomecurring adjustments to deferred revenue resuftim (i) initial
application of accounting policies; (ii) the appliion of accounting policies to materially modifiedntracts; or (iii) significal
accounting estimate changes associated with meraegsisitions, divestitures or fresh start accimgnés a result of emergel
from bankruptcy). Without limiting the generality the foregoing, the Committee shall (i) make sdetterminations based
publicly audited financial statements filed by th&bject company with the U.S. Securities and Exgea@ommission and (
exclude from any calculation any item of gain, losgxpense to be extraordinary or unusual in raduinfrequent in occurrence.

“ TRASM " means Total Operating Revenue divided by Avadabéat Miles.

(d) Leadership Effectiveness Performance MeasUige Leadership Effectiveness Performance medapgpicable t
Participants who are Vice Presidents or Senior Yiesidents for 2014 will be based on an evaluaifomhether a Participant t
demonstrated leadership attributes and results)\gl#d14 including, among other things, supportingerdity, providing taler
management, meeting financial budget, improving leyge engagement, and being a role model for tHesRaf the Road. Tl
performance ranges and award payout levels willdiermined by the Committee, subject to Sectioh alfove.

(e) Individual Performance Measurd@he Individual Performance measure (applicable adiépants who are n
officers) is generally determined by each Partitijgaannual performance evaluation at the end of 20hd.performance rancg
and award payout levels will be determined by tben@®ittee, subject to Section 4(c) above.

7. Timing of Award Payments.

(@ In General.Subject to Sections 7(b) and 8(a) below, any paytuta Participant under the MIP for 2014 wil
made in cash, as soon as practicable after (i)Cin@mittee certifies the achievement of the requir@tancial Performanc
Operational Performance and Revenue Performanasesd (ii) where applicable, Leadership Effeetigss Performance res
have been determined and an annual performanceatieal has been completed, but in no event later March 15, 2015, unle
it is administratively impracticable to do so, asuth impracticability was unforeseeable at the @014, in which case su
payment shall be made as soon as administratively




practicable after March 15, 2015. Further, unlepayout for 2014 under the Profit Sharing Progracues after March 15, 20!
any payout under the 2014 MIP will not be maderpiioa payout for 2014 under the Profit SharinggPain; provided, however
if it is determined there will be no payout for 20ander the Profit Sharing Program, any MIP Awalasd are payable based
Operational Performance, Revenue Performance, kgageEffectiveness Performance or Individual Penfance will be paid i
soon as practicable thereafter, but in no eveet llian March 15, 2015, unless it is administréyiwepracticable to do so, a
such impracticability was unforeseeable at the @m2D14, in which case such payment shall be mad®an as administrative
practicable after March 15, 2015.

(b)  Executive Officer Participant®ayouts under the MIP to Participants who, as afeD#er 31, 2014, are Execu
Officer Participants (as such term is defined iot®a 4(a) above) will be subject to the followitegms and conditions:

@ Payment in Restricted Stockf there is no payout under the Profit Sharingglam for 2014, anpayou
under the MIP to an Executive Officer Participarll e made in shares of Restricted Stock rathan tim cash, with tf
number of shares of Restricted Stock being equilleaesult of the following formula fMIP Restricted Stock”): A + B,
where’:

A = the amount of the payout to the Executive Officartieipant under the MIP had the payout been ma
cash; and

B = the closing price of a Share on the New York StBgkhange on the later of (1) the date tha

Committee approves the payouts, if any, to the #bee Officer Participants under the MIP followirthe
Committees certification of the achievement of the requipsdformance measures as described in Sectiol
and (2) the third business day following the dateandich the Company publicly announces its annurerncia
results if this date is scheduled in the same mtirghthe Committee approves such payouts, if any.
(i) Lapsing of Restrictions; Forfeiture Until the restrictions imposed by this Sectiorb){i{) (the “
Restrictions ”) have lapsed pursuant to the terms below, an Exec@ificer Participant will not be permitted to I
exchange, assign, transfer, pledge or otherwigmsiésof the MIP Restricted Stock and the MIP Retsili Stock will b
subject to forfeiture as set forth below.

(A)  The Restrictions shall lapse and be of no furtberd or effect on the earlier of the date (1) ths
a payout under the Profit Sharing Program unlesgsr o such payout, the Executive Officer Part&ipincurs
Disqualifying Termination of Employment or (2) ardeutive Officer Participant incurs a Qualifyingrirénatior
of Employment. The MIP Restricted Stock will be ieiately forfeited if, prior to the lapsing of tRestrictions
the Executive Officer Participant incurs a Disqiyatig Termination of Employment.

2 If this formula results in any fractional shattee MIP Restricted Stock will be rounded up te tiext highest ten shares.




(B) “ Disqualifying Termination of Employment " means an Executive Officer Participant’
Termination of Employment by the Company for Cause.

(C) “Qualifying Termination of Employment ” means an Executive Officer Participanterminatior
of Employment (1) by the Company without Cause2prdie to death or Disability.

(D)  For purposes of this Section 7(b)(ii), if an ExéeaitOfficer Participant incurs a Termination
Employment by reason of (1) a voluntary resignatiooluding the Termination of Employment by thertigpan
if he is employed by an Affiliate at the time ther@pany sells or otherwise divests itself of suchiliate) or (2]
Retirement, the Restrictions shall lapse and beodiurther force or effect on the date there ispopit under tt
Profit Sharing Program as if such Executive Offiearticipant’s employment had continued througthsiate.

(E) For purposes of the MIP,Retirement ” means a Termination of Employment (other that
Cause or death) either: (1) on or after a Partitipa2™ birthday provided that such Participant has coneple
least 5 years service since his or her most rdaentlate with the Company (or an Affiliate or fermAffiliate) or
(2) on or after a Participant’s 32birthday provided that such Participant has coreplett least 10 years sen
since his or her most recent hire date with the @amg (or an Affiliate or former Affiliate).

(iii) Dividends. In the event a cash dividend shall be paid ipeesof Shares at a time the Restrictions o
MIP Restricted Stock have not lapsed, the Parintighall be eligible to receive the dividend upbe tapse of tr
Restrictions. The Restrictions shall apply to anghsdividend.

(iv) 2007 Plan; Written NoticeThe MIP Restricted Stock will otherwise be subjecthe terms of the 20
Plan. In the event any Executive Officer ParticipgMIP Award is converted to MIP Restricted Stoakchs Participar
will receive a written notice of such conversioriwmthe details thereof as soon as practicable tiféeMIP Payment Date.

8. Change in Employment Status.
(@) Termination of Employment .

() A Termination Event in 2014--Generdxcept as expressly set forth in this Section 8thm event
Participants employment with Delta terminates for any reaswor po the end of the workday on December 31, 26L4}
Participant will be ineligible for any award unddgre MIP. In other words, if a Participant is emmdyaccording 1
Company records through the end of the workday eneihber 31, 2014, the Participant will be eligitide any awar
earned under the MIP for 2014, including, if applite, MIP Restricted Stock.




(i) Termination on or after January 1, 201Subject to Section 7(b) above, a Participant whaurig
Termination of Employment for any reason other tf@nCause on or after January 1, 2015 will rengigible for an
unpaid MIP Award, which award will be paid accoglto the terms of Section 7(a) above. A Participem is terminate
by the Company for Cause on or after January 15 24l forfeit any unpaid MIP Award.

(i)  Pro Rata MIP Payment.

(A) Disability or Retirement. This Section 8(a)(iii)(A) applies to any Participawho incurs
Termination of Employment prior to January 1, 2@ife to the Participarst’Disability or Retirement (as such t
is defined in Section 7(b)(ii)(E)). Subject to tRarticipants execution of a waiver and release of claimsfiora
and manner satisfactory to the Company, such Rmtit will be eligible to receive a MIP Award based ar
adjusted annual base salary amount, but otherwisigeisame manner, to the same extent and at itie tiae a
the Participant would have received such MIP Awidirduch Participans employment had continued throi
December 31, 2014i(e., based on achievement of applicable performancasunes). The most recent ani
performance evaluation prior to the TerminatiorfEaiployment will generally apply to the Individuadfformanc
measure, if any, applicable to the Participant. Pagticipants Annual Base Salary will be the result of
following formula: X x Y/12, where:

X = the Participant’s annual base salary as ircetis of the date of Termination of Employment; and

Y = the number of calendar months the Participaad actively employed by Delta during 2014 in a MIF
eligible position, rounded up for any partial marith

(B) Termination of Employment Without Cause or RegulitirBenefits under the Severance Pldihnis
Section 8(a)(iii)(B) applies to any Participant wimaurs a Termination of Employment prior to Janyuay 201!
due to either (1) a Termination of Employment bg Bompany without Cause or (2) for any other reahai
entitles such Participant to benefits under theeir Lines, Inc. 2009 Officer and Director Sevwara Plan (the “
Severance Plarf). Subject to the Participarst’execution of a waiver and release of claims fiorie and mannt
satisfactory to the Company, such Participant lglleligible to receive a MIP Award based on an stdpl annui
base salary amount, but otherwise in the same matinthe same extent and at the same time asdttieipan
would have received such MIP Award if such Partaifs employment had continued through December 314
(i.e., based on achievement of applicable performanasunes). The ParticipastAnnual Base Salary will
determined in accordance with the formula set fort8ection 8(a)(iii)(A) above.

®  For purposes of the MIP, one calendar montalsulated from the date of measurement to the sarsest numerical date occurring
during the following month. For example, one caknahonth from January 31, 2014 will elapse as dirkary 28, 2014, two months will
elapse on March 31, 2014, and so on.




© Death . This Section 8(a)(iii))(C) applies to any Partamip who incurs a Termination
Employment prior to January 1, 2015 due to theiépant's death. The Participastestate will be eligible
receive a Pro Rata MIP Payment made in cash as asopracticable after a ParticipantTermination ¢
Employment, but in no event later than 2% monthi®woeng the end of the year in which the Terminatiol
Employment occurs. Pro Rata MIP Payment” means the result of the following formula: W x Z/%here:

W = the Participant’'s Target MIP Award; and

Z = the numbeof calendar months the Participant was activelyleygal by Delta during 2014
a MIP-eligible position, rounded up for any partiabnth.

(b)  Other Changes in Employment Status The terms of this Section 8(b) shall apply to ainstances involving ne
hires, promotions, demotions, transfers or leafesbeence during 2014. After a Participantarget MIP Award is determin
under this Section 8(b), the appropriate weighthgerformance measures will apply to each portibsuch Target MIP Awal
as set forth in Section 5 above. For partial cademdonths, the change in employment status wittdresidered effective as of |
1 *day of the month in which there is a change irustgrovided, howeverin the event that a Participant was (i) on a Digg
leave of absence for a period of less than onendatemonth during 2014 and (ii) actively at work & least one full day duril
such calendar month, the Participant will be deemeetave been employed in a Mélgible position for the entire caleni
month. The end of year annual performance evalatidl apply to any Individual Performance measagplicable to th
Participant unless the Participant is no longejesatlio the such evaluation process after the ahémgmployment status, in wh
case the most recent annual performance evaluatibapply. Any MIP Awards payable under this Secti8(b) will be paid at tt
same time and in the same manner as such awargaidr® active Participants, subject to Sectids) @pove.

()  New HiresWith respect to any individual who becomes empldygdelta as a grade 8 or any more s¢
MIP-eligible position during 2014 but after Januan2@14, such individual will be a Participant in thiéP and will be
eligible to receive an award under the MIP for 2Qdrévided,that such Participard’Annual Base Salary will be the re:
of the following formula: X x Y/12, where:

X = the Participant’'s annual base salary as of bsez 31, 2014; and

Y = the number of calendar months the Participaas actively employed by Delta in a MéHgible positiot
during 2014, rounded up for any partial month.

(i) Promotions.Participants who are either promoted into a Mligible job level or promoted into a higl
level of MIP patrticipation during 2014 will havedih Target MIP Award calculated based on their ahfase salary
each MIPeligible job level (measured as of the date immtetyigprior to the date the promotion is considezéfdctive fo
purposes of the MIP, if applicable, as describethnfirst paragraph of Section 8(b) above, andfd3ecember 31, 201
and the
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number of calendar months they were employed ih esach capacity, multiplied by the relevant totaiget awar
percentage applicable to their position or posgtidaring the relevant period.

(i)  DemotionsParticipants who are either demoted to a positian is not eligible to participate in the MIF
demoted to a lower level of MIP participation dgrig014 will have their Target MIP Award calculatea@sed on the
annual base salary at each MiRgible job level (measured as of the date immtetliaprior to the date the demotior
considered effective for purposes of the MIP, adbed in the first paragraph of Section 8(b) ay@nd, if applicable,
of December 31, 2014) and the number of calendantimahey were employed in each such capacity,ipfiati by the
relevant total target award percentage applicabtidir position or positions during the relevaetipd.

(iv)  Transfers and Leaves of Absencethe event that during 2014 a Participant (Ahsfars employment fro
Delta to a Delta subsidiary or Affiliate that dosst participate in the MIP or the Delta Communitsedit Union or (B
goes on any type of leave at any time during 2€1e Participant will have his Target MIP Award adéted based on |
annual base salary (measured as of the date immelydmior to the date the transfer or leave issitdered effective f
purposes of the MIP) and the number of calendartihsohe was employed in a MHBigible position during 201
multiplied by the relevant total target award petage applicable to his MIP-eligible position.

(v) Military Leave.In the event that at any time during 2014 a Paaict is on a Military Leave of Absence,
or her Annual Base Salary shall be equal to theeagdge annual base salary the Participant recdiead Delta durin
2014 plus any amount of base salary such Participanld have received had he or she been activapla@yed by Delt
in any corresponding MIP-eligible position duringch leave.“Military Leave of Absence ” means a Participars’
absence from his or her position of employmentngttame during 2014 because of service in the umigmd services, .
defined under the Uniformed Services Employment Radmployment Rights Act of 1994, as amendedRERRA ");
provided,that a Participant must provide the Company apjatevidence that his or her absence was duenticaen
the uniformed services and the period of such serwi order to be considered to be on a Militarpa\es of Absence fi
purposes of the MIP. For purposes of the MIP, aantiélpant who is absent due to military servicec@ading to Delte
records) as of December 31, 2014 and has beencbriesave for a cumulative period (during the pefiedor she has be
employed by Delta) of five years or less, will begumed to be on a Military Leave of Absence. AaytiBipant who i
similarly absent due to military service (basedDmlita’s records) and who has been on such leave fori@dpefr more
than five years will not be considered to be onilitdy Leave of Absence until he or she provideprapriate evident
that he or she is entitled to an exception to ibeyear limit on uniformed service as set fortHtUBERRA.

Treatment of Payments Under Benefit Plans or Prognas . MIP payments, which for an Executive Officer Rapan:

who receives MIP Restricted Stock means the amoutiie payout to the Executive Officer Participander the MIP had tl
payout been made in cash, will be considered asrem under any benefit plan or program sponsoyeDdita only to the exte
such payments are included as earnings underriing te the specific plan
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or program;provided, however, that any MIP payment made to an Executive Offlerticipant in MIP Restricted Stock will
considered as earnings only for purposes of thegaogis restoration payment program, as in effect frametito time. If suc
payments are included, unless otherwise providesiai plan or program, participants will be eligilbb contribute amounts p
under the MIP into such plans in the same manndrtarthe same extent as their ordinary compensaihany amounts
contributed will be subject to any applicable Compaontributions and/or matches. Notwithstandingtlaing to the contrary
this Section 9 and except as otherwise providecetutite terms of any defined contribution plan spoed by the Company, a
MIP payment received in connection with a Termimratbf Employment shall not be considered earnimgieuany benefit plan
program sponsored by Delta.

10. Effective Date. The MIP will become effective as of January 1, 20drbvided howeverif on or before the date t
Committee adopts the MIP any employee who woulderettse have participated in the MIP is informedtthé& or he
employment will be terminated by the Company with@ause, any severance such employee is entitlegceive will b
calculated based on the 2013 Management Incent@wea? in effect as of December 31, 2013.

11. Amendment. Except as otherwise expressly set forth in thigi@eand Section 14, the terms of Section 14 ofb@7 Pla
shall apply to any amendment or termination ofNHE. In addition, the terms applicable to any Rapaint will be subject in the
entirety to the terms of any offer letter or otdecument to which the Participant has agreed. &img of such offer letter or otl
document, if contrary to the terms of the MIP, Ealern the rights of the corresponding Partictpan

12. Fractions. Any calculation under the MIP that results in afianal amount will be rounded up to two decimahps

13.  Section 409A of the CodeNotwithstanding anything to the contrary in the MIB the extent that any amount f
hereunder in connection with a Termination of Emplent constitutes deferred compensation under @edf9A of the Intern
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and the regidgtimmulgated thereunder (togetheSéction 409A”) and is paid to
“specified employee” as defined in Section 4094, playment of such amount will be delayed for sixiths.

14. Clawback. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the MiRd subject to further amendment of this Sectibmolthe
extent required to be in compliance with any agile law or regulation or Deltinternal clawback policy, as it may be amel
from time to time, if the Committee determines thatice president or more senior officer level iegrant has engaged in frauc
misconduct that caused, in whole or in part, thednfor a required restatement of Dedtdinancial statements filed with 1
Securities and Exchange Commission, the Committdlereview all incentive compensation awarded to earned by sut
Participant, including, without limitation, any MIRward, with respect to fiscal periods materialffeated by the restatement ¢
may recover from the Participant all such incentieenpensation to the extent that the Committee desgmpropriate after taki
into account the relevant facts and circumstan&esg.recoupment hereunder may be in addition toathgr remedies that may
available to Delta under applicable law, includidgciplinary action up to and including terminatiof employment.
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EXHIBIT A- DELTA CONNECTION GOALS:
Delta Connectiors Operational Performance will be based on the murabtimes during 2014 that the group of Delta @mtion carriel
meets or exceeds its monthly operational goalsdotrollable completion factor and on-time arripakformance (the Delta Connectior
Goals”). The 24 monthly Delta Connection Goals are ideld on the following tables:

Controllable Completion Factor On-Time Arrival Performance

Month in 2014 2014 Goal 2014 Goal

January 99.4% 81.6%

February 99.4% 82.0%

March 99.4% 81.6%

April 99.4% 83.5%

May 99.5% 83.9%

June 99.3% 79.2%

July 99.3% 78.4%

August 99.4% 81.5%

September 99.6% 85.0%

October 99.6% 84.7%

November 99.6% 84.8%

December 99.5% 77.2%

Total 99.5% 82.0%

A. The primary source of reported metrics useddlzulate performance will be each Delta Connectiamier’s data which flows ini
Delta’s data warehouse.

B. All domestic and international Delta Connectionriearsystem operations subject to capacity purclgeements and/or revel
proration agreements will be included in the perfance measures, including the operations of ChqutguCompass, Express
GoJet, Endeavor Air, Shuttle America and SkyWest,dxcluding any revenue proration operations wétspect to which passen
reservations are not reflected on Delta’s resaesuatsystem (the Delta Connection Program”). In the event that a carrier enter:
leaves the Delta Connection Program, that casrieperations will be included or excluded from terformance measures
applicable.

C. The monthly calculation for completion factor wik as follows

1. Add all Delta Connection scheduled system operatfonthe montt
2. Add all Delta Connection system completed flighds the month (including flights canceled by onerieastrand covered
another via an extra section, which also inclutights changed to Delta aircraft).
3. Divide the result of C.2 by the result of C.1 foc@nmbined Delta Connection system completion fa
D. The monthly calculation for otime performance will be as follov
1. Add all Delta Connection completed system operation the montt
2. Add all Delta Connection system on time operatiforsthe month. On time operations are defined asnilimber of flight
that arrive at the scheduled destination withinmibutes of the scheduled arrival time.
3. Divide the result of D.2 by the result of Ddt & combined Delta Connection systemtiome performance meast
E. All calculations will be performed and validated bglta Connection Operatiol

13



Delta Air Lines, Inc.

Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges

Year Ended December 31,

Exhibit 12.1

(in millions, except for ratio data) 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
Earnings (loss) before income taxes $ 2527 % 102t % 76S $ 60¢ $ (1,58)
Add (deduct):

Fixed charges from below 947 1,11¢ 1,20z 1,31t 1,41¢

Capitalized interest (29 (22) 9 (6) (12
Earnings (loss) as adjusted $ 344t 212(% 1962 % 1917 $ 177
Fixed charges:

Interest expense, including capitalized amountsaandrtization of debt

costs $ 891 $ 1044 % 11228 1,22¢ $ 1,29

Portion of rental expense representative of therést factor 56 72 80 89 12¢€
Fixed charges $ 947 $ 1,11¢ $ 1202 $ 1,31F $ @ 1,41¢
Ratio of earnings to fixed charg®s 3.64 1.9C 1.6 1.4¢€ (0.19)
@ For the year ended December 31, 2009, earningsneesifficient to cover fixed charges by $1.6ibill

The following are included in the results above:

Year Ended December 31,

(in millions) 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
Severance, impairment charges and other $ 424 3 452 $ 242 227 $ 13z
MTM adjustments (27¢) (27) 26 — —
Loss on extinguishment of debt — 11¢ 68 391 83
Merger-related items — — — 238 27¢
Total $ 14 $ 54z $ 33¢ 851 $ 49(C




NAME OF SUBSIDIARY

Aero Assurance Ltd.

DAL Global Services, LLC
Delta Private Jets, Inc.
Delta Sky Club, Inc.
Epsilon Trading, LLC
MIPC, LLC

MLT Inc.

Monroe Energy, LLC

New Sky, Ltd.

SUBSIDIARIES OF DELTA AIR LINES, INC.
as of December 31, 2013

EXHIBIT 21.1

JURISDICTION OF INCORPORATION OR
ORGANIZATION

Vermont
Delaware
Kentucky
Wisconsin
Delaware
Delaware
Minnesota
Delaware
Bermuda

None of Delta's subsidiaries do business undenames other than their corporate names, with thexfimg exception:
= MLT Inc. conducts business as MLT Vacations

Certain subsidiaries were omitted pursuant to B&4(21)(ii) of the SEC’s Regulation S-K.



Exhibit 23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accountingirm
We consent to the incorporation by reference ifdlewing Registration Statements:

(1) Registration Statement No. 333-142424 on Fori@® [gertaining to Delta Air Lines, Inc. 2007 Perfomme
Compensation Plan,

(2) Registration Statement No. 333-149308 on For@® [gertaining to Delta Air Lines, Inc. 2007 Perfomme
Compensation Plan,

(3) Registration Statement No. 333-154818 on For® |gertaining to Delta Air Lines, Inc. 2007 Performme
Compensation Plan,

(4) Registration Statement No. 333-151060 on Forgh grtaining to Northwest Airlines Corporation 208ibct
Incentive Plan, and

(5) Registration Statement No. 333-167811 on Forgh@@rtaining to Pass Through Certifica

of our reports dated February 21, 2Q24ith respect to the consolidated financial staets of Delta Air Lines, Inc
and the effectiveness of internal control overfiitial reporting of Delta Air Lines, Inc. included this Annual Repo
(Form 10-K) of Delta Air Lines, Inc. for the yeanaed December 31, 2013 .

/sl Ernst & Young LLP
Atlanta, Georgia
February 21, 2014



Exhibit 31.1

I, Richard H. Anderson, certify that:

1. | have reviewed this annual report on Form 16fBelta Air Lines, Inc. (“Delta”) for the fiscalear ended December 31, 2013

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notatommny untrue statement of a material fact ort@amstate a material fact necessary t
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgtsiunder which such statements were made, nigtadisg with respect to the
period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statemeamtd other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of Delta as of, and for, théogls presented in this report;

4. Delta's other certifying officer and | are respible for establishing and maintaining disclostoetrols and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) armdriat control over financial reporting (as definedExchange Act Rules 13e5(f)
and 15d-15(f)) for Delta and have:

(@)

(b)

()

(d)

Designed such disclosure controls and proesgor caused such disclosure controls and proesdarbe designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to Delta, including its consolidated subarfifs, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly dgrite period in which this report is being prepared

Designed such internal control over finanogdorting, or caused such internal control ovegirfirial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in atamuoce with generally accepted accounting princijples

Evaluated the effectiveness of Delta's disclosorgrols and procedures and presented in this reportonclusions about tl
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proees] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such
evaluation; and

Disclosed in this report any change in Deliasrnal control over financial reporting that aoed during Delta's most recent
fiscal quarter that has materially affected, aei@sonably likely to materially affect, Delta'samtal control over financial
reporting; and

5. Delta's other certifying officer and | havedlised, based on our most recent evaluation ofriateontrol over financial reporting, to
Delta's auditors and the Audit Committee of DelBosird of Directors (or persons performing the ealgint functions):

(@)

All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal oboirer financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affecttBslability to record, process, summarize andrtdp@ncial information;
and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that inved management or other employees who have aisggmtifole in Delta's

internal control over financial reporting.

February 21, 2014 /sl Richard H. Anderson

Richard H. Anderson
Chief Executive Officer



Exhibit 31.2
I, Paul A. Jacobson , certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 16fBelta Air Lines, Inc. (“Delta”) for the fiscalear ended December 31, 2013

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notatomny untrue statement of a material fact ort@mstate a material fact necessary t
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigtadisg with respect to the
period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statemeamtd other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of Delta as of, and for, théogls presented in this report;

4. Delta's other certifying officer and | are respible for establishing and maintaining disclostoetrols and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) armdriat control over financial reporting (as definedxchange Act Rules 13e5(f)
and 15d-15(f)) for Delta and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and proesgar caused such disclosure controls and proesdorhe designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to Delta, including its consolidated subarfifs, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly dgrite period in which this report is being prepared

(b) Designed such internal control over finanoggdorting, or caused such internal control oveatfitial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in atmuce with generally accepted accounting princijples

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of Delta's disclosorgrols and procedures and presented in this reportonclusions about tl
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proees] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such
evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in Deligsrnal control over financial reporting that aoed during Delta's most recent
fiscal quarter that has materially affected, aei@sonably likely to materially affect, Delta'samtal control over financial
reporting; and

5. Delta's other certifying officer and | havedlised, based on our most recent evaluation ofriateontrol over financial reporting, to
Delta's auditors and the Audit Committee of DelBosird of Directors (or persons performing the ealgint functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cbotrer financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affecttBslability to record, process, summarize andrtdp@ncial information;
and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that inked management or other employees who have aisgmtifole in Delta's
internal control over financial reporting.

February 21, 2014 /sl Paul A. Jacobson
Paul A. Jacobson
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Office




Exhibit 32

February 21, 2014

Securities and Exchange Commission
450 Fifth Street, N.W.

Washington, D.C. 20549

Ladies and Gentlemen:

The certifications set forth below are hersbipmitted to the Securities and Exchange Commigmiosuant to, and solely for the purpose of
complying with, Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Titlg of the United States Code in connection withftling on the date hereof with the
Securities and Exchange Commission of the annpakten Form 10-K of Delta Air Lines, Inc. (“Deltgfor the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2013 (the “Report”).

Each of the undersigned, the Chief Executiffec€ and the Executive Vice President and ChiagRcial Officer, respectively, of Delta,
hereby certifies that, as of the end of the pecimeered by the Report:

1. such Report fully complies with the requirement$Settion 13(a) of the Securities Exchange Act &41an(

2. the information contained in the Report fairly gmets, in all material respects, the financial cbadiand results of operations of De

/s/ Richard H. Anderson
Richard H. Anderson
Chief Executive Officer

/s/ Paul A. Jacobson
Paul A. Jacobson
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Office




